THE TOU WAYS I "S SHE OF

DEP GHI JKL MNG POPP

European Reporting Lab

@EFRAG

WHILL MND PORS TUV

Child which many many the water i "B State and The state of the state of the state the state of the state of the state of the state the state of the state of the state of the state the state of the state of the state of the state of the state the state of the state of the state of the state of the state the state of the st

The main more than the way and

LINE THE LINE THE HERE ON THE SHE SHE SHE SHE SHE SHE SHE

GHI JAL MNO POR

ABC DEF GHI JRL MND PORS TUV WKYZ 1 "5 \$%% /C

DEF GHI UKL MND PORS TUV WKYZ ABD

1: \*\*~ 0\* 0\*\* 11/4\* () ABC DEE CHI INT MND DOOD THE

# HOW TO IMPROVE CLIMATE-RELATED REPORTING

SUPPLEMENT 2: SCENARIO ANALYSIS PRACTICES

ASSESSING RESILIENCE, RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

Project Task Force on Climate-related Reporting

February 2020

••••••••••

EFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group

## Disclaimer



This supplement, *Supplement 2: Scenario analysis practices*, the related main report *How to improve climate-related reporting: A summary of good practices from Europe and beyond* and the first accompanying supplement, *Supplement 1: Climate-related reporting practices* have been prepared by the European Lab Project Task Force on Climate-related Reporting (PTF-CRR) for making available in the public domain. The contents of the main report and its two supplements are the sole responsibility of the PTF-CRR. The European Lab Steering Group Chair has assessed that appropriate quality control and due process had been observed and has approved the publication of the main report and its two supplements.

The views expressed in the main report and its two supplements are those of the PTF-CRR, except where indicated otherwise. The main report and its two supplements do not represent the official views of EFRAG or any individual member of the European Lab Steering Group. The main report and its two supplements do not have any authoritative or normative status. References to specific screenshots from corporate reports as 'good reporting examples' do not imply that the overall climate-related reporting of the associated company is considered to be good. Screenshots from corporate reports may not provide all the relevant information, and further information and context may be provided in the associated corporate report. For each screenshot, a reference to the corporate report, or other source from which it was extracted, is included.

This supplement, the related main report and the second accompanying supplement include interactive links to facilitate readers accessing the source documents of the good reporting examples and reference material included. All such links were active and functioning at the time of publication.

Questions about the European Lab and its projects can be submitted to EuropeanLab@efrag.org.



EFRAG receives financial support from the European Union – DG Financial Stability, Financial Services and Capital Markets Union. The contents of the main report <u>How to improve climate-related reporting</u>: <u>A summary of good practices from Europe and beyond</u> and its two supplements, <u>Supplement 1: Climate-related reporting practices</u> and Supplement 2: Scenario analysis practices, are the sole responsibility of the European Lab Project Task Force on Climate-related Reporting (PTF-CRR) and can under no circumstances be regarded as reflecting the positions of the European Union.



## Contents



Introduction
Governance/strategy on scenarios
Parameters and analytical choices
Quantitative vs. Qualitative scenarios.    12      Société Générale.    14      Oil Search    14      Lendlease    14
Assumptions
Time horizon19Rio Tinto21Société Générale21South3222Aviva22
Maturity assessment and scope23Citibank24South3225Rio Tinto25Oil Search25Equinor26CNP Assurances26

Scenarios and models 27
Scenario selection
EDP
Galp
Iberdrola
Rio Tinto
South32
Physical risk scenarios
South32
Landsec
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 35
Models and Data
Aviva
Citibank
Unilever
CNP Assurances
ATP
Integration into business decisions
Scenario outputs and business decisions 42
Eni
AXA
Quantification and monetisation of scenario outputs
BHP Billiton
Equinor
AXA
Mock-up example illustrating impacts 49
APPENDIX 1: References
APPENDIX 2: Acronyms and abbreviations
Examples



# INTRODUCTION





# Introduction



In order to provide insights on useful scenario analysis information, the PTF-CRR focused on identifying good scenario analysis practices that could inspire companies in their implementation of <u>Task Force on</u> <u>Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations</u>.

To do this, scenario analysis was broken down into a set of building blocks (see diagram below). A detailed topic analysis was carried out for the key building blocks, based on the review of a targeted sample of companies as described in the 'Sample selection' section <u>How to improve climate</u>related reporting: A summary of good practices from Europe and beyond. There is an overall analysis of ten topics. Climate models and Financial impact models are treated as one topic under 'Models and data'. It should be noted that 'physical risk scenarios' is a topic of analysis but there isn't a separate analysis of 'transition risk scenarios' because of the following: companies more frequently report on transition risk than they do on physical risk; and transition risk is incorporated within the rest of the analysed topics.



# Introduction

 $\langle \langle \rangle$ 



Below is a high-level overview of what is covered in each of the ten topics, as well as the names and sectors of the companies that are referred to as examples of good reporting for that topic. Overall, 39 examples (38 examples from 21 companies and one mock-up example) are included within the analysis of the ten topics. The 21 companies include 19 large capitalisation companies (i.e. market capitalisation greater than €15 billion), two medium capitalisation companies (CNP Assurances and Landsec) and one unlisted company (ATP). Multiple illustrative examples have been included because scenario analysis is a relatively new and challenging climate reporting aspect. Therefore, showing many illustrative examples on different aspects of scenario analysis will benefit both reporting preparers and users.

Торіс	What is covered?	Examples
GOVERNANCE/STRATEGY ON SCENARIOS		
Governance/strategy on scenarios	Governance in relation to scenarios and integration into strategic decisions	BP (oil and gas), Eni (oil and gas), Unilever (consumer goods)
PARAMETERS AND ANALYTICAL CHOICES		
Quantitative vs. qualitative scenarios	Choice between qualitative, quantitative or 'directional' scenario analysis approach	Lendlease (property development), Oil Search (oil and gas), Société Générale (banking)
Assumptions	Transparency on qualitative and quantitative assumptions	Arcelor Mittal (steel), ATP** (pension fund), Citibank (banking), Oil Search (oil and gas)
Time horizon	Integration of time horizon into scenario analysis and specific meaning of short term, medium term and long term	Aviva (insurance), Rio Tinto (mining), South32 (mining), Société Générale (banking)
Maturity assessment and scope	Progress on scenario reporting journey and portion of operations and value chain that are included in the scenarios	Citi (banking), CNP Assurances* (insurance), Equinor (oil and gas), Rio Tinto (mining), South32 (mining), Oil Search (oil and gas)
SCENARIOS AND MODELS		
Scenario selection	Choice of scenarios and disclosure of process and rationale for scenario selection	EDP (utility), GALP (oil and gas), Iberdrola (utility), Rio Tinto (mining), South32 (mining)
Physical risk scenarios	Physical risk disclosure	Commonwealth Bank of Australia (banking), Landsec* (real estate), South32 (mining)
Models and data	Transparency and clarity on the models and data used for scenario modelling	Aviva (insurance), ATP** (pension fund), Citibank (banking), CNP Assurances* (insurance), Unilever (consumer goods)
INTEGRATION INTO BUSINESS DECISIONS		
Scenario outputs and business decisions	Translation of scenario results into business decisions	AXA (insurance), Eni (oil and gas)
Quantification and monetisation of scenario outputs	Disclosure of impacts within scenario reporting (e.g. financial impacts such as EBITDA, NPV)	AXA (insurance), BHP Billiton (mining), Equinor (oil and gas), mock-up example
*Medium capitalisation (market capitalisation less than €15 billion)	**Unlisted	



 $\rangle\rangle$ 

# Introduction

 $\langle\!\langle$ 



The analysis of each topic consists of current reporting practices, areas for improvement, and examples of good reporting practices. It also addresses the perspectives of both preparers and users of corporate reports on good reporting practices for each topic. The analysis is structured as follows:

Sub-heading	Question(s) addressed
Rationale for consideration	What is being addressed as part of the scenario topic? Why is this topic important for preparers and users? Why is it essential to tackle this topic?
Summary of current reporting practices	How do the companies whose scenario-related disclosures were reviewed by the PTF-CRR generally address the particular scenario topic?
Preparer and user perspective	What do preparers try to achieve, what challenges do they face? What do users of scenario analysis information expect to find in climate-related reports?
Areas for improvement	How can companies practically improve the quality of their current reporting on the scenario topic?
Selection of good reporting practices	What are good examples the PTF-CRR has identified for the scenario topic and why are they considered good examples?



# GOVERNANCE/ STRATEGY ON SCENARIOS



## **Rationale for consideration**

The analysis below focuses on climate-related disclosures in terms of governance, management's role and responsibilities in relation to climate scenario analysis, and the integration of outputs from climate scenario analysis into overall strategy, policies and operations.

The TCFD final report explains that companies need to ensure that their governance process (1) integrates scenario analysis into strategic planning and/or enterprise risk management processes, (2) assigns oversight to the relevant board committees/sub-committees, and (3) identifies which internal (and external) stakeholders to involve, and how boards are accountable to shareholders for the long-term health of their companies. As such, they are also responsible to shareholders for overseeing the effective management of climate-related impacts on their companies.

## Summary of current reporting practices

Among the reports reviewed by the PTF-CRR, there is limited evidence of adequate governance oversight of the scenario analysis process. For instance, there are only a few examples of companies



## **Governance/strategy on scenarios**



disclosing processes demonstrating that the executive management and board are involved in climate-related decisions based on climate scenario analysis results. There is limited disclosure of both the governance structure supporting climate scenario analysis and the role of the board or senior management in the validation of the scenario analysis results is rarely mentioned. Companies also generally fail to detail how internal climate expertise is being developed and embedded into all operational teams impacted by climate change. However, the PTF-CRR did observe some good examples of linkages between scenario analysis and strategy or business objectives.

## Preparer and user perspective

## PREPARER PERSPECTIVE

Reporting on governance in relation to scenario analysis is a useful indicator for stakeholders of the maturity and sophistication of climaterelated scenario analysis within companies. At the same time, the governance around scenario analysis needs to ensure that all relevant internal stakeholders are properly involved in the scenario analysis and strategic decision-making processes. The involvement of all key functions within the company is paramount if all relevant aspects of the impact of climate change adaptation and mitigation (e.g. socioeconomic, technological, regulatory, environmental change) are to be taken into account, and to ensure optimal buy-in to the outcomes of the analysis. Because scenario analysis deals with uncertainties and calls for the review of a company's resilience in diverse, extreme and, from a company perspective, potentially uncomfortable future states, management needs to take a strong leadership role to keep the exercise on track. They will also have to guide debates on controversial findings towards conclusions about the current status and how to improve robustness of scenario outcomes. The objective of this work is to make senior management comfortable with the assumptions used, the nature of the models they rely on, and the output obtained.

## **USER PERSPECTIVE**

It is important to have a scenario analysis process and accompanying disclosure that reassures users that the company's board has considered how the company's business model and strategy may be affected by climate change. This includes how the board takes risks and opportunities into consideration, as well as their continuous, consistent management in view of changes in the environment over time. As investors increasingly factor in climate resilience when forming an investment view of a company, the board's approval of scenario analysis outputs has become an important source of reassurance for investors. As a result, the sophistication of the climate governance process can be seen by some investors as a proxy indicator of a company's performance. Any corporate strategy put forward by the board should integrate a range of potential climate scenarios in order to increase the directors' confidence that their strategic decisions are resilient. Investors also expect boards to demonstrate solid competence on climate change, be it amongst members themselves or via access to climate expertise.

## Areas for improvement

Companies can improve how they report and demonstrate their maturity in strategy and governance on scenario analysis by making further disclosures around the following aspects:

- Governance: Disclosures around the governance oversight of the scenario analysis process (including its scope and narrative) and who is accountable for it. In particular, disclosures about the involvement of the board or senior management in the validation of the assumptions, parameters and models used. Boards should have enough collective awareness and understanding of potential business impacts of climate change, or at least have access to the expertise.
- Strategy: Disclosures about the use of scenario analysis to (1) understand the range of risks and opportunities associated with various scenarios, and (2) support the board/senior management's strategic decisions.
- Resources and competence: Disclosures detailing how internal climate expertise is being developed and embedded into all operational teams impacted by climate change, and what training senior management is receiving on the topic. It would also be useful to understand the resourcing strategy applied to the scenario analysis work.

## **Examples**

On the next page are three examples of good reporting practices on governance around scenario analysis.



## **Governance/strategy on scenarios**



## Unilever

Unilever company presentation, page 9

## Why this example is selected

In a company presentation available on the Accounting for Sustainability (A4S) website, Unilever's management explains that scenario analysis has allowed senior management to assess materiality of climate change risk, compare this issue to other issues, and determine the resources needed to address it, i.e. it contributes to the overall business case and confirms that Unilever is integrating climate factors.

An end of the second se	<text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text>	a) The large which and poice mapping have placed angle of the others of the gradient strength of the other
work to ensure that we have action plans in place to help mitigate the risks of climate change and to prepare the business for the uture environment in which we will operate.	<ol> <li>We estimated the impact on future prices of soci as a result of climate-related yield changes.</li> </ol>	

## BP

⊥

BP (2018) Sustainability Report 2018, page 64

Annual report and Form 20-F 2018, page 9

## Why this example is selected

BP's Sustainability Report provides details of its climate governance framework and explains the executive accountability that is in place. It also relies on scenarios when defining long-term strategy.

## Eni

.↓.

Eni (2018) Path to Decarbonization report, page 4

## Why this example is selected

Eni's climate change report explains that the company has a dedicated Sustainability and Scenarios Committee that examines climate scenarios as part of the preparation of its Strategic Plan.

		The changing energy multiple and the
Board o	oversight	The air Andrey - Colorador nearest the Unit and Andrey Share
ar board is responsible for the overall induct of the group's basies. *s lossed of detection inviews and monotone induces the second second second second managed per visit- ten the feature and new detection in groups with - ten the feature and new detection is due by induces the ten second second second in a second second second second second second and second second second second second second as a second second second second second second and second second second second second second and second second second second second second as second second second second second second second as second second second second second second second as second second second second second second as second second second second second second as second second second second second second second as second second second second second second second as second second second second second second second second as second second second second second second second second second second second seco	and a monotonical data hashing, which and trading services provide the services of the services and trading services provide the services of the services for executed the services and in the services of the the service classes of the services and the services the service of the services and the services of the services the service of the services of the services of the services monotones of the services and the services of the services that at the providence of the services of the services for an end of the service of the services of the services that at the providence of the service of the services for a service of the service of the services of the service of the services of the service of the foread real.	A strain any strain and strain any strain an
Enate governance 's governance Samework applies equally to a reanagement of the various aspects of climate ange and the stansition to a lower carbon construy. In addition to the oversight provided the evecutive team, the board and seeward	convertibles, various proups and convertibles in RP- bring together coses segment and coses-functional experiment of sense to this area, including those set out below.	Every consumption - 3000 projections
B <sup>2</sup> process Tax lapsor	ne haneved derouitgent	Kantagramahan f,
Forward Reviews envelopie, communial and incomment derivings Colored by an of a Consense strategy or defaultiquest of a grant by partici- consense strategy or defaultiquest of a grant by partici-	seemablese makala para ankohy and nalasahan saar lawa di kashawa. gang shahamanataan makala para sakan makala, makala, makala para ka sadad ap makala ina sakana makala, makal	ani 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Carloss vi Formers on strategy pality, performance average admittes armens the press. Chained by	anting proup to not calciumation mining to retrain management service president of action management.	Charling transition     Working a franchisementy war with     Charling a first State Statement was a statement of Statement o
Upskream sarban skreving sommittee Provan on the delawy of loant ranken plana in the Upstram. Dated is part of the specific particles of perdention, transformation and action, Upstraum.	Deservitives advancing the many transition assessible Broken and strive the implementation of advancing the arrang transition for the Streetwise. Calcivating we have arranteeing constraints and BP shid selection.	<ul> <li>If the large set of the set of the large set</li></ul>
anatha land converting 📕 Cross functional converting	I Balance and appartmenting	Prima front out on 201201







# PARAMETERS AND ANALYTICAL CHOICES





# QUANTITATIVE VS. QUALITATIVE SCENARIOS



The analysis and examples below are related to the choice of quantitative versus qualitative scenarios by companies that may be at different stages of maturity in the exploration or adoption of scenario analysis reporting. Companies in the earlier stages could start with qualitative narratives or storylines to explore the potential range of climate change implications. Experienced companies with greater sophistication in the use of datasets could be more inclined to have quantitative scenario analysis.

## Summary of current reporting practices

Only a few of the reviewed companies with disclosed scenario analysis conduct in-house quantitative scenario modelling, while several others use quantitative scenarios from external providers. Some of the advanced examples of comprehensive quantitative scenario modelling are from the oil and gas sector, where scenario analysis thinking is more established, and from financial institutions that are participants in the <u>UNEP- Financing Initiative</u>.



# Quantitative vs. qualitative scenarios



13

Many of the reviewed companies that disclose scenario analysis tend to have qualitative descriptions of scenarios with minimal disclosure of quantitative scenario assumptions, models and outputs. There also are a few companies that disclose exclusively qualitative scenario narratives/storylines. The observed examples of exclusively qualitative scenarios lacked a description of possible company-specific implications and instead focused on the broad implications of climate-risk adaptation and mitigation at an industry, market and/or national economy level.

## **Preparer and user perspective**

#### PREPARER PERSPECTIVE

Discussions and stakeholder outreach by the PTF-CRR highlighted that there is sometimes a difference between companies' internal progress on scenario analysis and the quantified information that they choose to disclose. For example, companies choose not to disclose quantified impacts for various reasons, including concerns about legal risk, commercial sensitivity of forward-looking information, and to minimise the risk of users misinterpreting the uncertain albeit plausible quantified long-term impacts.

Some preparers indicated that narrative scenarios can be helpful in fostering internal awareness and buy-in and ensuring alignment across different departments on the responses that should be made by the company to climate change risk. These scenarios can also be useful for educating investors about the potential implications of transition risk choices on the business model.

#### **USER PERSPECTIVE**

Both qualitative/narrative-driven and quantitative scenarios can be informative for users and are often seen as complementary. In outreach to stakeholders, users acknowledged the inherent uncertainty associated with quantified scenario analysis information. Nevertheless, they expressed support for quantitative scenarios, as these can be a step towards providing users with comparable scenario analysis information. As elaborated in the 'quantification and monetisation of scenario outputs' topic, quantified scenario analysis information could also be potential inputs to or help contextualise financial statements information (e.g., asset impairment). Users also indicated that they saw the benefit of qualitative scenarios, as these can reveal unquantifiable effects that companies are taking into consideration while analysing their resilience to climate change effects. They also show that management is at least considering the impact of climate risk on the business.

## Areas for improvement

**Explanation of choice:** The PTF-CRR recognises that companies that are in the early stages of their journey in conducting and disclosing scenario analysis may start off with qualitative scenarios. At the same time, as noted earlier, some of the more advanced companies may be reluctant to disclose internally quantified scenarios due to concerns about commercial sensitivity and legal risk.

Therefore, it would be helpful for users if companies that choose exclusively qualitative scenarios could be more transparent about the

reasons for their choice. These could include whether a qualitative scenario approach is the most meaningful choice for their business model or whether it has only been adopted as a transitional choice whilst they are in the early stages of scenario analysis reporting, before adopting a quantitative approach. Similar transparency would be helpful from companies that either do not provide any scenario analysis information or only provide partly quantified and largely qualitative scenarios.

**Company-specific focus:** Qualitative scenarios that are focused on the broad implications for the economy and/or industry and include qualitative descriptions of cause and effect relationships can provide useful contextual information for the analysis of companies' risk. However, such qualitative scenarios could be even more informative if they outlined specific implications for the company – even if only by using qualitative descriptions or directional indicators of possible impact on specific variables (e.g. production capacity, production mix, product profile demand, profitability).

## **Examples**

The next page has three examples of quantitative and exclusively qualitative scenarios from different sectors including financial, oil and gas and property investment.



# Quantitative vs. qualitative scenarios

 $1 \downarrow 1$ 



 $1 \downarrow 1$ 

## Société Générale

Société Générale (2019) Climate Disclosure – Société Générale's Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures Report, pages 23 and 24

## Why this example is selected

Société Générale's TCFD report outlines the borrower impact assessment and the portfolio impact assessment to explain the quantitative scenario approach. Its disclosure of quantitative modelling is helpful in detailing its approach to assessing the adverse financial impact of climate change at the corporate borrower and investee level. This type of disclosure is insightful as stakeholders may have questions on how financial institutions model their borrower and investee companies' exposure to climate risk given the usually incomparable and unquantified climate-related reporting by many companies.

<text><text><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header>

<text><text><image><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item>

SOCIETE .

SOCIETE CENERALE

## Oil Search

Oil Search (2017) Climate Change Resilience Report, page 20

## Why this example is selected

Oil Search's Climate Change Resilience Report discloses quantitative scenario analysis, outlining how it generates oil and price forecasts based on third-party scenarios and applies these forecasts to internal models and resilience assessment. Furthermore, in other parts of its report, Oil Search discloses an outline of related quantitative assumptions and a summary of possible portfolio impacts.





 $1 \downarrow 1$ 

Lendlease (2019) Lendlease Annual Report 2019, page 54

## Why this example is selected

Lendlease's Annual Report includes an example of qualitative, narrative scenarios. Lendlease indicates that details of references and models used for these scenarios will be available on its website. Furthermore, the concise, easily understandable disclosure gives a sense of where Lendlease is on a journey towards what seems to be the possible consideration of quantitative scenarios at a future date (e.g. stress testing business strategies is included in 'Priorities to 2021').



# ASSUMPTIONS





The analysis and examples below are related to the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative assumptions applied for scenario analysis. The disclosure of qualitative and quantitative scenario parameters and assumptions can help preparers to highlight circumstances that are unique to their companies and enable users to contextualise and interpret the reported scenario analysis outputs, including companies' expected financial impact and business decisions. Such disclosure is consistent with the TCFD's fundamental principles of effective disclosure, which recommend that disclosures should be specific and complete, and further note that *"For future-oriented data, this includes clarification of the key assumptions used. [...] Where appropriate, the organization should also demonstrate the effect on selected risk metrics or exposures to changes in the key underlying methodologies and assumptions, both in qualitative and quantitative terms."* 

## Summary of current reporting practices

There are varied practices in the disclosure of scenario assumptions across the companies reviewed by the PTF-CRR. Among these companies, some have comprehensive disclosure of their relevant



# Assumptions



scenario-related assumptions, but many do not adequately disclose these assumptions. Some companies tend to only disclose market outlook or industry level scenario related assumptions with no clear link or outline of implications for the companies' specific circumstances.

## Preparer and user perspective

## **PREPARER PERSPECTIVE**

The varied levels of disclosure of scenario assumptions could reflect a struggle by preparers to determine what assumptions to disclose without having a sufficient understanding of what would be helpful for users. Many <u>respondents to the EU Non-Binding Guidelines</u> (NBG) consultation felt that the current guidelines would not enable comparable reporting by companies and that for scenarios to actually be used in the market, more direct guidance was needed (e.g. on which scenarios to use, across which time horizons, and based on which assumptions). The need for additional guidance on assumptions was echoed by some preparers participating in the PTF-CRR outreach.

Concerns about legal risk and commercial sensitivity is also a factor that influences the willingness of preparers to disclose quantified inputs used in scenario analysis.

#### **USER PERSPECTIVE**

During the PTF-CRR internal discussions and stakeholder outreach, users indicated that they recognise that scenario analysis is intended for companies to assess and communicate their resilience to climate change risk, and that it is not a prediction of companies' future cashflows or a projection of exposure. This is because probabilities of occurrence are not considered when conducting scenario analysis. Nevertheless, to contextualise this information, users expect transparency on key quantitative assumptions related to the inputs and models used to conduct scenario analysis. These include assumptions about carbon prices under different scenarios, implications of key supply/demand assumptions and any other key model inputs. Users expressed the need to understand how carbon price assumptions and policy choices translate to specific sectoral and company-specific impacts.

The disclosure of quantitative assumptions can, to some extent, enable users to have a sense of the comparability of quantified scenario analysis information across reporting companies. But as confirmed during the PTF-CRR outreach, users also recognise that key quantitative assumptions will differ across sectors, and that there are potential limitations with some of the disclosed key assumptions as highlighted in the 2019 Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) publication. For example, a question could arise about whether any underlying carbon prices included in the scenario analysis have taken co-operative and coordinating actions across jurisdictions into account, and whether different carbon prices should be applied across different jurisdictions. In addition, the assumptions could include unproven technologies (e.g. carbon capture storage and net emissions technologies).

Some users assess the resilience of companies starting from financial statements information and therefore emphasised the usefulness of an alignment between assumptions related to scenario analysis and financial statements information (e.g. outlook of commodity price in scenario analysis versus asset impairment-related commodity assumptions, discount rates etc.) or alternatively, of disclosures that highlight and explain any differences.

In addition to the usefulness of quantitative assumptions, users also expressed the importance of disclosure of qualitative assumptions in helping them better understand companies' strategic adaptation choices.

## Areas for improvement

Companies could consider communicating key scenario assumptions in a manner that is comprehensive and informative on the specific business context of the company (i.e. that goes beyond only giving a broad market and industry outlook). Companies could also consider explaining if, how and why any key assumptions that were applied for scenario analysis may differ from similar assumptions related to their financial statements information (e.g. asset impairment-related assumptions such as discount rate, or time horizon related to financial asset impairment).

## Examples

The four examples shown on the following pages include disclosures of both qualitative and quantitative assumptions relating to transition risk and physical risk.



# **Assumptions**



## Citibank

Citigroup (2018) Finance for a Climate-Resilient Future - Citi's TCFD Report, pages 16,13 and 12

## 

## Why this example is selected

Citibank's TCFD Report discloses the underlying assumptions for transition scenarios related to two sectors (oil and gas, and utilities). It also discloses assumptions for the underlying REMIND model. As noted in the 'models and data' topic analysis, model assumptions are useful for assessing scenario analysis outputs.

Rey Scenario Assumptions CPU-II E per Standard analysis analysis and rene con- the analysis and capacit (of the POTRID Product Con- biological State and Con- Disated State and Con- stated State and Con- tension of the State and Con- dition of the State and Con- one Alternative States and Con- and States and Con- States and Con- Con- Con- States and Con-	acceleration beyond what remains note in most of the comparison of comparison of	in CC3 Sector C is feasible 5 or assume the ust and even a compared to compared to	ictory de Istay. It The spo increases nalyced, I timetical The possit	etopine ti t price at a in 2030 a with the et te-under a te price in	ii & gas la 2040 optian (SPC 2020
<ol> <li>In the scenarios, of &amp; gas serve as that form constitute here as the work matching here.</li> </ol>	CE Midenical and COLUMD / BROK	d someta proj Ci	*******	spat price	
Fore-cast in addition, demand for transportation					
grows rapidly and oill is accumed to remain an insortant transport from the first is not easily instruction.	PC (analyse)	\$40.60			
in the short-term, Consequently, under the 2°C	21				
contario, U.S. oil demand increases between 2020 and	19°C				
2030 and first starts to fail between 2030 and 20.43. Even in a LSPC scenario, of demand remains relatively	Natural are blds OTO US2 / MME	erinal and som Til)		-ter EL -	998) 94 <sup>-</sup> 00
rabust and does not fait chargely units after 2005.		2010	2020	2000	3060
	dPC (baseline)				
	210				
n). —ec	Source: Polyaker in	natibate for Cite	uele imper	Enursech	
The second secon	Citi did not indep the accumptions note only that th a limited out of th of energy deman	endently and under the Hi e projected f he countless of and prices	iyaa the Sitted in States in possibiliti may eval	patiential s idents scen these scen es all how wh	ability o artor, 10 artor, ar The Scho
Z. The scientific lattice THE carbon Capture and discape (CCD) between provide the carbon carbon value, available and/or carbon 2220 to indigite total personality of the carbon of the carbon science of the science of the carbon the science may coolsy that would be care attact the accord demonstrate of carbon of the carbon of the accord demonstrate of the carbon of the carbon of the carbon of the carbon of the carbon of the accord demonstrate of the carbon of the carbon of the carbon of the carbon of the carbon of the accord demonstrate of the carbon of the carbon of the accord demonstrate of the carbon of the carbon of the accord demonstrate of the carbon of the carb	In apprying the R UNEP IT plut me constrol imprind Citi edimates the EXP portfolia wo recuts are driver Climate transition for our analysis, transition to min	IDMIND CD-LI thodology to probability o at the impact of the impact is to enable is contactor, provide you provide you provide you	NRCL 2*C CARLAND CARLA	contario a the chan from trans conth Ame and 2000 o accumpt is ones we rderty low e economi	nd the prin tion risk rican . These lans, used -carbon f.

**EFRAG** 





## **Oil Search**

Oil Search (2017) Climate Change Resilience Report 2017, pages 24, 25, 34

## 

 $\gg$ 

17

## Why this example is selected

Oil Search's Climate Change Resilience Report discloses underlying transition risk assumptions related to three reference scenarios and presents them in a reader-friendly table. Oil Search separately discloses its internally applied assumptions. It also has a 'Scenario insights' section that explains underlying assumptions of the three reference scenarios, includes oil and gas price projections and signposts the key takeaways.



BASIS OF PREPA



# Assumptions



## **Arcelor Mittal**

Arcelor Mittal (2019) Climate Action Report 1, pages 18 and 19

#### Why this example is selected

Although the below example of narratives/qualitative scenarios from Arcelor Mittal's Climate Action Report only outlines industry information, there is a qualitative description of the assumptions behind each scenario, and a graph that highlights two key transition risk levers (policy response and technology choice). These assumptions give context to the description – made elsewhere in the report and outside the scenario analysis section – of how adopting six new technologies could have a potential impact (in percentage terms) on Arcelor Mittal's operating and capital expenditure.



	480		sector 1 2018 sectors a	second and research
Box & policy scr Figure 2 HEGH	mains and their effective	ness in driving de-carbor	ication of the steel indust	77 ACCELED ATE Clockary
Freed of degring result of free-servicebook	\$*A68.078	URLIT Level of pa	ACCELERATE Trajundy	HOM
Table 2				
Structurally higher	ineffective mechanion in place to offset emicturally higher countries costs of	Ineffective mechanism in place to affect structurally higher operating costs of	Mechanisms to maintain competitive market by officetting structurally higher operating costs of low-aminipor	Common global framewark is implemented to maintain competitive market to offset
operating costs of low-emicsions steelmaking	toe-emilisions steelmakers versus higher-emissions steelmakers	idaelmakers versus higher-emissions staelmakers	deelmakers versus higher-emissions deelmakers and imports and regions, e.g. green border adverment	et schurzey higher operating cont of low-emissions meetnakers versus higher-emissions meetnakers
operating contro of low-emicsions czeelmaking Clean energy infractoracture and allication by sector	Identermitigations translandares versus highen-emissions statelinakers This concertised policy in any market to incertise and allocate class energy to statel sector	Anternational Calebratako versist higher-emiodoso Calebratakos No-concetted policy in any market ta incentivas and allocate clean energy to stael sector	explicitlent versus higher-ensistion explosition of the ensistence and region, e.g. green border adjustment border adjustment industry to ensietnaking industry to ensietnaking industry to ensietnaking industry catabox carbos and unition carbos passee, catabox carbos and unition carbos passee and the carbos and the	ch uchuraby hagher operating costs of bas-annocions tradehalaer vertous higher-annocions tradehalaer sentry to clean energy to clean energy to clean power, circuit curbon and carbon-capture and excape infracturcurae provided gibtaby

## ATP

ATP (2018) Responsibility Statement, pages 78 and 79

## Why this example is selected

ATP's Responsibility Statement describes the assumptions used for four Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) scenarios. These scenarios model different levels of temperature rise while assessing the climate change exposure of its five forest investments.





19

 $\rangle$ 

# **TIME HORIZON**



## **Rationale for consideration**

The analysis and examples below relate to the extent to which companies integrate time horizon assumptions into scenario analysis, and disclose what they specifically consider to be short-, medium- and long-term horizons. The TCFD guidance calls for companies to disclose what they consider to be short-, medium- and long-term horizons taking into account the useful life of their assets, and what they consider to be the implications of timing in the scenarios used. Similarly, REQ-02 of the Climate Disclosure Standards Board (CDSB) Framework, highlighted in the 2019 SASB-TCFD implementation guide, requires that disclosures include the timelines, targets, and KPIs used to assess the effectiveness of an organization's environmental strategy and policies.

Time horizon disclosure informs on possible risk impacts across different time frames: The impact of climate risk factors can vary according to time horizons and can depend on the choice of measures to limit global warming (e.g. carbon taxes, adoption of new environmentally friendly technologies) under different scenarios. For example, in the long term, the crystallisation of physical risk exposures

# **Time horizon**



will depend on the choice of mitigation measures. While measures implemented to ensure a 2°C or lower rise in temperatures will likely limit medium- to long-term physical risk exposures, other transition scenarios (e.g. limiting to a 3 or 4°C temperature rise) or late political response may lead to increases in physical risk exposures in the future. In contrast to long-term physical risk exposures, short-term physical risk exposures are likely to be more certain and difficult to offset.

**Relevance of time horizon for analytical choice:** The appropriateness of conducting scenario analysis and the choice between qualitative and quantitative scenarios can depend on the time horizon being considered. For example, a <u>2018 Cicero Climate Finance</u> publication suggests a differentiated approach towards the analysis of physical risk according to the time horizon being considered (see below diagram). A similar view was expressed in the <u>May 2018 European Bank for</u> <u>Reconstruction and Development (EBRD)</u> publication, which stated that for shorter time horizons, taking the probabilities of events into account is more appropriate than performing scenario analysis.

Cicero-Climate Finance, Climate Scenarios Demystified 2018, page 9 🔱



European Financial Reporting Advisory Group

## Summary of current reporting practices

Only a few of the reviewed companies' disclosures specified what they considered to be short-, medium- and long-term horizons and how these different time horizons are integrated into scenario analysis and the related business decisions. In many cases, companies only have qualitative descriptions of time horizon, or none at all.

## **Preparer and user perspective**

#### PREPARER PERSPECTIVE

The disclosure of climate risk factors according to clear and distinct time horizons can help companies and their stakeholders identify, analyse and mitigate climate risk exposure (i.e. physical and transition risk) and/or capitalise on opportunities. In other words, a clear breakdown of time horizons can enhance business planning and decision making.

Furthermore, the PTF-CRR internal discussions and stakeholder outreach confirmed that, to be meaningful, the time horizons applied in scenario analysis should extend to climate change time horizons (e.g. considering the impacts that may arise in 2050 and 2100). However, there is an acknowledgment that the climate change time horizons may extend beyond the planning horizon for some business models, and that this may explain why some companies do not specify what short term, medium term and long term means for them.

#### **USER PERSPECTIVE**

During PTF-CRR discussions and the stakeholder outreach, users emphasised the importance of the visibility of companies' specific definition of time horizon. This helps users compare and assess time horizon definitions across similar companies, and lets them challenge companies that appear to have unusual definitions. Users also highlighted that companies tend to quantify short-term horizon impacts and qualitatively consider impacts due to long-term risks and opportunities.

The importance for users of the disclosure of time horizons has also been highlighted by several publications including a 2018 Climate scenario compass report by Kepler Chevreux that was informed by the viewpoints of 150 analysts. It highlights that climate-related risks tend not to be fully captured and priced by current financial models, analyses or recommendations, and that they are considered unevenly across sectors. This noted failure to incorporate climate risk could, in part, arise due to the difficulty users may face in distinguishing the climate-related risks and opportunities that relate to different time horizons. A 2018 Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) publication on environmental, social, and governance (ESG) issues and credit risk also raises the importance of time horizon for investors. The PRI publication notes that time horizon considerations depend on the visibility of future risks, the probability that they will materialise, and whether they impact investee companies' cash flow and balance sheet and companies' ability to adjust their business models.

Hence, the disclosure of which time horizons are being considered can potentially help inform users about the uncertainty associated with companies' future cash flows, and to identify which possible future impacts could be meaningfully included in valuation and risk analysis models.

## Areas for improvement

The disclosure of time horizon assumptions and their effective integration into scenario analysis is an area for possible improvement for many companies. Consideration of long-term climate changerelevant time horizons further enhances scenario analysis. Finally, the time horizon-based disaggregation of risk factors will make reports more informative for users if it is done for all material climate risk factors.

## **Examples**

On the following pages are four examples of good reporting practices in specifying and integrating time horizon into scenario analysis.

20

# **Time horizon**



21

## Rio Tinto

Rio Tinto (2018) Our approach to climate change 2018, pages 18 and 23

## Why this example is selected

Rio Tinto's climate change report discloses sensitivity analysis and scenario analysis information related to both physical and transition risk. The disclosure clarifies the meaning of time horizon as follows: short to medium term (0 to 20 years) and long term (20 to 50 years). Furthermore, Rio Tinto distinguishes the potential impact of a 2°C scenario on its commodity product profile (iron ore, copper and aluminium) by time horizon. In a different section of the report, it also highlights that the analytical approach to physical risk exposure depends on time horizon.



## Société Générale

Société Générale (2019) Climate Disclosure – Société Générale's Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures Report, pages 10, 11, 20

## Why this example is selected

Société Générale's Climate Disclosure includes time horizon considerations for credit analysis purposes, and highlights that while climate risks and opportunities may not influence immediate decision-making, they could influence longterm strategy. Société Générale then discloses how different climate scenarios are applicable for different time horizons.





# **Time horizon**



## 🖉 South32

South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, page 17

## Why this example is selected

The South32 climate change report disclosure includes an outline of how different time horizons are mapped to different transition risks (policy, legal, reputation, shareholder action, technology, market changes), the most relevant scenarios as well as mitigation and opportunities. The footnote clarifies time horizons as follows: short term (next 3 to 5 years), medium term (6 to 10 years) and long term (11 to 50 years).

South32 of opportun data 1 sumania man management inter that member have t	climato intices plans and ap plans and ap pl	e-relations and a second secon	ed risks, r dr-vialed foreat to are and to a manning. pportunities Eale Calma printing and additional and and additional and and additional and and additional and and additional additional and additional addition	nitiga Where is us the ful islandy i islandy i i i i i i i i i i i	Attion options and the second
South32 ( opportun his 1 summers his, nitigation op nonexecularly in table 1 Climati Parlay 6 Parlay 6 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	climato nities es the result of planes and ap this as Ablanes mare that to be -related These hardware' Devit, method lang area languages	e-relation applicant sites productions of the second of risks and risks a	ed risks, r alt-valat alt-valat alt-valat antens portsentities Ethe Contemportsentities	nitiga Where is intratyour intratyour intratyour intratyour intratyour intratyour intratyour intratyour	Action options and the sector options and the sector option option option option option option option option option option option option option Option option option Option option Opt
South32 of opportun inter Josepher Staty in inter Josepher Staty in inter Hein excito.	climato itties in the react of phase and ap this is a Athene market and the bin a Athene market and bin a Athene market and bin a Athene market and bin a Athene market and bin a Athene market and bin a Athene market and bin a Athene and bin a Athene and and and and and and and and and and	e-relations of the second seco	ect risks, r devident forwer for any and particular opportunities Extern Cademonic particular and any any any any any population of any	nitiga Ware bi Initeration Initeration Discovering Dis	Attion options and the second
South32 of opportun lide 1 stewards access lides 1 climat Table 1 climat Peley 6 Peley 6 9 9	climato iities es the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the result of the the result of the resu	e-relation operturbations on the little scattering operturbations of the scattering operation of the scattering operation relations rela	ed risks, r adronalita and e. and e.	where it intering int	tion options and where the standard standard standard subscriptions of the standard standard standard subscriptions of the standard
South32 of opportun hids 1 summaries his, milgitin op namescriktly, billing rable 1 Climato Parliey E Parliey E South South South South South South South So	climato nities in the mat is place and ap the ne data mere that is near that is nea	e-relations of the second seco	ed risks, r ate-valued over la na and na and na anoming. pportunities Exits Codes proving the codes	nitiga ubera in intre in untre intre standardy i standardy i stand	Attion options and environmental states and and do the mean states and the do the mean states and the do the mean states and the dotted states and the dot
South32 of opportun Idda i stansaine Andre Stansaine Idda i Stansaine Idda i Stansaine Tagle 1 Climat Peley 6 Peley 6 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	climato nities es the result is pitros and spitros and serve that to co-related for serve that to co-related for serve s	e-relations of the second seco	ed risks, r ale veloid (marti la ar and la a and la a apportanities Data Calue around a cale around a cond a cond	nitiga Ubere in Ind ynar in Der ini interin Der ini Der ini De	tion options and the design oppins has been design of the design oppins has been design oppins has been design of the design oppins has been des
South32 c opportun hild 1 summarke his, milgetin op anores kindly in discontext rable 1 Climato Pelley 1 Pelley 1 Notes 1 Pelley 1 Notes 1 Not	climato hities is the read of planes and ay this is a follow mare than to co-related Dark mediany term limitany term limitany term limitany term limitany term	e-relations of the second seco	ed risks, r ale otilad formal is and and its and its poportanities Bain Market State	nitiga Ware in Initia yar initia ya ya ya ya ya ya ya ya ya ya ya	Action options and the second system of the second second the second system of the second sec
South32 of opportun histo 1 kennenken histo 1 kennenken histore that austal, histore that austal, half 2 kennenken histore that austal, heley 6 heley	climato nities as the result of pieces and up this is a follow of the a follow of the a follow of the a follow of the a follow involution of the a following the following the following the following the following the following the following the area the following the following the area the following the area the following the following the following the following the following the following the following the following the following the following the following the fo	e-relations of the second seco	ed risks, r aterotated forced to not and in a manning. pportunities East Codes print paint instanting surfaces (as and in a portunities) East Codes print paint instanting surfaces (as and paint) instanting (as) instanting (as)	titigs where in and year in the fail indentity is destruction there year having having far for the fail the	Attion options and the second second second second second do the the second second second second do the the second second second second do the second second second second second do the second s
Dougling to the second	ities s be veral s joe related researching correlated Free relations' Devision relations r	eri citato aprilaret alim partarilar se titat extensis as depress al risko and c limit semaria oc oc notices as a construction oc	All risks, i all vision for with a sur- manning. pportunities Enter Contempointing patients and any attemption resulting surfaces ( and any attemption and any attemption any any attemption attem	Where in last year in the fail identity 1 discretion in men iden have page	ALCOIN OPLICUITS AINU and an energy anguests have have used a trans- tion of the second second second second the of the second second second second second bill of the second
opportun lada 1 surmania hada 5 surmania hada 5 surmania hada 6 surmania fable 1 Climab Peley 6 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Intres is the read is places and ay this is a fully many that to co-related terms term	ipsthart che particules se that assesses as depress of risks and c interest senarics of acc acc acc acc	ale votaled invest la sur and in a aggest and in gest and in gest and in gest and an an installing surfaces of installing surfaces of and and surface and and any surface and any surface and any surface and any surface and any surface and any surface any surface and any surface any surface and any surface any surf	Where in last year' in the ful interview have year interview havenes havenes havenes havenes	In the endown of program. Not known made when a searcement, we have reflected there the sharped the first the searcement of the searce of the first the searcement of the searce of the Parties at the searce of the searce of the searce of the searce of the searce of the parties of the searce of the searce of the parties at the searce of the searce of the parties of the searce of the searce of the parties of the searce of the searce of the parties of the searce o
bild I summarie his, milgain op anders his yn llyddir yn aner his yn hywr yn yn fable 1 Climat Tage 7 Pelwy 1 Pelwy 1 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	es the result is places and ap the is a bilance on are than to be-related to a bilance before terfore terfore term before term	risks and c line in the second risks and c line in the second relevant second c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c	Altronational drawnil is nor annal ina marning. pportunities <u>Bank</u> Contemposing mill request main your is packading statistics (at main any single request and any single request and any	Ubera in Ind year in the fail identity i scenaria. Intern page intern in	bend or an information programs. Nan home much drawn assessment, we have been related in the anti-home, and a strategy of the programs and the strategy of the programs and the strategy of the programs and th
nin, edipation op access today initiative fable 1 Climato Pales 1 Climato Pales 1 Pales 1 Pale	plans and sy this a fullow on related on related Devices hardway hardway bards	riska and c Meat recently riska and c Meat referent accession	terueri la sur and ina manning. pportunities Bios Carloss pering pail including santow for andrary offer the sur- surface pring pail santowy ning the sure of santowy ning the sure of the santowy ning the sure of the surger services and the surger services and the surger services and the surger services and the	Land year' in the fail intendity i mineratio. Drawn page inten men latency hardness for far	Landsteinen, un konstellistelä Hene Mangela for år Hene samset kan som kall blig richstand apperkultalise sektrate fälle Bul- Förfart in skynnelisten 2012. Hängelans and apperkultalise Hängelans som av spränd and lings som gånde sektrate som spränd and lings som gånde som sprände som som som som som som som som som som som som som som som
natives links into the original section.	th is a future many than to to-related Town tariant* Dark, mediany are limiture and any limit	risks and c line depress of risks and c lines relevant scenario 02 802	and in a manning. pportunities Biole Cashee prining puli industry services for and any divisit reps and any divisit reps any divisit reps	in the fail intendity to science and them page them page the	b). Our three scanners have been valid is in private and approximations retrained in the full interval and the scanners in the periodic of a 22. Willipsilen and experimention. White build a distribution of the scanner of the periodic of the global content period and large and global content period and large and clobal approximations.
Table 1 Climati Table 1 Climati Tapin 1 Policy 0 1 1	onerelated Development Develo	risks and c Next Stead relevant semaria 62 822	manning. pportunities Binks Carloss policy particular rap and hasher reps and any other reps any othereps any other reps any other	identity i scenaria. Intern pag iden iden iden iden iden iden iden iden	log risk-and apportantialse strategies and in this Particle adversarialism in new stategies is provided 22. Miligation and apportantians. With include a schwirt re-region of and long rom global schwirt re-region of and long row global schwirt re-region of a neg row global schwirt re-region of
Table 1 Climati Taple 7 Policy 6 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	te-related teriser* Dest, mailues oni long arm limiture and longiarm	risks and c Meat relevant correction 6C 8CC	pportunities Ealer Codes printy policy and any other repo- and any other repo- and any other repo- and any other repo- sations printy repo- sations printy any other to a second	scenaria. Dom pag inters ants,	Publish information on our samarine is provided ex2. While them and approximation which is also prior to regard out frings our productions and approximations which is also prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior Porture the first is prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior to regard out for the prior to regard out for the prior boundary of the prior to regard out for the prior to regard ou
Table 1 Climati	te-related teriane* Dest, mailure and long are limiture and longiares	riska and o Meal relevant comunic CC RCC	pportunities Eaks Contemportant participation including services and and any etitier repla- and any etitier repla- ter of the second s	inters parag	Notigation and approximation Winterships a dust in a regime data lange num data and a dust in an explicit allowation, and address and will showed (anishes in a second address and will showed (anishes in a second historical and will show a distribution in an indexisting of a second string publics. Parket and an youndaria way app 19. In addition, and without radius method.
Table 1 Climato	or-related Time tertian* Dert, mature and long term tertion and long term	riska and o Mask relevant oc BCC	pportunities Ealer Contempositing put inclusing surfaces to and any ather reps and any ather reps and any ather reps may increase such may provide with 144 and provide such	ian an latary haritam far	Wilgstime and appendix-files We be large a block one regime of earlings one endowed regimes and earliers of the second second endowed regimes and the second second second block has period on the second second second block has period on the second second second block has period on the second second second Parket methods are period as a second s
Tapic T	Tena Instant Institute and Leng area likeliuse and long lance	Mank referenti exemute 6C RCC	Bisks Cardinar printing pul- installing surfaces for and any utiliter regis and any utiliter regis may increase testin may increase testin may increase testin may increase testin any action of the second	ilen ann latery hanlann Arr	Miligation and appendixelian We include a short vian region distingtions and a short vian region distingtion and affection and said volumes of environs in manager relations and said volumes of environs in manager includes a speed a service participant participant and said volumes of a speed a service includes and said volumes of a speed and additions, not volume via speed and maliforms, not volume via spee
Tapin in Parks	Tena teritane* Derit, mailure and long are limiture and longiares	ntervani somete	Enter Cartery printy put industry parties to and any printy part may increase units may increase units comparise residence.	sian ann, iorn latory hanitarn far sia	Stilligation and apperiordizes We include a short's on regional and long out, global adves prior is on equific allowation and investment and wait industrial deviations. In manage robol longend accord priority globalities. Parken telefal is provided on a page 19. Including telefal according on the priority.
Tuple In Policy C	Interface" Deart, medican and long arm Dealure and long larm	accurate	Balan Carlaum printing pail inclusing carlant is and any silter reput and any silter reput may increase under may increase under comparise with lat carlant printing.	olen ann, ann latary hanlann Air	Billipation and apportunities We include a short run regional and long-run, global rations prior is non-rapid allocation and neuroteness existings. This anticidates to indensity and internet deviations is manager risks keyword serveri priority polisies. Perform ideal is provided on a page 20. Including set out-priority regions proton.
Policy	Duert, manilum and lang arm ilenitum and lang lanm	65 855	Carliner printing pail inclusing samines to cap, and trade spati- and any other regu- nary increases may increase units comparise with tai carliner protocores.	nien nen, istory hantons far	We broked a short-text regional and large your global andress prince in our coupling allocations and investment regionizers. Deterministicates in affective and intelligible coupling patients. Partners shall a provided on page 19. In addition, no vulnetare contents retrained.
	nanitan and long ann limitan and long lann	NCC	including surface to support in the sub- surface prior grad- may increase result surgarities with his carbon processors.	ann, Ialary hanlors An	global nations prior is nor capital allocation and investment and validations. This involvations is effective and well informed deviations in manager risks keynod served printig polision. Partner visital is provided in page 20. In addition we valentiers relation metaion.
	interior and interior	800	and any other repa- carbox pricing was may increase units surgularies with had carbox probables.	latory hankers for	effective and well internet devices to manage risks keywel served pricing policies. Parties details provided on page 10. In addition, our volvet varies entoisen
	limiture and long-lanes	RCC	narkon prising man- may increase costs companies with fail carloot emissions.	hariana Aar Ar	risks karpend survert printing palisies. Purifier skelatilis, president on page 20. In addition, our veluntary surface emission.
	ang lann		may burnard under sumparies with hel- caricon emissions.	in .	Purifer sistal is presided on page 20. In addition, nor velociary parteen emission.
			carbon emissions.		in addition, my valuriary surface emission
					restantion targets show internal preservants to identify analysis and inclusions is cause of
					approximatel protociaria restantian projects an
-					an angeing kanis.
	Duert,	60	An our statisticable		Our scenario analysis incorporates patential
	mentioner		inclusing successory	and .	policy kased impacts on our supply shain to less
			subject to similar a	hangen	pained from this presents are used as an input
	inter and	RCC	in policy, so may to		inte aur angeing strategie plane.
	and pass		requirements to m	and the second	We have also calculated and dealered our annual former 3 emissions to encode that on one open
			replatory charges	in.	of the scale and secrets of eur supply shain
			for each security		emissions. Further detail is previded an page 10.
			amairanneantis.		
	Dart,	60	Vision and kindow	why	Through our focus on invaculian and inchrology.
-	neilee .		replation may be		are are unrising to reduce our land requirements,
	ana sang		manageria an page 1	annanian. Y	summers of the second s
	inter and	RCC	pressures increase		performance standards drive resource efficient
	ang lann				operations, we are to be aread of policy charge and assid the risk that more strictment fullers
					palicies could press.
Legal 1	deduce.	GC and RCC	increased https://or	_	We consider that my preasilise approach.
	and lang		against promotional	in and	to climate related this assessment, etch
	ant in		comparing in far i	lamanen.	diversified aerifalls, analytics minimizes aur
			naurand in them her	invested.	relative expensive to climate sharps related
			alimate shange ing	and and	Digation Housen, we maniler legal
			simale stange."		an major developments when required.
66 Caluation ages	alian ) an darp	and PP Fairby	Propress (Free dayse	n end here	sand 1656 Thomas Climate Change (four stegram)
These and Street Law	re barre comis	Time Testado	and the second second second second	name interes	in the wine of some citizens therein the size

## Aviva

Aviva (2018) Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018, pages 17 and 18

## Why this example is selected

Aviva's TCFD report disclosure highlights a 15-year horizon for the scenario analysis (Climate Value-at-Risk approach). It also communicates the likelihood of physical risk exposure over the next 15 years and over longer time horizons (until 2100).



# MATURITY ASSESSMENT AND SCOPE



## **Rationale for consideration**

In its <u>2017 Final Report</u>, TCFD noted that greater "rigor and sophistication in the use of data and quantitative models and analysis may be warranted for organizations with more extensive experience in conducting scenario analysis" and expects "that organizations will evolve and deepen their use of scenario analysis over time". As companies have differing levels of experience with scenario analysis, stakeholders find it useful to have information on where companies are in their journey of conducting and reporting scenario analysis. This kind of disclosure allows stakeholders to understand the applicability of the results and how much confidence they can place in related conclusions.

Transparent and clear disclosed information on the maturity and potential limitations of companies' scenario analysis approaches is helpful for users. This is especially the case when such disclosures address methodological aspects (e.g. quantitative vs. qualitative scenario and time horizon – see the respective topic analyses), overall scope and granularity of the analysis (e.g. parts of value chain, businesses, types of assets, geographies and/or sectors considered, risk types included).



X

23

# Maturity assessment and scope



,↓,

24

## Summary of current reporting practices

Companies that report on scenario analysis rarely give explicit information on the level of completion, maturity of the analysis and scope of coverage. Those that provide more advanced reporting typically disclose information on the level of completion and maturity of their scenario analysis (e.g. complete, partially complete, initial assessment). Their description of the status of the assessment includes information on significant scope exclusions (e.g. limited regional coverage, selected business areas), data gaps and/or conceptual weaknesses. If gaps have been identified, the summary is accompanied by an outline of next steps to enhance the analysis.

## **Preparer and user perspective**

#### **PREPARER PERSPECTIVE**

Disclosure and clarity on the maturity and scope of the scenario analysis helps reporting companies and their stakeholders to understand both the usefulness and limitations of scenario analysis as a tool for specific internal risk assessments and strategic decisions. Furthermore, disclosing the maturity and scope sets a clear starting point for formulating a path to enhance the analysis over time. A detailed scenario analysis supported by a transparent scope ensures that senior management will understand the impact of the analysis on the various business lines and geographical location of operations, and will be able to make appropriate decisions.

#### **USER PERSPECTIVE**

EFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group

Disclosure of the maturity and scope of scenario analysis helps users of company reports identify where companies are in the journey of conducting and reporting scenario information. This information can enhance users' decision making by helping them assess what the scenario results address, which data gaps exist (i.e. what further work needs to be undertaken by preparers), and what level of confidence they can have in the conclusions of the analysis.

## Areas for improvement

As noted, companies that report on scenario analysis rarely give explicit information on the level of completion and maturity of the analysis. It would be helpful if companies that are still in the early stages of scenario reporting could consider disclosing basic key messages about the overall status of the assessment, major limitations as well as plans to enhance the scenario analysis process. With progress in scenario assessment, companies can consider advanced reporting of the maturity level by outlining details of any gaps in the scope of assessment, scenario inputs and analytical choices, business impacts and adaptive strategic decisions made.

Finally, users would benefit from a consolidated, structured presentation of the detailed information (e.g. lists, tables). Presentation is a potential area for improvement for all report preparers.

## **Examples**

On this and the following pages are six examples of advanced reporting on maturity assessment and scope drawn from companies in different sectors.

## Citibank

Citigroup (2018) Finance for a Climate-Resilient Future - Citi's TCFD Report, page 29

#### Why this example is selected

Citibank's TCFD Report notes that Citibank conducted a pilot scenario analysis and has identified a set of challenges associated with conducting climate scenario analysis. The report also outlines a series of potential next steps to find solutions for these issues.

Looking Forward	
Our experience with the UNEP insights that will help to inform into 2019 and beyond. Citi ack highlighted by the IPCC's recer Warming of LSPC, and recogni-	FI pilot gave us important o our strategy going forward nowledges the risks at Special Report, <i>Global</i> zes the urgent need to keep Use limiting it to 1980.
	<ul> <li>Section 2015 Section 2015 Secti</li></ul>

# Maturity assessment and scope



## South32

South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, page 29

## Why this example is selected

South32's climate change report gives a clear description of the progress the company has made in terms of scenario analysis in the past years and of intended extensions in the current year.

## Rio Tinto

Rio Tinto (2018) Our approach to climate change 2018, page 35

## Why this example is selected

Rio Tinto's climate change report provides a clear and comprehensive overview of the level of completion of its assessments in the area of physical risks.

# <page-header><page-header><text><text><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><text><text><text><text>

	Mip Tinto -	2018 expose	re assessm	ent		
Assess value chain	Supply chain	Operations.	O Markets			
Access first order impacts	0	0	٢	0	0	0
	Heat direct	Drought	Subvene rainfall	Cyclanes	Sea level Kise	Witter
Assess physical climate-lisk aver asset life	Projections for S-20 year for advance	Concario analysis for 22+ year tinuetnese	Accessment of historical impact of externe			
			weather events			
Cumpleted	lievement					

## Oil Search

Oil Search (2017) Climate Change Resilience Report 2017, page 21

## Why this example is selected

Oil Search's Climate Change Resilience Report summarises the limitations of its scenario analysis in a separate chapter.

<text><text><text><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text>	<text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text>	against Wood Mathematic's SEASIO	The surresponding namine reflects	Long maked in the mattert. This has a
	EXPERIENCE STREETS	DND new popul calcured (Figure 8). This automic all this bioling users their applied in a multiple in depictive and in deviced earlier in this Report in deviced earlier in this Report when the service of the approximation when the service of the approximation and random they induce a submitting. These leads to they induce a submitting is calculated as a submitting of the probability of the random service is understanding on the probability of the service and the probability of the substanting of time.	Information provided by the SA and Geomegrapes for the instruct constraints, integrated with Watel Machinesia and CES much Views. The Same suggests are and top CIT Sourch as installation to instructures and the CES and the International institution metal. In the extended machineses. 2016 of demantion, which impacts due for 2015 (and 2017) is of the case of Comparison ARB, Asia Wall, the indextee path for demands from 2015 2020 all source files.	disperioritatide regulate impacts (2012)DL determinentian 2016 (1 Brogsinger) suites resulted our the beyrang print dis mol 2016 2022. Cut summit disease surveise and additional generalistic disease and additional generalistic disease and additional generalistic disease and additional generalistic disease and additional (2017) implicitation additional (2017) implicitation additional (2017) in accidentian. Disease additional (2017) a constrained. Disease additional additional mis surveitation additional mis surveitation additional mis surveitation additional mis surveitational additional mis surveitational mis surveitational mi
A do do go do	Concernance of the second seco			
	A set of the set of th			
Process and an and and and and	Mixtel         Mixtel           Mixtel         Mixtel           Mixtel         Mixtel           Mixtel         Mixtel           Mixtel         Mixtel		IN DEPARTMENT PROJECT	Norwshak NVV Assessment UNE Expension NVV Assessment
MAI CA.	NO DA			
3014 2019 2024 2029 2024 2029	2014 2019 2014 2019 2014 2019 Figure a longer of Old Inservice HIPV impact encrement.			E Mainta
	right a supply in some constraint of approximation.	PMG OL	PNSINS	NPV Aureaner
		PAGE CR. 2014 2019 Figure & Grape of OL Second Va allocate 10PV i	PNOLINA 2014 2400 2014 apped ano convert	2019
		Pilot CL 2014 2019 Pigner & Empred CM Sanchi almate NPV i	2024 2029 2024	200
		Pica CL 201 201 Piper a Support Of San Walmary NW (	PRIZENS	208
		And CA 2014 2019 Papers & Surger (105 Sam Vir) Angene & Surger (105 Sam Vir)	PPS2032	200
		And CA 20.4 20.9 Paper & Super (16 Saw V), almost NV)	2012/02 2014 2019 2014 mput descentes	200
		PALON 2014 2019 Proper & Raper (Cl. Sanchi shana (1977)	201103 202 203 204 gal accord	200 PGL DB



# Maturity assessment and scope



## Equinor

Equinor (2018) 2018 Sustainability Report, page 18

## Why this example is selected

Equinor's Sustainability Report highlights the scope of the portfolio resilience stress test that it conducted.



## **CNP** Assurances

CNP (2018) 2018 Sustainable Investment Report, page 30

## Why this example is selected

CNP Assurances Sustainable Investment Report highlights the use of scenario analysis to make conclusions on physical risks and gives a clear indication of the scope of assessment and level of coverage.

3.1.1.1 Physical risk CMP Assesses has noted from the sensitying for physical child assesses of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense that the sense of the sense that the sharp for any physical child is in pages to the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense means in 2017. It may assesse that the sense of the sense physical child is in the physical sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense is requested by the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the sense of the se	Imal Instanch:
At 31 December 2018, 72% of ocorts www.subject to a physical risk analysis.	Changes in from climate hasonic some analysed in the sourt 2021 (2025) and compared to a periodical-informate the (1927-2020) instant on two commons using allowed term geneticscue gas exclusion, exhibited by the hierarchical for an Climate Change (RCC).
Property assets	<ul> <li>RCRES (must bliefy pathway in view of the scored state surrouteness to the COPI I);</li> <li>RCPRS (screet pathway if no measures are implemented).</li> </ul>
CVP Assumements has converted over if lear-bot, a convolving here que visible di se gability comparation and enginess fromogle the schwaire branchine, in convert de neuroscience di dise pipelarial chiese schwaire to chiese chiesegen see its Ferrardo property assette barbi debendy an finangle chiedge possible convertients in minite to annelper the response in physical chies of its property results.	Is under to determine the scannel and know brack of expansion much property smart, a list of obsolat obsolat program balances to read- ous the period of elements and is the factor and a billered for re- olerate based billed alternit. These elements inductions were so to use the advantum reader for much programphic learning in 10 GP Assessment program particles.
Analysis of the physical and uprestioned rais inferent in CNP Assessment property particle care metrical as in air almost instancials data and patientially impact incident and in a sec- parity. Some types of climate basessis users student.	The study provided COP Assurances with a sitese picture of m 2017 of the assurts with high physical talks in the assert of closeste basenine manchesi.
The following forms is supplied to exclude the role over the role of the role	neniky met Marka Mark
Keeun	Cite of results
ran main de nel sola, coro relacionte in provinci e conse en al- sistento. Coly lucione, las conse annoval for Analisenvones mal in- citien fuer any passer la values hant chieva la conse a lugitor ciul al fondacente se lugitor normage integeneticos los 2000.	Con reasons scans a man na man na manan in manan is und receipts is popular nilipting ressure.



# SCENARIOS AND MODELS





# SCENARIO SELECTION



## **Rationale for consideration**

The set of scenarios selected by companies is an important analytical choice as it defines the scenario range (i.e. range of plausible future states) that companies can explore and determines the extent to which companies can assess different types of risks (transitional and/or physical). The choice of scenarios also determines whether companies can compare their development under different scenarios (e.g. base case vs. higher/lower climate action levels). Consequently, TCFD highlighted the selection of scenarios as a key analytical choice and encourages companies "to disclose the approach used for selecting scenarios".

The Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) also confirms that "the starting point for the analysis itself is to identify which scenarios, or future states of the world, will be used to provide a view of the potential implications of climate change on investments." The Center for Climate and Energy Solutions (C2ES) recommended using "a range of scenarios when conducting a scenario-based risk analysis, including those that do not meet 2°C. Exploring a broad range of futures [...] will help illustrate financial resilience under a variety of climate-related outcomes."





 $\rangle\rangle$ 

## **Scenario selection**



In line with C2ES, <u>CDSB</u> concludes that "it is necessary to consider a number of plausible future paths to stress test the organization at the extremes of the "wedge" of future risk and opportunity and use scenario analysis to test an organizations' resilience and strategy responses to these." Defining a range of scenarios should allow companies to assess transition risks (e.g. under a global warming well-below 2°C scenario) as well as physical risks (e.g. under a high warming scenario).

## Summary of current reporting practices

Companies that report on scenario analysis tend to provide rather short descriptions of their process and rationale for defining the scenario range. In some cases, companies use a single scenario for the analysis, which is not in line with TCFD recommendations.

The more advanced companies, in line with TCFD, define a set of scenarios (including a 2°C scenario) which include a range of transitional and physical risks relevant to the company. The description of the scenario range outlines the rationale for selecting a scenario (e.g. coverage of a certain type of risks relevant to the company, build-up of a reference case) and provides information about potential interdependencies with external reference scenarios (e.g. full/partial adoption of an International Energy Agency (IEA) or Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) scenario). Furthermore, it gives an insight into the positioning and relationship of the scenarios included in the scenario range.

## Preparer and user perspective

## PREPARER PERSPECTIVE

Selecting appropriate scenarios is a major challenge for preparers. Referencing external scenarios for company-specific analysis can be constrained by a range of factors such as limited public access to output data, gaps in the overall coverage of the scenario and insufficient level of detail in the results for certain business sectors. Internal scenarios can be tailored to company-specific needs but require a level of expertise in scenario preparation that is typically not available within companies. Consequently, during the PTF-CRR outreach, several preparers expressed the need for guidance on selecting appropriate scenarios.

## **USER PERSPECTIVE**

In assessing the decision-usefulness of companies' scenario selection, users think about the number, type, plausibility and information content of scenarios that are applied. Companies consideration of a range of scenarios, covering both physical and transition risks and reflecting unfamiliar and unfavourable outcomes, represents a good practice in this context. Many users expect better comparability and standardisation of applied scenarios across similar companies within sectors. Sector-specific scenario development or the use of common databases were proposed as a way to foster standardisation. Some feedback during the PTF-CRR outreach noted a trade-off between user needs for comparable information across companies and information that reflects company-specific situations. A combination of external reference scenarios with internal scenario elements may help to overcome this trade-off between the need for comparable versus company-specific information.

## Areas for improvement

As noted earlier, companies reporting on scenario analysis tend to mainly provide short descriptions of their process and rationale for defining the scenario range.

Companies that are at a basic level of reporting on scenario selection often only describe scenarios using simple, short outcome-oriented phrases (e.g. '2°C scenario' to indicate the level of global warming that the scenario represents) or by short reference to certain widely used scenarios (e.g. IEA Sustainable Development Scenario). This kind of description lacks context about the rationale for scenario selection (i.e. the overall relevance for the company and the relevant risks addressed) and whether there are correlations between multiple applied scenarios.

As noted earlier, companies that are more advanced in their reporting tend to disclose more information about the set of scenarios selected including the rationale for their selection, and their positioning in the scenario range. Disclosure of these different aspects of scenario selection in an integrated and non-dispersed manner, is a potential area for improvement for all preparers.

## **Examples**

On the following pages are five examples of good reporting on scenario selection drawn from companies in different sectors.



## **Scenario selection**



## EDP

EDP (2018) Sustainability Report 2018, page 108

## Why this example is selected

Energias de Portugal's (EDP) Sustainability Report indicates that separate scenarios were used for the analysis of physical risks and transition risks, and outlines the scenarios that were considered relevant for each risk type.

## Galp

Galp (2018). Galp Integrated Report 2018, page 34

## Why this example is selected

Galp's Integrated Report outlines a range of scenarios at the level of technological disruption and political consensus, which are considered the main uncertainties for its sector. The key characteristics, positioning and relationship of the scenarios are summarised in an overview figure.

## Iberdrola

Iberdrola (2018) Statement of Non-Financial Information. Sustainability Report 2018, page 61

## Why this example is selected

Iberdrola's Sustainability Report gives a clear overview on the number of scenarios considered and their purpose (transition or physical risk analysis).









## **Scenario selection**



31

## **Rio Tinto**

Rio Tinto (2018) Our approach to climate change 2018, pages 18-19

#### Why this example is selected

Rio Tinto's climate change report explains that three scenarios, reflecting different political framework and technological conditions, were used to assess the resilience of its businesses over clearly defined time horizons. One scenario serves as a reference case, and the positioning of the scenarios is shown clearly in a  $2 \times 2$  matrix (i.e. choice of policy versus pace of technology adoption). The disclosure covers the main differences between the chosen scenarios and the anticipated impact for each scenario in relation to the reference case.



## South<sub>32</sub>

South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, pages 23, 29, 36

## Why this example is selected

South32's climate change report notes the use of three scenarios, which are characterised as divergent and intentionally extreme, to assess business resilience in a range of contrasting futures. One scenario is clearly marked as a base case against which business impacts due to transition risks and physical risks, each represented by another scenario, are assessed. South32 also notes that the three customised scenarios combine elements from well-known external scenarios (including IPCC, IEA and World Economic Outlook (WEO)). At some level, this link of custom scenarios to external reference scenarios could help to balance users' needs for both company-specific and comparable information.



↓



# PHYSICAL RISK SCENARIOS



## **Rationale for consideration**

TCFD recommendations identify climate-related physical risk and transition risk as the two main types of risk that financial sector and non-financial sector companies should disclose. Physical risk is one of the main ways climate change will impact companies. Climate change can impact physical risk through:

- Acute (event-driven) risk such as extreme weather events (e.g. floods, droughts, storms, heat stress, cold snaps etc.); and
- Chronic risks (those due to longer-term shifts in climate patterns such as an increase in average temperature or a change in average precipitation).

Climate change can impact the chronicity of physical risk and the severity and geographical location of extreme weather events. This leaves companies with the uncertainty of how potential climate-related physical risk may affect their operations and value chain.

Transition risk within TCFD recommendations has a goal of limiting temperature rise relative to pre-industrial levels to at least a 2°C or below. Transition risk and physical risk are inversely related (i.e. policy action, technology and business model adaptation that limit carbon emissions increase transition risks and opportunities, but limit long-term physical risk exposures).



# **Physical risk scenarios**



,↓,

Given the relevance of climate-related physical risk, information about the extent to which companies have assessed the physical impact on their portfolio of assets and incorporated physical risks into investment screening and future business strategy is an important element of disclosure (see also <u>CDP technical note</u>). There is also a need to consider if physical risk has impacts across companies' value chains (supply chain, distribution networks and markets).

## Summary of current reporting practices

Physical risk is one of the most challenging aspects of scenario analysis, and physical risk disclosures are less often provided and less developed than those of transition risk. So far, not many companies have performed and disclosed physical risk scenario analysis. At this stage, the leading reporters provide only some description of the models but not key assumptions. Often the analysis is partial, performed for only part of the portfolio and stressing only some of the physical risk variables.

There are usually some high-level figures or maps provided to help the users judge the materiality of the results, but no comprehensive financial impact assessment is provided. Potential action points and adaptation strategies are outlined but there is no disclosure of specific adaptation plans that will be undertaken as a result of the physical risk assessment.

## **Preparer and user perspective**

## PREPARER PERSPECTIVE

EFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group

During PTF-CRR discussions and stakeholder outreach, preparers highlighted the challenge of assessing the impact of physical climate risk because it requires granular details of the exposure of companies' facilities and information about both companies' value chains and supply chains that are difficult to gather. Indeed, many companies lack this level of information and there are also challenges in obtaining this data from third-party providers as highlighted in a <u>March 2019</u> <u>publication from Cicero</u> on physical climate risk. The Cicero publication highlights the limited availability of counterparty-specific information and notes that data service providers offer limited coverage of climate data and make limited use of scenarios reflecting long-term climate change.

## **USER PERSPECTIVE**

Due to the limitations of currently disclosed information and alternative datasets, investors struggle to integrate physical risk exposure into their portfolio analysis. Even when asset location data is available, there are still challenges in identifying the potential impact and risk mitigation measures (e.g. property and business interruption insurance).

During the stakeholder outreach, some investors indicated that they would find it useful if companies disclosed both asset-level and supply chain-related physical risk exposure, as well as the type of event creating physical risk (e.g. extreme precipitation, sea level rises, extreme heat) and a quantification of the impact.

Given that very few companies have quantitatively assessed their exposure to physical climate risk and that those who have, have done partial assessments, the usefulness of current disclosure is limited and likely falls short of user expectations of best practice. Nevertheless, even when there is only qualitative disclosure, this is still useful as it shows that companies are taking the first steps to assess and adapt to the impact of physical climate risk.

## Areas for improvement

Current reporting on physical risk is less developed than the reporting of transition risk. This is likely to be due to greater uncertainty associated with assessing physical risk compared to transition risk, be this in terms of time horizon or climate developments. The main area for improvement is to perform full rather than partial analysis of the exposure to physical climate risk, to disclose the financial impact and to provide more detail on actions taken to adapt. In order to do so, companies need to source the necessary exposure and climate data, which may require significant efforts given the challenges in obtaining them internally and externally.

## **Examples**

On this and the following pages are three examples of more advanced reporting practices on physical risk.

## South<sub>32</sub>

South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, page 37

## Why this example is selected

South32 climate change report discloses that South32 performed a partial analysis covering only their Australian business, while providing an outlook on plans to expand the analysis to cover other operations. The disclosure includes a high-level description of the scenario and model used.

For one mine, there is more detailed information which includes a qualitative description of the expected impact and the resilience of the operations. For other mines in Australia, the only information disclosed is the high-level impact.

The company has outlined the adaptation options that are available. However, it has not indicated what specific adaptation actions will be undertaken.

# **Physical risk scenarios**



## // Landsec

Landsec (2019) Sustainability Performance and Data 2019, pages 25, 28-30

 $\downarrow$ 

## Why this example is selected

Landsec's Sustainability Performance and Data report provides a high-level description of the scenario and model used. A largely qualitative description of the impact is disclosed. The only financial metrics provided are the proportion of assets exposed to flood risk in the next ten years. Available adaptation options are disclosed but there is no information on what specific adaptation actions will be taken.

Task Force on Climate-Related	The convertible resets quarterly and is the second barren for determining our substrately shategy and environ- performance. This includes responding to structure related opportunities such as invariant to remender,	In additional of the second buildings may be allocated by the physical dub, we canducated research and resideding. This remeansh was second and in 2027 and 2029. The resideding has evaluated us to addenvious the likelihood of patiential	
Our opposation for a dimension for a spectra by This section of our Performance and Darts repart requests the resourcementations of the table force and Dartan- feedback Provided Databases (UDD). Here you can find and opportunity. Our peoplement of an expression Database of the section opposite the admente of the Database of the section opposite the admente of the Database of the section opposite the admente of the Database of the section opposite the section of the Database of the section opposite the section of the Database of the section of the section of the section of the Database of the section opposite the section opposite the Database of the section opposite the section of the Database of the section opposite the section opposite the section opposite the Database of the section opposite the section opposite the section opposite the Database of the section opposite the section opposite the section opposite the section opposite the Database opposite the section opposite t	requirements is nearly efficiency and investment in line realises tradeogens. The annumber has according for allowed existing solutions public, regulatory and legal edits, and on the flep photo, and other than a sense. The sense is a separate and motions reasons that the sense without this separate and motions reasons that anni separate visition. Our Scattering they Generalize is supported by an	for an exercise partners out retract basis is, for each sinuarity data is there would need and directly partners induce a basis to factors would need the state of the state	
We are converting to implementing the enconversation of the PCE provides gravitational devi- and investion, encourter data and englist alread for interati- entiated risks and apportunities, which are indirect to are loadered. Write main equals, convertinged to assuming and antionistic already of bases and an encourter of the same size of antionic strengths.	Is well-rend. Convertibles, Earland Eastaultus Convertibles and Rend Eastaultus Convertibles, Eastaultus convertibles materias, the risks appartunities as desartief ad abare. Tais can insulate motivating and approximating investment in energy efficiency progenitis and emenanticies, as well as anonempt and analysisment or administration which is	samples surved out in 2019 incomparised the Met Offlice Climate Populations 2018 (CRO-FR), which are subly scoreging on the most concarde foremosts for how thread sharpy will affect the silvate and usualities in the U.K. The scoredbarrow of all climate and usualities in the U.K.	
and religibiling silvester theorgeneides assesses user particular and user are a GBD enganetaritoris publicly listed by the USD as supporters. Sur approach to silvester tob and appartantity is showned in our Annual Papart on pages 40–40, and as part of an another of silvester and another another another another	approximation are reconcerned pairs detection trackets device evolution argentic of design. Our conventioned to indexes alreader existent table is evidended access the locations, forsugh an energy reduction (image IP). The performance against this EP is bland to execution on evolution	The modeling of all choice and acute physical ratios and BODA, which perception and acute physical ratios and BODA, which perception the submatrix of the submatrix Chorus Chorunge (FEC) is that view for how executivation of provolvance genesis in the strengement. Although one resulting understeil all fails and the submatrix of the physical based on the submatrix of the submatrix of physical based on the submatrix of the submatrix of physical based on the submatrix of the submatrix of Park Charator Agreement, and is sured varies formed on them temperature in viewnal based on the of submatrix.	
For further shadowares you can assess our CDP expanse at Mitpullenova sign entries. <b>Sciencesses</b> Cur Chief Executive has someil expandedity for simulate-	simily to insertible progress spirited nor science forsel indice relation largest endowing efficiency convertineed. Matching risks and apportunities As an answer and appendix of property, and holeses.		
trained tables typical within the Coupling programmer glob biological and account of the Coupling and the Coupling amongsis of the Amongstructure in a started and by sur- demonthlaw (Countering the Coupling and Co	where, the matching and the set of this design elements in the sequences in the interval is a strategies are set of the	In determine these and business cell for efficients (p. p. specifications only constraints assumed as the second system of the second	

<text><text><section-header><section-header><section-header><text><text><section-header> <text></text></section-header></text></text></section-header></section-header></section-header></text></text>	Four degrees a bits sorrow is subgradewate change will be the least up to 200 entropy to subcrast ab- lase surface technist taritie along there as 200 a well 2000, the p length tainteevally so society will need to be	example and with the PCCs, NOP 8.5, solvers intervente lay spit france despress lay 200 (2), Destination and Indexes for imply control for the second solvers in the solvers of devolutions control objects of different of dimension character and interventions, and exclusions control objects of different of dimension and adapt, using generations, inclusions, and adapt to the effects.	These physical effects is such have sevend reflects in one to bushness, their solvergets invasidely single regulations in the sevent seven and the sevent seven and the sevent relation of the sevent physical relation in the sevent the very little invasidant sevent there will be not associated interpretexts the sevent of adapting to the function of an adapting the sevent fills and an adapting the physical relation of adapting the test the seventh results of adapting the sevent fills researcher in the physical relation of a sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part server of results of adapting the sevent fills and part sevent for adapting the sevent fills and part sevent for adapting the sevent fills and part sevent for adapting the sevent fills ad	and servers sould adversing poster sourcework with the set on avalance infection lasses, wait as well as a first on a valance infection lasses, wait and well approximate former for adversariation which new source to the set of adversariation which were sourced to the set of adversariation of the second sequences of point for result lasteres types. The source approximation is a first available set of the second sequences of point of activative well in bandwes to point. Second sequences of the source all states of the thread of second sequences which new real black of the towards of first second sequences in advectors well black of the towards of first second sequences and second s
Distance of unput of unpu	Inspect Stage, subst Inspect Stage, subst sequences of the stage of the stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage of the stage of the stage of the stage is a stage of the stage	and all approximations that and the second s	<text><text><text></text></text></text>	<text><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></text>
Biology (1)         Biology (2)				
Action of the strain				
Implication	TOFD Metrics and I Feature strapsy Features	Ginese scientinegery Ginese scientine (1996) Rob Adoptation (1996) Rob Adoptation (1996)	Macés Reserves Statings from Lonstrands in law under allowations des. References and the second states services	Octobert/manager         Canadian 200700         Tell           E         7, 15, 26, 26, 26, 16         1, 1972, 26           2         7, 15, 26, 26, 26         1, 1972, 26
Description         Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescription< th=""></thdescription<></thdescription<>	1010 Methias and 1 Family mapry Roman Roman Roman Dependence	ergets Closes ubertrongoy Rob Rogetation S. Mitgation Rob Rogetation S. Mitgation Rob Rogetation S. Mitgation Rob Rogetation S. Mitgation	Natio Reserved Analogo, Sawa Sawatine, Italian Sawatine, Sawatine, Sawatine Sawaga analogo sawatine, Sawatine, Sawatine, Analoka Georgy analogo Sawatine, Sawatine, Sawatine, Sawatine, Sawating and Amanana Arkina da Yan 1982, 1974 and Sawatine. Sawating and Amanana Arkina da Yan 1982, 1974 and Sawatine.	Solutions         London 2000         London 2000 <thlondon 2000<="" th=""> <thlondon 2000<="" th="">         &lt;</thlondon></thlondon>
Institution         Institution of segment of and a strate strategistic to product instance in terms of a strategistic strategistrategistatastrategistic strategistic strategistic strategistic st	TOTO Metrics and Transitionapy Promises Recent	aught Close state orogy Rol Adaptation Unitypeline Rol Adaptation Unitypeline Rol Adaptation Unitypeline Rol Adaptation Unitypeline Designation Design	Ext Test Sector of the sector	Line         Line <thline< th="">         Line         Line         <thl< td=""></thl<></thline<>
Poli Adaptation & Mitigation - Investment (CopEq) in law underscherweitens (e.g., sophiel equipment - E	TOD Metrics and Frankristoney Promas	sept Termination of the sector of the secto	HE Territoria de la construcción de la construcció	Bit A cases         Interface         Interface         Interface           1         0
ar acarbi Rok Adaptatian S.Mitigatian Rok and activating Dengy Performance Destilization for search which is are not currently an offen?	1070 Methics and 1 Topology Transmis Permanan Permanan Dependanon Dependanon Aserts	sept Manufacture Sectors Se	Alessee and a second seco	Normalization         Normalization         Normalization           1
	TOD Metricus and I Paradit energy Parameter P	And a second sec	Here and the second sec	

Projections	Analysia	2007 analysis	2009 analpin	fearma .
Energy Consumption	Heiding	New suit of date	Updated	UKDPB previewly CMPB
Flored Rah	Experient & Souring	New suit of date	Updated	Santa Re Califori, Munich Re NRHAN
	Probabilistic Maskelling		No update minimal impact	CCKA Report 2017; [Next update 2022.]
Sea Level Kine	Equators & Insering	New suit of date	Updated	UKDPIE previously CDRA 2017 when UKCPOP
Windowe	Pakakikris Madeling	Cument	No update minimal impact	All Report 227
Sergenduce	Seview	New suit of date	Updated	UKDPB previewaly CMPB
Percipitation	Taview	New sut of date	Updated	LHOP'S previously CMPS



# **Physical risk scenarios**

↓

,↓,



## Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Commonwealth Bank of Australia (2019) 2019 Annual Report, pages 56, 59-60

Commonwealth Bank of Australia (2018) Annual Report 2018, pages 53-54

## Why this example is selected

Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA) Annual Report discloses that every year the CBA performs a physical climate scenario analysis on a different portfolio. The table below shows the progress up to FY 2019 and the plans for FY 2020-2021. The approach intends to cover a broad range of activities, but the analysis is still partial.

There is a detailed description of the analyses performed. However, key assumptions are not disclosed.

CBA presents results of the impact on their counterparties through risk maps and high-level risk impact, concluding that impacts on the company's own balance sheet are minimal. Also, the report provides a summary of the actions CBA may take based on the analyses performed. The report states that the analyses are still a work in progress and the strategic responses in the near future will not be based on these preliminary assessments.







# MODELS AND DATA



## **Rationale for consideration**

The analysis and examples below relate to transparency on the models and data used for conducting and disclosing scenario analysis. As outlined in a <u>2019 Institute for Climate Economics (I4CE) publication</u>, scenarios are quantified using the following models:

- Models that are a representation of human activities that ultimately impact the climate and that occur within the economy and via the energy system and/or land use. These models are applied in transition and other human activities' scenarios.
- Climate or circulation models that simulate the climate response to human activities (e.g. response to current and future greenhouse gas emissions) and depict the evolution of temperature, precipitation and sea-level rise, often until the year 2100. These models are applied in climate change scenarios.
- Models that represent the impact of climate change on the economy (e.g. financial impact). These models are applied in climate impact scenarios.

EFRAG
 European Financial Reporting Advisory Group


37

A detailed description of different models (climate models, energy system, land use, hazard, integrated assessment and macroeconomic models) can be found in the 2019 UN Environment – Finance Initiative (UNEP-FI) publication and 2019 MIT publication. The choice of models, related implicit and explicit scenario input data and underlying assumptions (e.g. technology development and energy consumption assumptions), as well as information on the focus of the scenario analysis (e.g. specific asset, portfolio of assets, physical location) can significantly impact the results of a scenario analysis.

Companies' disclosure of any models and related data applied whilst conducting scenario analysis can help users to interpret scenario outputs and compare information across companies. Transparency on models and the underlying data also enable users to assess the credibility of underlying assumptions and validity of the outcomes. More specifically:

- Disclosure of the underlying models, including the methodologies applied, allows readers of companies' scenario analysis information to assess: the expectations and plausibility of technology developments implicit in the scenario(s) such as negative emissions technologies; emission reduction pathway assumptions; and whether the underlying model is an integrated model or consists of aggregated subsector models.
- Disclosure of the underlying data can inform on the coverage of the analysis (e.g. whether the analysis has been performed globally). It can also shed light on the nature of data applied (e.g. carbon emissions data, financial performance or technology innovation data such as the type of steel plants or vehicles) for specific sectors, companies, or projects.
- Disclosure of models can help users determine the appropriateness of the application of these models by companies (e.g. whether the interaction and process flow between different models is logically coherent, or whether there is a logical linkage between carbon budget, other assumptions and the translation to climate and financial impacts).

EFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group

Furthermore, as highlighted by the 2019 MIT publication, some models are a highly simplified representation of the interaction between economic, emission activities and the climate system response. They can be only partial representations of energy systems, with potentially unrealistic assumptions for specific sectors being considered. The need for a critical review of assumptions is discussed in detail in the 'assumptions' topic analysis. In effect, many of the existing models were not designed for corporate reporting purposes and therefore transparency on how they are used, and their limitations is important.

Another limitation is the unavailability of key data (i.e. data gaps) on sector and geography. Financial companies also face challenges related to sourcing relevant climate risk data for scenario modelling purposes related to their borrower and/or investee companies. Hence, stakeholder awareness of the choices made by companies and thirdparty service providers they rely on to address model limitations and data gaps, can be helpful in the interpretation of model outputs.

# Summary of current reporting practice

Current disclosure does not consistently provide transparency on the models and data underlying the scenario analysis. While some companies disclose climate and energy system models, the disclosure on financial impact models and the data describing the item being analysed (project, specific asset, portfolio of assets, physical location) is often lacking.

# **Preparer and user perspective**

### PREPARER PERSPECTIVE

Clarity on the model and data choices enables report preparers to illustrate thoroughness, quality and validity of the analyses performed.

During the PTF-CRR outreach, several preparers from both financial and non-financial companies expressed the challenges they face in obtaining suitable data for scenario modelling. Some highlighted the current unavailability of sectoral pathways for their sectors. Several financial companies noted the challenges that arise due to a lack of climate risk data related to their borrower and/or investee companies (e.g. lack of adequate multi-year data that can be inputs to risk prediction and measurement models). The lack of relevant data is more pronounced for Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (SMEs) due to their relative immaturity in climate reporting. At the same time, SMEs can be a significant customer base for financial companies. Another challenge lies in the limited transparency on the concepts, assumptions and data integrated in many externally available models (e.g. energy system models providing respective external reference scenarios).

The combination of model and data gaps may create a need for companies to have to develop and apply their own assumptions to address these gaps but it may also, in some cases, make it difficult to model quantitative information about climate-related risks, especially for longer time horizons. In such cases, disclosure of qualitative information by companies can be more meaningful until these methodological and data issues are adequately addressed.

### **USER PERSPECTIVE**

For users to interpret and apply reported scenario analysis information, they need to both understand and be able to trust the underlying models and data. Additionally, some users might want to compare reported information across companies whilst anticipating possible future states arising due to climate change risks. Such analysis is only possible if there is transparent and clear communication of the underlying scenario analysis models and data. During the stakeholder outreach, some users observed the need for improved clarity in reporting and overall transparency on the climate models and data including their source and how they are applied.



38

# 🖉 Areas for improvement

Transparency and clarity in reporting on models and data can enhance the understandability and credibility of scenario analysis outputs. Disclosure of the following can help contribute towards clarity on the role of models:

- Overview of type of scenarios (i.e. transition and other human intervention, climate change or climate impact scenarios), models and data;
- A clear description of the function, inputs, interaction with other models, outputs and any limitations of different models;
- If applicable, methodology, and potentially model(s) used to derive financial impact on the company;
- An illustration of the level of analysis, and the sources of the data;
- The approach chosen to address any model and data gaps.

# Examples

On this and the following pages are five examples of good practices of reporting scenario models and data. To a varying extent, they include the following:

• Explanation of the model and dataset choice;

EFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group

- Differences between models and some detail on the type of models;
- Details of different data sources (external and internal) and related sources;
- Limitations of models and steps taken to overcome these.

## Aviva

Aviva (2018) Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018, pages 17, 18, 20, 21

↓

### Why this example is selected

Aviva's TCFD report provides a clear linkage between the in-scope scenarios, outputs and underlying models. After outlining four scenarios considered for its Climate VaR measure, Aviva outlines the model used (REMIND through Carbon Delta) and gives a high-level description of the model outputs, including financial metrics and some of the capabilities (i.e. consideration of socioeconomic pathways where population, economic growth, urbanisation and rate of technological development are considered). In a different section of the TCFD report, Aviva describes the methodology it applies to translate climate change effects to financial impacts, and the underlying limitations of the analysis.







# Citibank

Citigroup (2018) Finance for a Climate-Resilient Future - Citi's TCFD Report, page 11

### Why this example is selected

EFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group

In its TCFD Report, Citibank explains its review of different climate models considered for transition risk and the reasons for its choice of two integrated assessment models (IAMs), namely REMIND and MESSAGE, and the related model developers. There is clarity on the application of these models for Citibank's pilot objectives (coverage of the agricultural sector, 1.5°C scenario). Citibank notes the limitation of the chosen models for the purpose of financial analysis. It also gives a high-level description of the steps taken with the model developers to address these scenarios in order to select the most appropriate ones.

### Unilever

Unilever (2018) Annual Report and Accounts 2018, page 34

### Why this example is selected

Unilever's Annual Report has an example of a financial impact model. At a high level, it discloses the modelling steps used to derive the financial impact of climate change on one of its key commodities, soybean oil. Unilever indicates that the impact analysis is a pilot, and that it intends extending the analysis to palm oil and tea for which suitable climate change models will be available in 2019. In the narrative following the example shown, Unilever outlines results and aspects that were outside the scope (e.g. catastrophic events and policy responses). However, there is no disclosure or indication of any limitations of the methodology.

# **CNP** Assurances

CNP (2018) Sustainable Investment Report, page 31

### Why this example is selected

In its Sustainable Investment Report, CNP Assurances gives a high-level description of the database and methodology service providers used to calculate the physical risk exposure. This is an example of the type of high-level minimum disclosure that could be useful during the early stages of companies' reporting on scenario analysis.







# ATP

ATP (2018) Responsibility Statement, page 29

 $\downarrow$ 

Why this example is selected ATP's Responsibility Statement describes the role and type of climate models used in modelling temperature rise under four Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP) scenarios. It considers the implications of climate change exposure on its five forest investments. ATP highlights the sources of data.

rantic pathways for a specific level of ameritause aas	A more detailed description of the oreenhouse effect and
concentrations. The RCP acenarios each represent one possible outhway for a specific concentration level *	the modern climate models is provided in Appendix 3.
pressure parriedy for a specific concentration more.	Future temperature increases in five
Structure of climate models Moders climate models are highly camples and camplian	of ATP's forest exectments Based on data from mony of the climate models on which
on enormous variety of factors. This complexity is due to	the Climate Panel has based its recent Assessment Report
a desire to enable very accurate modeling of the Earth's	(ARS),* ATP has examined temperature increases in five
many different scenarios. The greenhouse effect is one of	
the most important climate factors.	The temperature increases were determined by calculating
However, a climate madel also has to include other impacts	via the CMIPS database. Appendix 3 contains a complete
and factors to more accurately calculate changes in temperature Movement a climate model also has to include	list of the model data used in the calculations. The appendix
other impacts and factors such as cloudiness, snow and	forest in Queensland in RCP8.5).
ice cover and a description of the global oceans to more	
tion, climate models also include descriptions of tempera-	different RDP scenarios in the geographical locations of
tare, humidity, precipitation, obnospheric particles, ocean currents and more other factors. The upping factors day	ATP's farest investments through ATP Timberland invest K/S. Due to lock of historical data on forest hereesthore
interact, and these complex relationships must also be	the temperature increase from 2006 to 2100 is shown and
addressed in the climate model.	not for the period 1888-2005, which is the reference period
The most commonly used climate models, known as	Report (ARE). The temperatures will rise in all four scenarios.
general circulation models, cover all these factors as accu-	The increase is most pronounced in RCPRS, however.
	The temperature increases show that the forests North-
The climate models can be used to examine the implications of external influences. These may be man-made changes	woods, Wolf River and Upper Hudson are located in regions that are likely to see greater increases in temperature in
in the atmospheric content of greenhouse goses. Different	the future and may even be more climate-sensitive regions
scenarios, for example the four RCP scenarios, can be	than, say, the forest in Queensiand, Australia. This confirms
gas concertrations. It can also be examined how 'natural'	when ossessing farestry investment opportunities and our
impacts such as major valcanic exptions may affect the clients. Education influences, both man-mode and others!	forest management.
may give rise to positive or negative feedback mechanisms.	
<ol> <li>The FOP scattering are named offer the local of reducing busines that and</li> </ol>	h scample analysis which is a manufact of the initial association and affect in the
scannaris. Santasianily, malation bencing since from how the basicous networks bencing is possible, it will be in a second and any or the first set of second networks separate metrics (Mirsd) from 1730 for 2005. A mean statistical results of the MCP is	incarring white analysis and antipolog analysis tave Earth is alternat. If realistica In the APC scattering in the relation is antipological as the charge in Works par- agenetism is provided in Appandia 3.
E Data ban Da Internetional reasonsh programma 'Coupled Medal Internet In St. 70b Jacamanant Report (JAR).	repartient Project/Prove V (CMPQ) which was used by the UK Climate Panel
Panparai	autry 2018





# INTEGRATION INTO BUSINESS DECISIONS



# SCENARIO OUTPUTS AND BUSINESS DECISIONS



# **Rationale for consideration**

TCFD recommends that companies use scenario analysis with the objective to "assist investors and other stakeholders in better understanding:

- the degree of robustness of the organisation's strategy and financial plans under different plausible future states of the world;
- how the organisation may be positioning itself to take advantage of opportunities and plans to mitigate or adapt to climate-related risks; and
- how the organisation is challenging itself to think strategically about longer-term climate related risks and opportunities".

In applying scenario analysis, companies should consider general implications for their strategies, capital allocation, and costs and revenues, both at enterprise-wide level and at the level of specific regions and markets wherever material implications of climate change for the company are likely to arise. Financial sector companies should consider using scenario analysis to evaluate the potential impact of climate-related scenarios on individual assets, underwriting or lending activity when relevant, as well as to assess the resilience of their aggregated portfolios.

 $\rangle\rangle$ 



# Scenario outputs and business decisions



# $\langle$ Summary of current reporting practices

Current reporting practices show very different levels of maturity. This is largely linked to the degree of uncertainty of climate change developments either on time horizons or in terms of the consequences on business models. Below are some observations on the state of reporting based on the sample of companies reviewed:

- Energy and material companies are most advanced when translating their scenario analyses into business decisions. The transition risk is material and a low degree scenario (2°C or lower) is most often referred to when using scenario analysis for business decisions.
- Consumer companies are at an early stage of translating scenario results into business planning even when their strategy already integrates strong environmental concerns.
- Financial sector companies provide information on their investment portfolios largely relying on external consulting support.

TCFD recommendations call for more in-depth analysis. But companies are struggling with developing integrated scenarios linking climate change (and potential mitigation/adaptation measures) with key economic/business metrics in a time horizon that is compatible with their financial and business planning. As a result, poor information is currently available on potential adaptation of business models and strategy under various climate change scenarios.

# Preparer and user perspective

### PREPARER PERSPECTIVE

From the report preparer's perspective, integration of scenario outputs into decisions and the corresponding disclosure of that integration is one major step in the scenario analysis process. It should ultimately help companies to better position themselves in a changing environment, including by influencing and informing stakeholders on companies' adaptation to climate-related risks and opportunities. However, given the current limitations and uncertainties around scenario analysis, companies may be cautious about taking strategic decisions based only on outputs of their scenario analysis models. Nevertheless, conducting scenario analysis is still a useful exercise to increase internal awareness. It may help frame strategic decisions by offering complementary information.

Regarding disclosure of strategic decisions taken based on scenario analysis, report preparers also have to weigh transparency against potential concerns about confidentiality and business sensitivity.

### **USER PERSPECTIVE**

During the stakeholder outreach, users confirmed the importance of disclosing the linkage between scenario analysis outputs and companies' strategic decisions. For example, some users that cover the oil and gas sector highlighted the importance of disclosure on sanctioned investment projects.

Several users highlighted the current lack of transparency on decisions arising from scenario analysis outputs. Some considered this to be the biggest gap in current scenario reporting. They expected visibility of a feedback loop that shows how strategy affects scenario analysis and, where applicable, how scenario outputs lead to the re-orientation of the strategy and business model.

From the investor decision-making perspective, the translation of scenario outputs into investment decisions can be used differently depending on their analytical needs:

- When taking investment decisions, investors may want to better understand the positioning of companies in respect to climate risks and opportunities, and assess the impact on the companies' business models. The analysis and required reporting information can be sector-specific as it helps investors to perform sound analysis prior to their investment decisions.
- At portfolio monitoring level, where capital has been allocated across different sectors, investors seek more comparable information to assess the resilience of their entire portfolio in selected scenarios. In this context, sector-specific information may be too customised to allow for aggregation at portfolio level and is therefore only partially useful for portfolio monitoring.

In effect, investors are interested in having both sector-specific information and comparable information across sectors as they make investment decisions and monitor the risk of their portfolios.

The linkage between scenario analysis and strategic decisions is still at a preliminary stage. Furthermore, users may be waiting for more robust information before applying it to investment decisions and portfolio monitoring. Meeting investor expectations and their needs for better comparability may require additional scenarios, stress tests or sensitivity analyses.



# Scenario outputs and business decisions



,↓,

# 🖉 Areas for improvement

Even in the most advanced reports, the translation of scenario results into business decisions seems to be at an early stage. This may be due to a lack of maturity or robustness of scenarios and the underpinning methodologies. It can also be that companies consider this information as too sensitive to be disclosed.

- Energy and material sectors companies: these companies are starting to disclose results of their scenario analyses, either in a qualitative or in a quantitative manner. Disclosures mostly intend to demonstrate the resilience of companies to climate change thanks to their positioning or decarbonisation path. Clear business decisions taken as a result of their scenario analyses are still missing.
- Consumer sector companies: some disclosures on how climate strategy is designed are available but there is no clear link between scenario outcomes and strategic decisions.
- Financial sector companies: even if extensive analysis is performed, links with strategy are not clearly stated. The most promising approaches in portfolio monitoring are: 1) the 'temperature' of the assets portfolio, which provides information on the alignment with a 2°C path, addressing the 'inside out' effect on climate change (i.e. companies' impact on the environment), and 2) stress tests assessing potential physical and transition losses a portfolio may face under different scenarios. The impacts of these results on business decisions are however missing at this stage. Investors that perform these analyses stress that these are currently more experimental than practical.

# Examples

Two examples of good reporting practices are shown on this page.

### Eni

Eni (2018) Path to Decarbonization report, page 23

### Why this example is selected

Eni's climate change report provides a good explanation of the use of sensitivity analysis. The scenario used is mentioned, as well as the low impact on the business. To further improve the disclosure, a clear link between the results of the sensitivity analysis and decisions taken to (re-)position the assets portfolio and/or decide on new investments could be elaborated.





### AXA (2019) 2019 Climate Report, page 19

### Why this example is selected

AXA's Climate Report explains how the portfolio shows resilience to transition risk in line with the strategic analysis of 'green patents'. AXA also explains the strategy leading to lower physical risks in its real estate portfolio. The use of scenario results to decide on the portfolio positioning may be strengthened to clearly address the third TCFD recommendation on strategy, i.e. "c) Describe the resilience of the organization's strategy, taking into consideration different climate-related scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario".



EFRAG European Financial Reporting Advisory Group



45

# QUANTIFICATION AND MONETISATION OF SCENARIO OUTPUTS

- EFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group



TCFD's primary focus is to ensure that climate reporting by companies is useful to the institutional investor.

"The FSB Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) will develop voluntary, consistent climate-related financial risk disclosures for use by companies in providing information to investors, lenders, insurers, and other stakeholders [...] The work and recommendations of the Task Force will help companies understand what financial markets want from disclosure in order to measure and respond to climate change risks and encourage firms to align their disclosures with investors' needs." (TCFD's mission)

For many investors, especially those allocating capital based on an analysis of companies' fundamentals, 'useful climate reporting' would include scenarios/sensitivity with inputs and outputs that are quantified and monetised (i.e. translated into financial impacts). Quantified scenario inputs and outputs can potentially help investors to normalise and compare information across similar companies.

The topic analyses on 'qualitative vs. quantitative scenarios' and 'assumptions' focus on the quantification of analytical choices and



scenario modelling inputs. The focus of the current topic analysis is on the quantification and monetisation of scenario analysis outputs. It is closely linked to the topic analysis on 'scenario outputs and business decisions' where it is noted that scenario outputs should translate into decisions.

# Summary of current reporting practices

Of the reviewed companies, and as highlighted in the 'quantitative vs. qualitative scenarios' and 'assumptions' topics, very few quantify their scenarios. The few quantified scenarios are most often related to the business outlook/market development, but are rarely calculated specifically for the company itself.

Regarding the companies that provide company-specific approaches, scenarios are often performed as sensitivity analyses, where the company considers one quantified risk/opportunity factor at a time. The more advanced companies also monetise the potential impact on the company.

# Preparer and user perspective

### **PREPARER PERSPECTIVE**

During the stakeholder outreach, some report preparers indicated a trade-off between transparency and competition risks. Too detailed and prescriptive requirements for quantitative scenarios can be inappropriate for some situations, as they may raise confidentiality/ competition issues. In some cases where confidentiality concerns exist a workaround for companies is that the information is provided at an aggregated level.

In some jurisdictions, the reporting of opportunities within scenario analysis may pose a problem that could potentially lead to litigation from users to whom it may not be clear that such opportunities may not necessarily be realised. The challenges of legal risk and confidentiality are also highlighted in the analyses of 'quantitative vs. qualitative scenarios', 'assumptions' and 'scenario outputs and business decisions'.

### **USER PERSPECTIVE**

As noted in the analysis of 'qualitative vs. quantitative scenarios', some users consider quantified scenarios to be complementary to qualitative scenarios. However, during the stakeholder outreach, users also noted the insufficient quantification and lack of comparability of scenario analysis inputs and outputs. Some users expressed concerns about the use of scenarios with limited plausibility that are not comparable across companies or industries. This is particularly problematic when there is limited transparency on the underlying assumptions and no linkage made between the assumptions of companies' scenarios and those of the more well-known external reference scenarios.

Below are some of the user expectations expressed during the PTF-CRR outreach in respect to the reporting of scenario analysis outputs and impacts:

- Though visual illustrations of impact (e.g. different circle sizes and colour codes) can be informative, users find it difficult to apply this information when there is no accompanying quantitative data. Visual representations tend to be company-specific and incomparable across companies, and possibly even incomparable across reporting periods for the same company. Thus, graphics/visuals need to be supplemented with quantitative data to allow comparison.
- Some users emphasise the importance of, and expect, an alignment of the assumptions related to scenario analysis and to financial statement information. This is especially the case for those that are potentially related to risk outcomes. Moreover, <u>existing International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) accounting standards already</u> require that material risks be reflected in financial statements information. Assumptions where there could be an alignment between scenario and financial statements information include: impairment-related assumptions such as commodity price and

discount rate projections; costs and liabilities due to physical risk exposure; provisions; and asset depreciation time horizon. Alignment would not be expected in all cases, especially as scenarios are neither a prediction of the future nor a projection of companies' specific exposure. Nevertheless, scenarios should reflect plausible outcomes and where appropriate, an alignment between scenario and financial statements information can also help users' assessment of companies' risk profiles (e.g. assessment of balance sheet resilience).

• Some users prefer scenario analysis outputs that consider the effects of multiple interacting variables at the same time, including adverse outcome factors, rather than only outputs derived from sensitivity analyses that consider the effects of a single factor at a time.

# Areas for improvement

As noted earlier, scenario reporting is primarily qualitative and rarely quantitative, and monetisation of impacts is found even more rarely. In general, there is a need for more quantification and monetisation of both scenario inputs and outputs.

In many cases, non-quantified reports conclude that the potential impact is immaterial, which may be why the individual company chooses not to report the quantified and monetised impact. To contextualise unreported, immaterial impacts, it could be helpful for users to at least be made aware of the basis of companies' materiality assessment, including the materiality threshold applied. Transparency on companies' materiality threshold can enable users (investors) to better assess whether the potential impact of unreported quantified amounts is also immaterial for their analytical and investment decisionmaking purposes (e.g. where users normalise this information).

Currently, monetised scenarios are often based on sensitivity analysis, where one factor is quantified at a time, and then monetised. A scenario analysis that reflects the impact of the change in all factors at the same time would require consideration of possible correlations



' and interdependencies between the different factors. This is likely to be much more complex than a sensitivity analysis. It is also easier for companies' financial department personnel to focus on the calculation of impacts through sensitivity analysis within financial statements, as such reporting is based on IFRS requirements (IFRS 7 *Financial Instruments Disclosures*) (CDSB 2018).

There might be lessons to be drawn from the existing application of IFRS requirements for sensitivity analysis reporting in financial statements that could perhaps be extended to the reporting of scenario analysis outputs. For example, guidance for the reporting of scenario information, as called for by many <u>respondents to the EU Non-</u> <u>Binding Guidelines (NBG) consultation</u>, could facilitate the ability to provide related assurance and increase the likelihood of inclusion of quantified and monetised scenario outputs in the mainstream report, as recommended by the TCFD.

It is also worth noting that many companies are disclosing this information in special TCFD/climate reports, outside the mainstream reports, which could be minimising the review and application of this information by users. The reporting of monetised scenario outputs that include financial impacts is even more helpful if the information is included in the mainstream report. When this is the case, users can more easily make linkages between related information (e.g. on asset impairments), and it may also help mainstream investors to consider climate risk as a financial risk. Finally, companies should consider the analytical challenges users face when scenario outputs are only represented by graphs and other visual illustrations but with no accompanying data tables that can facilitate comparative analyses. What can be helpful is a user-friendly presentation of scenario reporting information with related data presented in tables to enable users' easier access and comparative analyses (i.e. to compare similar data across companies). Where available, it is useful to have year-to-year comparative data to allow trend analysis.

# **Examples**

On this and the following pages are examples from three companies that report on financial impact due to climate change, plus a mock-up example illustrating an approach to describing the impacts.

### **BHP** Billiton

BHP Billiton (2015) Climate Change: Portfolio Analysis, pages 13-14

## Why this example is selected

BHP Billiton's climate change report highlights the impact of a 2°C scenario on the commodity market and the financial impact on the company under these conditions. It also outlines the impact of what is described as a 'shock event':







48

# 🖉 🛛 Equinor

•		
Equinor (2018) 2	2018 Sustainability	Report, page 18

Equinor (2018) 2018 Annual Report and Form 20-F, page 84

### Why this example is selected

Equinor's Sustainability Report provides an overview of what the Net Present Value (NPV) impact on the asset portfolio would be in the event of changes in policies and a change in oil and gas prices according to IEA's predictions for a 2°C scenario. Equinor also outlines an adverse impact scenario where there would be a decline in the value of its asset portfolio.

It is notable that Equinor's Annual Report (financial statements) contains an even more monetised and userfriendly stress test, where the company analyses its resilience towards changes in oil and gas prices and currency change. This approach is potentially more useful to investors, as Equinor indicates what the quantified change is, and what the assumed impact of that change would be. In this way, investors can normalise and aggregate the impact to portfolio level, and thereafter assess the risk-profile for the portfolio (i.e. investors can normalise if companies in the portfolio have disclosed similar scenario/stress testing).



# AXA

↓

,↓,

AXA (2019) 2019 Climate Report, pages 17, 19, 24

### Why this example is selected

AXA's Climate Report discloses the 'warming potentials' (also highlighted as an example in <u>Supplement 1: Climate-related</u> <u>reporting practices</u> - under 'Strategy' section) of its various investment strategies. The report also shows the net climate cost impact on allocated assets (i.e. revenues minus costs of climate). AXA also considers the potential impact of flooding and windstorms on the value of its real estate portfolio. The monetised overviews are in effect primarily based on sensitivity analysis tests that consider specific impacts.

↓







 $\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$ 

# European Reporting Lab @EFRAG

## Mock-up example illustrating impacts

Jagd, J.T. (2018) How to make TCFD scenarios useful for investors - a short guide, Center for ESG Research & CDSB, pages 3, 5

### Why this example is selected

Because good practice examples are typically from a limited range of companies – often related to oil and gas – the PTF-CRR wants to show how other preparers could provide useful TCFD scenarios. To do so, reference is made to the model from the short guide on TCFD scenario reporting prepared by the Center for ESG Research and CDSB. By using a relatively simple two-step model, the guide shows how companies can work with scenarios in a stress-test model, using this to provide useful TCFD reporting that is both quantified and monetised.

It should be pointed out that this kind of scenario analysis would require consideration of the likelihood of the risks. Companies would also need to assess whether the monetised impacts from the scenario analysis should be considered when making impairment assessments of assets, provisions, contingent liabilities. Risks that are unlikely to occur should not be reflected in balance sheet line items. See also IAS 36, IAS 37, and CDSB (2018).



# APPENDIX 1: **REFERENCES**





# References



- <u>Center for Energy Excellence-C2ES (2018) Best Practices and Challenges</u> Using Scenarios to Assess and Report Climate-related Financial Risk
- Carbon Disclosure Project (2019) CDP Technical Note on Scenario Analysis - Conducting and disclosing scenario analysis
- Cicero-Climate Finance (2018) Climate Scenarios Demystified - A climate scenario guide for investors
- <u>CDSB (2012) Climate Change Reporting Framework –</u> <u>Advancing and aligning disclosure of climate change-</u> <u>related information in mainstream reports</u>
- <u>CDSB (2018) Scenario analysis: each journey</u> <u>starts with a few practical steps</u>
- <u>CDSB (2018) Uncharted waters How can companies use</u> <u>financial accounting standards to deliver on the Task Force on</u> <u>Climate-related Financial Disclosures' recommendations?</u>
- CDSB and SASB (2019) TCFD Implementation Guide Using SASB Standards and the CDSB Framework to Enhance Climate-Related Financial Disclosures in Mainstream Reporting
- Climate Scenario compass (2018) Investor primer to transition risk analysis

- Deloitte Global Services Limited (2017) IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
- European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (2018) Advancing TCFD Guidance on Physical Climate Risk and Opportunities
- European Commission's Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance (2019) Climate-related Disclosures – Summary of call for feedback
- Anderson, N. (2019) 'IFRS Standards and climate-related disclosures', International Financial Reporting Standards, 2019
- Institute for Climate Economics (14CE) (2019) Understanding transition scenarios – Eight steps for reading and interpreting these scenarios
- IIGCC (2019) Navigating climate scenario analysis – A guide for institutional investors
- Jagd, J.T. (2018) 'How can companies considering TCFD recommended scenario analysis provide disclosures that help investors: a short guide', Center for ESG Research and CDSB, 2018
- Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) (2019) Climate-Related Financial Disclosures – The Use of Scenarios
- Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) (2018) Shifting Perceptions: ESG, Credit Risk and Ratings – Part 2: Exploring the Disconnects

- Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) (2017) Final Report – Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
- <u>Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) (2017)</u> <u>Technical Supplement – The Use of Scenario Analysis in</u> Disclosure of Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities
- Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) (2019) 2019 Status Report – Task Force on Climaterelated Financial Disclosures: Status Report
- <u>UNEP Finance Initiative (2019) Changing Course A</u> <u>comprehensive investor guide to scenario-based methods</u> for climate risk assessment, in response to the TCFD



# APPENDIX 2: ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS





# Acronyms and abbreviations



2°C	2° Celsius
ADEME	French Environment & Energy Management Agency
BNEF	Bloomberg New Energy Finance
IIRC	International Integrated Reporting Council
Cap (large-cap, mid- cap or small-cap)	Market capitalisation (large, medium or small)
C2ES	Centre for Climate and Energy Solutions
CDP	Formerly Carbon Disclosure Project
CDSB	Climate Disclosure Standards Board
COP21	21st session of the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). See also <i>Paris</i> Agreement below.
CRR	Climate-related Reporting
EBRD	European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
E P&L	Environmental profit and loss account
ESG	Environmental, social and governance
European Lab	European Corporate Reporting Lab @EFRAG
European Lab SG	European Lab Steering Group
FSB	Financial Stability Board
G20	Group of Twenty nations
GeSI	Global e-Sustainability Initiative
GHG	Greenhouse gas
GICS	Global Industry Classification Standard
GRI	Global Reporting Initiative
I4CE	Institute for Climate Economics
IAMs	Integrated Assessment Models
IAS/IFRS	International Accounting Standards/International Financial Reporting Standards

IEA	International Energy Agency
IIGCC	Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
KPI	Key Performance Indicator
MIT	Massachusetts Institute of Technology
NBGs	European Commission's non-binding guidelines on non-financial reporting
NFRD	Directive 2014/95/EU – the EU Non-Financial Reporting Directive
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
Paris Agreement	Paris Agreement under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (also called Paris Climate Agreement or COP21)
PRI	Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI)
PTF-CRR	European Lab Project Task Force on Climate-related Reporting
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathway
SASB	Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
SBT; SBTI	Science Based Targets; Science Based Targets Initiative
SDGs/UN SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals of the United Nations General Assembly
SDS	Sustainable Development Scenario
TCFD	Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
TRE	Thomson Reuters Eikon
UN	United Nations
UNGC	United Nations Global Compact
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
VaR	Value at Risk
WEM	World Energy Model



# EXAMPLES







This section is included in the optimised for printing version of Supplement 2.

The interactive electronic version of Supplement 2 includes examples which can be viewed on-screen using the zoom out feature. This section includes a printable version of those same examples. The index below links the examples presented in printable format on the subsequent pages, to the respective sections of Supplement 2 where the specific examples are analysed.

Supplement 2 section	Company	Source document	Corresponding analysis found on Supplement 2:	Printable version found on Supplement 2:
GOVERNANCE/STRATE	EGY ON SCENARIOS			
Governance/strategy	Unilever	Unilever company presentation, page 9	Page 10	Page 59
on scenarios	ВР	BP (2018) Sustainability Report 2018, page 64	Page 10	Page 60
		Annual report and Form 20-F 2018, page 9	Page 10	Page 61
	Eni	Eni (2018) Path to Decarbonization report, page 4	Page 10	Page 62
PARAMETERS AND AN	ALYTICAL CHOICES			
Quantitative vs. qualitative scenarios	Société Générale	Société Générale (2019) Climate Disclosure – Société Générale's Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures Report, page 23	Page 14	Page 63
		Société Générale (2019) Climate Disclosure – Société Générale's Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures Report, page 24	Page 14	Page 64
	Oil Search	Oil Search (2017) Climate Change Resilience Report, page 20	Page 14	Page 65
	Lendlease	Lendlease (2019) Lendlease Annual Report 2019, page 54	Page 14	Page 66



 $\rangle$ 

 $\langle\!\langle$ 



Supplement 2 section	Company	Source document	Corresponding analysis found on Supplement 2:	Printable version found on Supplement 2:
PARAMETERS AND AN	IALYTICAL CHOICES (cor	ntinued)		
Assumptions	Citibank	Citigroup (2018) Finance for a Climate-Resilient Future – Citi's TCFD Report, page 16	Page 17	Page 67
		Citigroup (2018) Finance for a Climate-Resilient Future – Citi's TCFD Report, page 13	Page 17	Page 68
		Citigroup (2018) Finance for a Climate-Resilient Future – Citi's TCFD Report, page 12	Page 17	Page 69
	Oil Search	Oil Search (2017) Climate Change Resilience Report 2017, page 24	Page 17	Page 70
		Oil Search (2017) Climate Change Resilience Report 2017, page 25	Page 17	Page 71
		Oil Search (2017) Climate Change Resilience Report 2017, page 34	Page 17	Page 72
	Arcelor Mittal	Arcelor Mittal (2019) Climate Action Report 1, page 18	Page 18	Page 73
		Arcelor Mittal (2019) Climate Action Report 1, page 19	Page 18	Page 74
	ATP	ATP (2018) Responsibility Statement, page 78	Page 18	Page 75
		ATP (2018) Responsibility Statement, page 79	Page 18	Page 76
Time horizon		Cicero-Climate Finance, Climate Scenarios Demystified 2018, page 9	Page 20	Page 77
	Rio Tinto	Rio Tinto (2018) Our approach to climate change 2018, page 18	Page 21	Page 78
		Rio Tinto (2018) Our approach to climate change 2018, page 23	Page 21	Page 79
	Société Générale	Société Générale (2019) Climate Disclosure – Société Générale's Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures Report, page 10	Page 21	Page 80
		Société Générale (2019) Climate Disclosure – Société Générale's Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures Report, page 11	Page 21	Page 81
		Société Générale (2019) Climate Disclosure – Société Générale's Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures Report, page 20	Page 21	Page 82
	South32	South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, page 17	Page 22	Page 83
	Aviva	Aviva (2018) Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018, page 17	Page 22	Page 84
		Aviva (2018) Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018, page 18	Page 22	Page 85



 $\gg$ 

 $\langle\!\langle$ 



Supplement 2 section	Company	Source document	Corresponding analysis found on Supplement 2:	Printable version found on Supplement 2:
PARAMETERS AND A	NALYTICAL CHOICES (c	ontinued)		
Maturity assessment	Citibank	Citigroup (2018) Finance for a Climate-Resilient Future – Citi's TCFD Report, page 29	Page 24	Page 86
and scope	South32	South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, page 29	Page 25	Page 87
	Rio Tinto	Rio Tinto (2018) Our approach to climate change 2018, page 35	Page 25	Page 88
	Oil Search	Oil Search (2017) Climate Change Resilience Report 2017, page 21	Page 25	Page 89
	Equinor	Equinor (2018) 2018 Sustainability Report, page 18	Page 26	Page 90
	<b>CNP</b> Assurances	CNP (2018) 2018 Sustainable Investment Report, page 30	Page 26	Page 91
SCENARIOS AND MOI	DELS			
Scenario selection	EDP	EDP (2018) Sustainability Report 2018, page 108	Page 30	Page 92
	Galp	Galp (2018). Galp Integrated Report 2018, page 34	Page 30	Page 93
	Iberdrola	Iberdrola (2018) Statement of Non-Financial Information. Sustainability Report 2018, page 61	Page 30	Page 94
	Rio Tinto	Rio Tinto (2018) Our approach to climate change 2018, pages 18-19	Page 31	Page 95
	South32	South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, pages 23	Page 31	Page 96
		South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, page 29	Page 31	Page 97
		South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, pages 36	Page 31	Page 98
Physical risk	South32	South32 (2018) Our Approach to Climate Change 2018, page 37	Page 33	Page 99
scenarios	Landsec	Landsec (2019) Sustainability Performance and Data 2019, page 25	Page 34	Page 100
		Landsec (2019) Sustainability Performance and Data 2019, page 28	Page 34	Page 101
		Landsec (2019) Sustainability Performance and Data 2019, page 29	Page 34	Page 102
		Landsec (2019) Sustainability Performance and Data 2019, page 29	Page 34	Page 103
	Commonwealth	Commonwealth Bank of Australia (2019) 2019 Annual Report, page 56	Page 35	Page 104
	Bank of Australia	Commonwealth Bank of Australia (2019) 2019 Annual Report, page 59	Page 35	Page 105
		Commonwealth Bank of Australia (2019) 2019 Annual Report, page 60	Page 35	Page 106
		Commonwealth Bank of Australia (2018) Annual Report 2018, page 53	Page 35	Page 107
		Commonwealth Bank of Australia (2018) Annual Report 2018, page 54	Page 35	Page 108



 $\langle\!\langle$ 



Supplement 2 section	Company	Source document	Corresponding analysis found on Supplement 2:	Printable version found on Supplement 2:
SCENARIOS AND MOD	ELS (continued)			
Models and data	Aviva	Aviva (2018) Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018, page 17	Page 38	Page 109
		Aviva (2018) Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018, pages 18	Page 38	Page 110
		Aviva (2018) Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018, page 20	Page 38	Page 111
		Aviva (2018) Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018, page 21	Page 38	Page 112
	Citibank	Citigroup (2018) Finance for a Climate-Resilient Future – Citi's TCFD Report, page 11	Page 39	Page 113
	Unilever	Unilever (2018) Annual Report and Accounts 2018, page 34	Page 39	Page 114
	<b>CNP</b> Assurances	CNP (2018) Sustainable Investment Report, page 31	Page 39	Page 115
	ATP	ATP (2018) Responsibility Statement, page 29	Page 40	Page 116
INTEGRATION INTO B	USINESS DECISIONS			
Scenario outputs and	Eni	Eni (2018) Path to Decarbonization report, page 23	Page 44	Page 117
business decisions	AXA	AXA (2019) 2019 Climate Report, page 19	Page 44	Page 118
Quantification and	<b>BHP Billiton</b>	BHP Billiton (2015) Climate Change: Portfolio Analysis, page 13	Page 47	Page 119
monetisation of scenario outputs		BHP Billiton (2015) Climate Change: Portfolio Analysis, page 14	Page 47	Page 120
	Equinor	Equinor (2018) 2018 Sustainability Report, page 18	Page 48	Page 121
		Equinor (2018) 2018 Annual Report and Form 20-F, page 84	Page 48	Page 122
	AXA	AXA (2019) 2019 Climate Report, page 17	Page 48	Page 123
		AXA (2019) 2019 Climate Report, page 19	Page 48	Page 124
		AXA (2019) 2019 Climate Report, page 24	Page 48	Page 125
	Mock-up example illustrating impacts	Jagd, J.T. (2018) How to make TCFD scenarios useful for investors – a short guide, Center for ESG Research & CDSB, page 3	Page 49	Page 126
		Jagd, J.T. (2018) How to make TCFD scenarios useful for investors – a short guide, Center for FSG Research & CDSB, page 5	Page 49	Page 127





### USING THE RESULTS OF OUR SCENARIO ANALYSIS

Presenting the financial impact of longterm risks, such as climate change, draws attention to it as a priority. This has allowed senior management to assess materiality, compare to other issues and determine how much resource to use in addressing the issue, i.e. it contributes to the overall business case and confirmed we are doing the right thing. Our analysis showed that, without action, both scenarios present financial risks to Unilever by 2030, predominantly due to increased costs in our supply chain where costs of raw materials and packaging would rise.

We also found that the development of climate models and scientific research around climate change is still evolving and progressing, therefore we need to continue to update our models as the science progresses to make them as decision-useful as possible.

### PHASE TWO – DEEP DIVE ON SOY

The results of our scenario analysis confirmed the importance of doing further work to ensure that we have action plans in place to help mitigate the risks of climate change and to prepare the business for the future environment in which we will operate. We knew that the biggest impacts would be in our supply chain so we decided to focus on our largest ingredients. We piloted an analysis for soy first, as it is one of our most important ingredients, it is a high-profile crop in the countries where it is grown and has good availability of historical price data and suitable climate models.

### HOW

We performed thorough data availability and robustness scans before starting the work, to ensure we were minimizing uncertainty in the data, whilst simplifying the process as much as possible. Once we had collated the external and internal data sets we wanted to use, we had visibility over our data gaps and we agreed assumptions that would help to cover these.

The pilot model we developed used the direct risks from climate change to the price of soybean oil, such as change in yield and change in supply. Three steps were performed:

- We estimated future yields by analysing external agricultural and climate models in key growing regions.
- We estimated the impact on future prices of soy as a result of climate-related yield changes.

 The future yields and price impacts were then used to calculate the estimated financial impact from climate change for our business, based on our forecast purchasing volumes.

The model was built in such a way that it could be used to analyse other ingredients.

### NEXT STEPS

At the time of writing, we have completed our ousiness level analysis and our deep dive on soy and incorporated it into our disclosures in our Annual Report and Accounts 2018. The next step is for us to model the impacts of climate change against two of our other key ngredients, tea and palm oil.

We will continue to refine the approach, with a focus on delivering insight for the decision makers throughout our organization. As we refine the work, we expect to find it easier to complete the analyses and have more fluency with internal resources.

We will continue to work on how best to facilitate discussions on TCFD and scenario analysis within the business to get the full value from this approach.

Implementing the TCFD Recommendations Practical Example: Unilever















EFRAG European Financial Reporting Advisory Group

					4
	REMUNERATION COMMITTEE	CONTROL AND RISK COMMITTEE	SUSTAINABILITY AND SCENARIOS Committee (SSC) (Set up in 2014)		
	It proposes to the BoD the general criteria for the annual incentive of the CEO and managers with strategic responsibilities, which include specific objectives associated with the reduction of GHG emissions. Since the second half of 2017, for an even broader view of the factors affecting value creation in the long term, the BoD has set up an Advisory Board to support it and Eni's CEO. Composed of international ex-	It supports the BoD in the quarterly review of the main risks, including climate change.	It addresses the integration among strategy, evolution scenarios and business sustainability over the medium to long term and examines the scenario for preparing the Strategic Plan. During 2018, the SSC discussed in detail climate change issues at all meetings, including the decarbonization strategy, energy scenarios, renewable energies, research and development to support the energy transition, climate partnerships and water resources and biodiversity issues <sup>4</sup> .	<ul> <li>CLIMATE GOVERNANCE</li> <li>ROLE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD'S COMMITTEES The Beard of Directors<sup>1</sup> (BoD) plays a central role in managing the main aspects linked to climate change. In particular, on the proposal of the Chief Executive Officer (EED), the Board of Directors ex- amines and/or approves.</li> <li>Dijectives related to climate change and energy transition, as an integral part of business strategies;</li> <li>The "GHG Action Plan" with investments to meet emission reduction targets by 2025;</li> <li>The Short Term Incentive Plan with targets related to the reduction of GHG emissions for CED and managers with strategic responsibilities?;</li> <li>Annual sustainability results, including the sustainability report (Eni for) and the HSE review, in- cluding climate change performances;</li> <li>Instructional reporting, including the Interim Consolidated Report and the Annual Financial Report (including the Consolidated Disclosure of Non-Financial Information];</li> <li>The relevant projects and their progress, on a half-gear basis, with sensitivity to Eni and IEA SDS carbon pricing?;</li> <li>Resilience test on all upstream Cash Generating Units (CGUs) applying the IEA SDS scenario;</li> <li>Strategic agreements, including climate change-related initiatives.</li> </ul>	











64







	climate scenarios	Lendlease	Metrics and targets		Risk management	Strategy	Governance		<b>Susta</b> Climate
<b>Resignation</b> Resources and efforts solely focused on adaptation and survival	>4°C	Our climate scenarios have Framework, respond to ke Details of the references a website together with how	Reduction five year intensity in FY18 from FY14 on emissions	<ul> <li>In 2014, we set 20% by 2 annual scope 1 and 2 car In FY20, we will embark or of our businesses. The targ scenario planning activitie</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Climate-related risks inte</li> <li>Climate-related risks inte Appetite Framework</li> <li>Acute physical risk analys</li> <li>Shadow price on carbon Committee investment c in 2020, rising to \$100U \$140USD/Tonne by 2040</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Updated Sustainability F</li> <li>Four Lendlease climate : for scenario planning (se</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Board oversight: engage Committee three times i</li> <li>Management's role: eng Business Review (QBR) p</li> <li>Working committees: TC</li> <li>Global Sustainability Lea</li> </ul>	Where we a	-related risk
<b>Polarisation</b> National self-interest prioritises local adaptation over multi-lateral action	3-4°C	e been created to test our busi y trends and our vision to creat nd models that were used to c v we see each scenario playing	s. has reduced gross missions over the last s whilst increasing floor e result is a 15 per cent n in emissions intensity ions per floor area.	020 targets for energy, water a bon emissions on our website a process to co-design the ne gets will be related to our new a s	9grated into Risk Committee 9grated into Group Risk is undertaken across portfolios 1 integrated into Investment 9ecisions – \$20USD/Tonne SD/Tonne in 2030 and 0	ramework scenarios created se below)	rment through Sustainability per year agement through Quarterly processes CFD Steering Committee and adership Team updates	are today	<ul> <li>Task Force o</li> <li>Disclosure (</li> <li>current and</li> </ul>
Paris alignmer Multi-lateral government climate regulation from the Paris Agreement	2-3°C	ness strategies, align :e the best places. reate our scenarios w out over the coming	27% <sup>2</sup> Increase in gross emissions in FY18 from FY14	ınd waste on an inter w beyond 2020 metr Sustainability Framev	<ul> <li>Continue to in into our Risk M</li> <li>Continue analy supply chain a</li> <li>Disclosure of c</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Stress test bus climate scenar</li> <li>Identify risks a</li> <li>Set metrics an outcomes</li> <li>Engage with st</li> </ul>	• Continue to st climate risk go	Prioritie	n Climate-re rCFD) aligne future climat
<ul> <li>transformation</li> <li>Collective self-limitation</li> <li>and sharing of resources</li> <li>enable a just zero</li> <li>transition</li> </ul>	< 2 °C	with our Sustainability /ill be made available on our decades.	Our construction business has seen an increase in gross carbon emissions in FY18. The increase in emissions can be attributed to increased construction activity in general as well as an increase in tunnelling activities.	nsity basis. We disclose our ics and targets with each work and informed by our TCFD	tegrate climate-related risks fanagement Framework ysis of physical and transitional nd market risks ;limate-related financial impacts	iness strategies using four ios d targets relevant to business akeholders across our value chain	rengthen and improve vernance	∍s to 2021	lated Financial d summary of our e-related disclosures.



1. Overall reported reduction in inte

sity for all Assets undermanagement globally. 2. Gross increase in reported emissions for all Construction Projects and auxiliary offices globally



 $\sim$ 

The scenarios assume that carbon capture and

# 16 | FINANCE FOR A CLIMATE-RESILIENT FUTURE: CITI'S TCFD REPORT

successful development of such technologies. As more slowly than would be the case without the assumption is that demand for fossil fuels declines fossil fuel emissions. One consequence of this viable, available and in use after 2030 to mitigate storage (CCS) technologies become commercially

we noted earlier, this assumption requires rapid

beyond what is feasible today. acceleration in CCS technology development,

Key Scenario Assumptions

scenario as compared to the possible price in 2020. of natural gas in the 2030 timeframe under a 1.5°C in most of the scenarios analyzed, with the exception remains robust and even increases in 2030 and 2040 The scenarios assume that the spot price of oil & gas

ω

<b>Oil historical and sce</b> (2010 USD / BBOE)	nario proje	cted U.S. s	pot price	
	2010	2020	2030	2040
4°C (baseline)	\$60.60	\$71.56	\$84.74	\$93.06
2°C	\$60.60	\$71.56	\$83.87	\$88.86
1.5°C	\$60.60	\$71.56	\$77.82	\$79.40
Natural gas historical (2010 USD / MMBTU)	and scena	ırio project	ed U.S. sp	ot price
	2010	2020	2030	2040
4°C (baseline)	\$6.56	\$7.16	\$7.77	\$8.39

-

for the oil & gas sector:

those for the utilities sector or have different implications risk analysis for the oil & gas sector are different than consider when evaluating the results of a portfolio-level However, the scenario assumptions that are important to LINKS 1.5°C and 2°C scenarios, which we described earlier. the assumptions and outputs of the REMIND model's CD-Citi's oil & gas transition scenario analysis also relied on

Source: Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research

1.5°C 2°C

\$6.56 \$6.56

\$7.16 \$7.16

\$7.32 \$7.11

\$7.39 \$7.22

-4°C -2°C -1.5°C

the assumptions under the REMIND model's scenarios. We note only that the projected futures in these scenarios are of energy demand and prices may evolve a limited set of the countless possibilities of how the future Citi did not independently analyze the potential viability of

Exajoules/Year

U.S.

**Oil Demand** 

robust and does not fall sharply until after 2030. Even in a 1.5°C scenario, oil demand remains relatively 2030 and first starts to fall between 2030 and 2040. scenario, U.S. oil demand increases between 2020 and in the short-term. Consequently, under the 2°C grows rapidly and oil is assumed to remain an from coal. In addition, demand for transportation substitute fuels as the world quickly transitions away In the scenarios, oil & gas serve as short-term

important transport fuel that is not easily substituted

# Findings

Source: Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research

scenario-implied probability of default from transition risk, Citi estimates that the impacts to our North American transition to minimize disruptions to the economy for our analysis, generally assume an orderly low-carbon Climate transition scenarios, such as the ones we used results are driven by the model scenario assumptions. E&P portfolio would be limited in 2030 and 2040. These UNEP FI pilot methodology to calculate the change in In applying the REMIND CD-LINKS 2°C scenario and the





# Utilities Transition Scenario Analysis

Citi's pilot transition risk analysis for the utilities sector included 39 companies in the U.S. covered by the U.S. Power Sector team. These companies included both regulated utilities and independent power producers, representing approximately \$10 billion in exposure as of December 2017 and 30% of our global exposure to the power sector.

Consistent with the approach recommended in the UNEP FI pilot, we divided our U.S. utilities portfolio into four segments based on whether they are regulated or not and the carbon intensity of their generation assets:

- Regulated Heavy Carbon: primarily regulated utilities with significant generation assets for whom fossil fuel generation represents greater than half of their generation portfolio
- Regulated Low Carbon: primarily transmission & distribution companies with low fossil fuel generation
- Unregulated Heavy Carbon: primarily independent power generation companies with significant fossil fuel generation, including significant coal-fired generation or peak gas-fired assets
- Unregulated Low Carbon: primarily independent power generation companies with significant renewable energy or efficient gas-fired assets

Approximately 75% of Citi's exposure in the U.S. utilities portfolio is to regulated utilities, and approximately 60% of Citi's exposure in this portfolio is to heavy carbon companies.

As explained in more detail below, the scenario analysis suggests greater impacts on the utility sector than on the oil & gas sector. The REMIND model's CD-LINKS scenarios use a global carbon price, which is assumed to be paid by the companies that use fossil fuels and emit greenhouse gases. Accordingly, under the scenarios, utilities are directly impacted by the price of carbon, whereas oil & gas producers are indirectly impacted through the reduction in fossil fuel demand caused by carbon prices. Utilities would face the choice of making capital expenditures to generate less carbon or absorb losses from carbon pricing, which increases over time. These

ω

impacts are likely to have the most significant negative effect on utilities in the Unregulated Heavy Carbon segment, with higher carbon intensity and less ability to pass along the new costs to customers.

# Key Scenario Assumptions

Citi's scenario analyses relied on the assumptions and outputs of the REMIND model's CD-LINKS 1.5°C and 2°C scenarios. There are a few assumptions in the REMIND CD-LINKS 1.5°C and 2°C scenarios that were key drivers of results in our portfolio-level risk analysis for the utilities sector:

- . The scenarios assume a global carbon price will be implemented to reduce carbon emissions. In the 2°C scenario, there is a global carbon price per ton of carbon dioxide of \$68 (2010 USD) in 2030 that increases to \$111 in 2040. In the 1.5°C scenario, the global carbon price is even higher, at \$117 in 2030 and \$190 in 2040. This assumption adds to the operating costs of utilities, particularly in the Heavy Carbon segments. Utilities can reduce some of the costs from a carbon price by investing in capital expenditures for renewable generation and other lowcarbon technologies.
- 2. The scenarios assume that carbon capture and storage (CCS) technologies will become commercially viable, available and in use after 2030 to mitigate fossil fuel emissions. For utilities that continue to be reliant on fossil fuel generation, are able to withstand the net income erosion until such technologies become available and have the financial strength or regulatory support to afford the acquisition of such technologies, this assumption helps to lower direct emissions costs due to a carbon price. Citi recognizes that this assumption requires rapid acceleration in CCS technology development, beyond what is feasible today.
- The scenarios assume that electricity prices will increase due to growing adoption of electric vehicles and greater electrification of the transport sector, which drive up demand for electricity. This assumption benefits utilities in both the Regulated and Unregulated segments by increasing revenues.

FINANCE FOR A CLIMATE-RESILIENT FUTURE: CITI'S TCFD REPORT | 13



# Socio-economics

٠

- Population peaks at 9.5 billion people in 2070
- ٠ GDP continues to grow, with average global income increasing by a factor of 6 by 2100
- Developing countries achieve significant economic growth, reaching current OECD average income levels in the second half of the century

# Energy

- ٠ Use of fossil fuels continues throughout the century, although at declining rates, with the exception of coal, which rapidly declines to under 2% of the total energy mix by 2030
- Oil demand remains steady through 2030 due to growing demand for liquid fuels in the transport sector, whose growth does not peak until 2035 in the 2°C scenario and 2030 in the 1.5°C scenario
- the cost of carbon and reducing emissions Reverse emissions technologies and carbon sequestration through land use are critical in mitigating
- storage investments after 2030 through transmission, distribution and Use of renewable energy increases, accelerating rapidly
- Biofuels see demand increases, particularly in the second half of the century

# Policy

۰

- A global carbon price implemented after 2020 is the sole policy instrument for transition risk in the energy end-use sectors
- The given carbon price is assumed to be the same across all regions, though regions have differing economic responses to prices

# **Global Carbon Price**



Source: Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research



90% 80% 70% 50% 20% 10%

0

1009

U.S. Primary Energy Mix

Source: Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research

2°C 2040

1.5°C 2040

Bior

Coal ass

Natural gas Nuclear Renewab

12

| FINANCE FOR A CLIMATE-RESILIENT FUTURE: CITI'S TCFD REPORT









Overview         Scenario reflecting announced government climate policies         Decentionic           Target         N/A         S000 CO2, emissions (Mt)         36,290         S000 chance warming to a rise           Primary energy demand         19% of 18,000 Mtoe         31% of 19         31% of 19           Power demand         19% of 39,000 TWh         S10% of 39         31% of 19           Transport / Inasport demand         10% EVK reaching total 150M; some rise in biofuels         31% of 19           Technology change (Generation & storage)         No major step-changes         Annost 50% E renewables         Significant co renewables           Regulatory change         No major step-changes         Generation & and government targets initiatives; fue initiatives; fue initiatives; fue energy intensity initiatives; fue energy intensity initiatives; fue energy intensity initiatives; fue energy intensity initiatives; fue energy intensity initiatives; fue energy intensity         Fossil fuel subsidies phased out energy intensity initiatives; fue energy intensity initiatives; fue energy intensity		Scenario Characteristic	IEA New Policies (NP)		2°C)
Iarget     N/A     Sock chance of renewables       2040 CO2 emissions (Mt)     36,290     18       Pinnary energy demand     19% of 18,000 Mtoe     31% of 19       Power demand     37% of 39,000 TWh     38% of 39       Transport /     10% EVs reaching total     31% of 19       Electric Vehicles (EVs)     10% EVs reaching total     Amost S0% E       Technology change     10% EVs reaching total     Amost S0% ef 20% of		Overview	Scenario reflecting announced government climate policies	De-carbonisation	r scenario
2040 CO <sub>2</sub> emissions (Mt)     36,290     18       Primary energy demand     19% of 18,000 Mioe     31% of 13       Power demand     37% of 39,000 TWh     58% of 3       Transport demand     7% of 3,400 Mioe     31% of 13       Technology change (Generation & storage)     10% EVs reaching total 150 Ms; some rise in biofuels to 4.2 mboed     Amost 50% E 710 M; bigg to 4.2 mboed       Technology change (Generation & storage)     No major step-changes to 4.2 mboed     Significant or renewable to broader dep broader dep insiders, fuel and government targets     Significant or renewable to broader dep pricing. Compiled by Wood Mackenzie.		Target	N/A	50% chance of lin warming to a 2°C rise in 2	niting global temperature 100
Primary energy demand     19% of 18,000 Mtoe     31% of 19       Power demand     37% of 39,000 TWh     58% of 39       Transport demand     7% of 3,400 Mtoe     20% of 39       Tansport demand     7% of 3,400 Mtoe     20% of 39       Tansport demand     7% of 3,400 Mtoe     20% of 39       Telectric Vehicles (EVs)     10% EVs reaching total     Almost 50% E       Technology change     No major step-changes     Almost 50% E       renewables     700%; some rise in biofuels     710%; bigg       to 4.2 mboed     10% EVs reaching total     710%; bigg       Technology change     No major step-changes     Significant conservable to the storages       renewables     Storage     As per announced global and government targets     Significant conservable to the product demand government targets       Figure & Stummary assumptions and key characteristics of each of the published serve     Fossil fuel subsidies phased out energy intensities of each of the published serve		2040 CO <sub>2</sub> emissions (Mt)	36,290	18,42	7
Power demand     37% of 39,000 TWh     S8% of 39       Transport / Electric Vehicles (EVs)     10% EVs reaching total 150M; some rise in biofuels to 4.2 mboed     Almost 50% E 710M; bigg to 4.2 mboed       Technology change (Generation & storage)     No major step-changes to 4.2 mboed     Significant of renewable it broader dep and government targets pricing, CC major capita energy intensity and government targets     Significant of renewable it broader dep broader dep initiatives, fuel- pricing, CC       Figure & Summary assumptions and key characteristics of each of the published second     Fossil fuel subsidies phased out energy	wables	Primary energy demand	19% of 18,000 Mtoe	31% of 15,0	000 Mtoe
2040 transport demand     7% of 3,400 Mice     20% of 2       Transport / Electric Vehicles (EVs)     10% EVs reaching total 150M; some rise in biofuels     Almost 50% E       Technology change (Generation & storage)     No major step-changes     Significant co renewable to broader dep and government targets     Significant co renewable to broader dep broader dep broader dep initiatives, fuel pricing, CC major capita       Figure & Summary assumptions and key characteristics of each of the published s compiled by Wood Mackenzie.     Fossil fuel subsidies phased out energy	nare of renew	Power demand	37% of 39,000 TWh	58% of 34	,000 TWh
Tansport / Electric Vehicles (Evs)       10% EVs reaching total 150M; some rise in biokles       Almost 50% E         Technology change (Generation & storage)       No major step-changes       Significant co science value to broader dep         Regulatory change       As per announced global and government targets       Greater polic initiatives, fuel pricing, CC me         Others       Fossil fuel subsidies phased out emergination and key characteristics of each of the published s compiled by Wood Mackenzie.	2040 sł	Transport demand	7% of 3,400 Mtoe	20% of 2,	700 Mtoe
Technology change (Generation & storage)No major step-changesSignificant co renewable to broader depRegulatory changeAs per announced global and government targetsGreater polic energy intensity initiatives, fuel pricing, CC meOthersFossil fuel subsidies phased out energyFossil fuel subsidies phased out energyFigure & Summary assumptions and key characteristics of each of the published s compiled by Wood Mackenzie.Fossil fuel subsidies phased out energy		Transport / Electric Vehicles (EVs)	10% EVs reaching total 150M; some rise in biofuels to 4.2 mboed	Almost 50% EV 710M; bigger to 9 m	
Regulatory change       As per announced global and government targets       Greater polici energy intensity pricing, CC me         Others       Fossil fuel subsidies phased out major capita energy       Fossil fuel subsidies phased out energy         Figure 8: Summary assumptions and key characteristics of each of the published s Compiled by Wood Mackenzie.       Fossil fuel subsidies phased out energy		Technology change (Generation & storage)	No major step-changes		's reaching total rise in biofuels
Others     Fossil fuel subsidies phased out energy     Fossil fuel subsidies phased out energy       Figure & Summary assumptions and key characteristics of each of the published s compiled by Wood Mackenzie.     Figure 2 - Compiled by Wood Mackenzie.		Regulatory change	As per announced global and government targets	Significant cos renewable teo broader depl	's reaching total rise in biofuels nboed treductions in chnologies and cyment of CCS
Figure & Summary assumptions and key characteristics of each of the published s Compiled by Wood Mackenzie.		Others		Significant co renewable te broader depl Greater policy energy intensity initiatives, fuel-s pricing, CC3 mea	s reaching total rrise in biofuels mboed streductions in chnologies and oyment of CCS oyment of CCS initiatives (e.g. targets, efficiency witching, carbon s, system-wide sures)
	E O		Fossil fuel subsidies phased out	Significant cc renewable te broader dep Greater polic energy intensity initiatives, fuel- pricing, CC fossil fuel subs major capita ener	vs reaching total r rise in biofuels mboed st reductions in chnologies and loyment of CCS vinitiatives (e.g. targets, efficiency xwitching, carbon S, system-wide asures) y tech

stagizal oirango2 🗢

EFRAG European Financial Reporting Advisory Group 71



of longer-term implications for Oil Search (Wood Mackenzie, 2017).

34



PREPARATION

1

- The interdependency of these projects both technically and Oil Search's PNG oil assets. analysis for PNG LNG includes The scenario NPV impact financially - makes separation
- LNG Expansion Project (drawing recent understanding of the The scenario NPV impact analysis foundation field gas) on Elk-Antelope, P'nyang and commercial structure for the was undertaken using the most

÷

is based on a conservative Nanushuk scenario NPV analysis acquisition case development

۰.

- barrels, compared to the on a resource of 500 million The acquisition case is basec
- Our entry price using a 500existing JV partners' estimate of at least 1.2 billion barrels. over US\$3 per barrel; this will million-barrel resource is just

÷

- The NPV analysis has not billion upside is proven. US\$1.30 per barrel if the 1.2
- optimise the design, and realise synergies with existing infrastructure to improve efficiencies, considered potential cost savings and opportunities
- asset by mid-2019 to double our interest in the The NPV analysis does not include the value of our option

- in December 2017. tax rate, which became law the lower USA corporate The NPV analysis includes
- price environment. consistent with a low oil additional cost deflation scenario analyses include The IEA450 and Greenpeace
- ÷ Wood Mackenzie forecasts are provided by AER oil and gas price scenario IEA NP, IEA 450 and Greenpeace
- through their Oil Price Model and subsequently through their the pricing scenarios firstly Wood Mackenzie has modellec Global Gas Model.
- Wood Mackenzie does not pricing levels. spot LNG and US Henry Hub pricing levels based on oil Oil Search has inferred contract levels required to underpin FIDs provide contract LNG pricing
- geopolitical impacts derived timing, cost structures or potential changes to project Analysis does not account for from the climate scenarios


### to low-emissions steel Policy scenarios: driving the transition

the steel industry 'technology ready' to meet the objectives of the Paris Agreement. A concerted public and private investment effort is essential to accelerate the pace of development and roll out of commercial low-emissions technologies and advance the timeline to make

continents in the form of sheets and bars for steel products, equipment, buildings and infrastructure. It is also embedded in the imported goods consumers buy, such as cars, appliances, etc Steel is a global material traded directly across countries and

What is more, it may in fact disadvantage their steel industry as production will migrate to other countries and regions that do not support decarbonisation, thereby exacerbating Countries and regions that introduce a cost of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, but with neither supportive energy policies nor effective mechanisms to maintain the competitiveness of low-emissions the carbon challenge globally (Stagnate scenario). versus higher-emissions steel, will fail to decarbonise their steel

mechanisms to offset the structurally higher operating costs of deploying these technologies, and affordable access to the clean energy they need, the steel industry will be unable to make the necessary shift needed to meet the goals of the Even in jurisdictions actively providing financial support to develop and roll out low-emissions technologies, the steel industry will need further support. Without effective Paris Agreement (Wait scenario).

higher costs of low-emissions steel producers, will succeed in transitioning to low-emissions steelmaking (Accelerate objectives of the Paris Agreement. the steel industry become a successful partner in meeting the globally can this acceleration take place on a global scale and carbon challenge. But only if such mechanisms are applied industry that contributes to their economies and to the scenarios). They will reap the benefits of a positive steel and establishing a fair mechanism to offset the structurally Countries and regions developing supportive energy policies

### STAGNATE

- Lack of access to sufficient and affordable clean energy
  No mechanism to address high risk that steel production is made structurally uncompetitive across countries/regions
  Slow development of low-emissions steelmaking technologies
- No meaningful reduction in global steel CO<sub>2</sub> emissions as production shifts to less carbon-regulated jurisdictions Insignificant global progress to goals of Paris Agreement

### WAIT

- Technology makes encouraging progress and is potentially ready for significant deployment within 10-20 years
  But only fragmented access to affordable clean energy
  No mechanism to address high risk of steel production being
- structurally uncompetitive in affected countries/regions
- Marginal steel  $CO_2$  reductions globally as production shifts to less carbon-regulated jurisdictions

Limited progress towards goals of Paris Agreement

### ACCELERATE regionally

- Access to sufficient and affordable clean energy in supportive Technology makes encouraging progress and is potentially ready for significant deployment within 10-20 years
- Regions with more active climate legislation ensure countries/regions
- mechanisms are in place to enable steel production to remain competitive, e.g. green border adjustment Significant reductions in steel CO<sub>2</sub> in supportive countries/regions Partial global progress to goals of Paris Agreement

### ACCELERATE globally

•

- Technology makes encouraging progress and is potentially ready for significant deployment within 10-20 years Access to sufficient and affordable clean energy globally
- .
- Low-carbon legislation in place in the majority of countries
- Significant global reductions in steel CO
   Global industry alignment of the ensure steel production remains competitive globally ideally with a common global framework or mechanism to
- Global industry alignment with goals of Paris Agreement



Investment in low-emissions steelmaking technologies (development and roll out)	Clean energy infrastructure and allocation by sector	Structurally higher operating costs of low-emissions steelmaking	L Table 2 Policy challenge	Pace of deployment of low-emissions technologies	HIGH	Box 6: policy sce Figure 3	
Limited public support for R&D to bring technologies to commercialisation maturity	No concerted policy in any market to incentivise and allocate clean energy to steel sector sector	Ineffective mechanism in place to offset structurally higher operating costs of low-emissions steelmakers versus higher-emissions steelmakers	OW	STAGNATE	-	narios and their effectiver	
Accelerated public support for R&D to bring technologies to commercialisation maturity; some investment support for roll out of technologies	No concerted policy in any market to incentivise and allocate clean energy to steel sector	Ineffective mechanism in place to offset structurally higher operating costs of low-emissions steelmakers versus higher-emissions steelmakers	Level of pol	WAIT		ness in driving de-carboni	
Accelerated public support for R&D to bring technologies to commercialisation maturity; high levels of investment support for roll out of technologies	Support for clean energy to steelmaking industry from clean power, circular carbon and carbon capture and storage infrastructure provided in only some countries and regions	Mechanisms to maintain competitive market by offsetting structurally higher operating costs of low-emissions steelmakers versus higher-emissions steelmakers and imports set in some countries and regions, e.g. green border adjustment	icy RESPONSE	ACCELERATE Regionally		sation of the steel industr	
Accelerated public support for R&D to bring technologies to commercialisation maturity; high levels of investment support for roll out of technologies	Support for clean energy to steelmaking industry from clean power, circular carbon and carbon capture and storage infrastructure provided globally	Common global framework is implemented to maintain competitive market to offset structurally higher operating costs of low-emissions steelmakers versus higher-emissions steelmakers	Ξ		Globally	ACCELERATE	





### Appendix 3: Scenarios, climate model and climate model data

# The UN Climate Panel (IPCC) has developed four

scenarios for future greenhouse gas concentrations ATP bases its climate analysis on the four scientifically recognised and developed scenarios for future greenhouse gas concentrations which were used by the UN Climate Panel in its recent Assessment Report (AR5).

Around every seven years, the Climate Panel publishes a report summarising major international research into climate change and its implications. The Climate Panel also describes the four possible Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP), which set out four different scenarios for greenhouse gas concentrations. The four selected scenarios represent the breadth of academic research into greenhouse gas concentrations and range from virtually no climate effort to highly ambitious global climate action. Three of these scenarios (RCP2.6, RCP4.5 and RCP6.0) describe a future with efforts to combat climate change with different levels of ambition, while the fourth scenario (RCP8.5) represents a future where no special measures are taken to further curb greenhouse gas emissions.

Many factors have to be taken into account in order to understand climate change. Greenhouse gas emissions are the main cause of climate change, which has many direct and indirect components. These include contributory factors such as energy consumption, population growth, land use, regional economic development, technological advances, lifestyle and many more. The four scenarios are based on socio-economic models and integrated assessment models, and have very different assumptions about economic growth, population growth etc.

It is important to emphasise that the four scenarios are not predictions, and that there are many different socio-economic pathways for a specific level of greenhouse gas concentrations. The RCP scenarios each represent one possible pathway for a specific concentration level. The four RCP scenarios represent the development in greenhouse gas concentrations among the scenarios that were described in research literature at the time of selection. This means that, unlike previous IPCC reports, they are not representative of various socio-economic developments. The IPCC scenarios have the advantage that they are

> based on research and that the socio-economic assumptions are logically consistent, which means that a scenario does not assume a major food crisis and notable population growth at the same time.

The development of internationally recognised standard scenarios ensures that researchers, decision-makers, companies and investors are able to use comparable data for climate modelling, among other things.

Climate literature uses the term 'radiative forcing' and the scenarios have indeed been named after their radiative forcing. In simple terms, this is a measure of the total impact of the greenhouse effect in the scenario. Technically, radiative forcing describes how the balance between incoming solar energy and outgoing energy from Earth is altered. If radiative forcing is positive, it will lead to surplus energy on Earth and cause warming. In the RPC scenarios, the value is calculated as the change in Watts per square metre (W/ m2) from 1750 to 2100.

### Development in greenhouse gas concentrations in the four scenarios

The development in greenhouse gas concentrations in the four scenarios is shown below The greenhouse gas concentration is calculated as  $CO_2$  equivalents ( $CO_2e$ ). These concentration levels are some of the most significant inputs in a climate model calculation to estimate future changes in temperature, sea levels etc.







Assumptions in the four scenarios

### **1CP2.6**

Assessment Agency. a group of scientists from the Netherlands' Environmental resulting in negative emissions. RCP2.6 was developed by exceed carbon emissions in the last 20 years of the scenario, store carbon. In fact, it is assumed that carbon capture will house gas emissions. Therefore, new solutions are needed all countries participate and a very rapid reduction in greennew climate regulations. Achieving RCP 2.6 requires that tries. The scenario also assumes the adoption of many demand for energy in developing countries, but also a small global income development in the median range, a growing that the global population will grow to 9 billion by 2100, a greenhouse gas concentrations and the smallest change nological solution must be developed that can capture and nuclear power and more biofuel. At the same time, a techto ensure energy efficiency, more renewable energy, increase in the demand for energy in industrialised counin the greenhouse effect. In the scenario, scientists assume four IPCC scenarios with the most dramatic reduction in The RCP2.6 scenario is the most optimistic scenario of the more

### RCP4.5

the price). Global GDP will grow six-fold, global energy 2100 (without countries withdrawing or competing to lower price of greenhouse gas emissions will increase towards ciently in all countries, so arbitrage is not possible. the carbon tax will be implemented simultaneously and effiglobal carbon tax). In the scenario, scientists assume that a global GHG emission price (popularly referred to as a ative forcing. Such initiatives include the introduction of stabilisation of greenhouse gas concentrations and radirelatively large number of climate initiatives, resulting in the ured in terms of GDP - will grow about six-fold. Concurgrow to 8.7 billion by 2100. lise. The scenario assumes that the global population will consumption will have tripled and an increasing share of ment, it is assumed that decision-makers will introduce a rently with this population growth and economic develop-Radiative forcing will increase towards 2080 and then stabi-IPCC scenario RCP4.5 is a so-called stabilisation scenario The global economy - meas The

> energy consumption will be met by nuclear energy. The scenario also assumes an increase in consumption of renewable energy such as hydro, solar and wind energy. In order to stabilise radiation forcing, RCP4.5 also expects to see a rapid development in CSS technology. RCP4.5 was developed by a group of scientists from the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory's Joint Global Change Research Institute (JGCRI).

### RCP6.0

RCP6.0 is a comparatively carbon-intensive scenario with fewer climate policy interventions. In this scenario, a steep drop in greenhouse gas emissions will not be seen until after 2060, while climate policy interventions will be picking up speed from around 2060. Among other things, it is assumed that a global carbon price will rise sharply from 2060 towards 2080. In the scenario, the world will remain dependent on fossil energy. This scenario assumes relatively high population growth, equivalent to 9 billion by 2100, but the lowest level of economic prosperity in 2100 of the four scenarios. The scenario was developed by a group of scientists from the National Institute for Environmental Studies (NIES) in Japan.

### RCP8.5

ment. This scenario was developed by a group of Austriar about the development in land use (e.g. in forestry, agri-culture or cities) also has an impact on climate developenable more land to be used for agriculture. Assumptions for food and resources, land use is expected to change to lation of 11.2 billion by 2100. Due to an increased demand come closest to the UN's latest 2017 forecast of a popu-The scenario's assumptions about population growth thus RCP8.5 assumes a global population of 12 billion by 2100. energy and nuclear energy consumption will increase, too for energy will be met by coal in particular, but renewable consumption will triple towards 2100. The growing demand among other things, it is assumed that the total energy climate research and policy. Due to a growing population, thus a 'business as usual' scenario (BAU scenario) within that no new climate policy initiatives will be adopted and is house effect. This scenario is the only scenario to assume RCP8.5 is the scenario with the greatest impact on the green.

79



<b>oice matters</b> arios spanning 2-4°C of transition risks	<b>Scenario ch</b> Use alternative scen to explore range	Transition Risk
Scenario choice matt Use alternative scenari spanning 2-4°C to explore range of physic	Climate impacts independent of scenario because of historical GHG emissions Consider probabilities of physical events	Physical Risk
Mid-century	Next 10-20 years	

or more details, see the next chapters on transition and physical ris





Our analysis indicates that Rio Tinto's business is relatively robust to scenarios mapping the policy and technology pathways necessary to limit global temperature rises:

- Financial impact at a manageable level: Rio Tinto has the financial and institutional capacity to manage the long-term impacts of a scenario limiting a rise in global temperature to below 2°C, while continuing to be profitable;
- Portfolio naturally hedged: diversification of our portfolio across multiple commodities provides a natural hedge against climate change policy; our aluminium and copper assets will be needed in the transition to a low-carbon future and could provide an offset in an environment where our iron ore assets are less attractive from a climate change perspective;
- Many abatement options available to us to reduce direct emissions: the significant number of internal abatement options available, coupled with a more gradual evolution of downstream industries, will give us time to anticipate and adapt to changes in policy.

Rio Tinto considers the impact of climate change over two time horizons given the long-term nature of our business and the potential for unpredictability in regulatory response.

- Short to medium term (0-20 years): while there is limited scope to react immediately to regulatory changes, we do have the ability to mitigate (or potentially take advantage of) shifts in technology and the policy environment. In this timeframe, physical changes are largely pre-determined since they are largely the result of carbon levels already accumulated in the atmosphere over past decades.
- **Long term** (20-50 years): the physical impact of climate change to the world could potentially become more severe, depending on the success or failure of policy. Technology development is highly uncertain.

Ν

Across these time horizons, the Group assesses three climate change scenarios, which consider:

- **The policy environment** for example, the level and coordination of carbon pricing internationally; and
- The rate of technological development for example, the costs of low-carbon electricity generation and batteries.

Our approach recognises that there is an interplay between these two factors: technology that leapfrogs what is available today, for example, could succeed in dramatically reducing climate change and its impacts even in an environment where government mandates do not exist.





### Energy Transitions Commission: hard-toabate sectors

Rio Tinto has joined the Energy Transitions Commission (ETC), a group of leaders from public, private and social sectors with the goal of accelerating change towards low-carbon energy systems. The ETC is tackling the challenge of how we reduce emissions from the "hard-toabate" industrial and transport sectors of the economy, including steel – the customer for our iron ore and the source of most of our scope 3 emissions.

These sectors will account for an increasing percentage of the total global emissions and without action will make it impossible for the world to meet the goals of the Paris Agreement and net zero emissions by 2050 to 2070.

The recent ETC report, Prission possible. Reaching zero carbon emissions from hard to abate sectors by mid-century, concludes that it is technically possible to decarbonise these hand-to-abate sectors at an affordable cost to consumers and to the overall economy, but there are important issues relating to the feasible pace of change and the optimal process of transition, including the pace of innovation and the importance of strong policy actions. As an important part of the value chain, we believe we can contribute and benefit from this cross-business and multi-stakeholder collaboration.



(including

bauxite mining

and alumina

The table gives a high-level summary of the potential risks and opportunities for Rio Tinto's portfolio across different time horizons within the IEA SDS relative to the Limited Action case. Coordinated Action, which lies between Limited Action and the IEA SDS, would have directionally similar, albeit smaller, implications.

The methodology used to consider implications of the IEA SDS on the outlook of our key commodities accounts for impacts of regulations and technologies on demand, the cost structure of supply and the knock-on effect on price.

### Commodity impacts of a 2°C scenario

### Commodity Outlook Short to medium term



Emission-reduction policies likely to increase aluminium prices, benefiting low-cost, low-carbon producers but putting greater pressure on coal-based smelters as well as the refineries supporting them.





### Long term

There is large uncertainty around how the steel production sector will decarbonise in the long run, which could materially affect the value of Rio Tinto's iron ore business. In addition to an escalation of the severity of the medium-term impacts, there is a need to plan for greater frequency and intensity of cyclones on the Pilbara coast.

Structural increase in demand due to faster electric vehicle take-up and investment in power and the grid, requiring significant new supply, partially offset by an increase in scrap collection rates.

Structurally steeper global aluminium cost curve and potential for decarbonising aluminium smelting direct emissions using inert anode technology.

### Portfolio resilience

The factors described above could have a material impact on our business, but on balance we believe that Rio Tinto is likely to be resilient to these issues, given:

- Factors will affect different commodities in different ways and as a diversified miner we will benefit from this. For example, climate change policies placing a carbon price on emissions will result in downside impacts on lower-grade iron ore. However, these same policies will benefit tier one copper and aluminium assets;
- The relative cost position of most of our assets is expected to remain robust within their respective industry cost curves. Our hydro-based aluminium assets in Canada will consolidate their position at the bottom of a steeper aluminium cost curve. The overall cost position of our iron ore and copper businesses will be relatively unchanged, with suppliers of low-grade iron ore expected to face much stronger margin compression;
- Impacts are likely to materialise over the long term and we have a range of options, and the financial and operational capacity to execute these, to (i) mitigate risks;
   (ii) reduce direct emissions through a range of abatement projects and (iii) to offset remaining emissions where commercially justified.

Our approach to climate change 2





### 3. STRATEGY

- Managing climate-related risks (transition and physical);

# 3.1. Climate-related risks identified

### 5.1.1 Risk terminology used

# 3.1.2 Time horizons being considered

Societe Generale considers short- and medium-term for credit horizons that range between 1 and 5 years. Longer term horizon Societe Generale considers extend to 2040 typically, sometimes 2050 when assessing climate-related risks and opportunity. Even if these horizons do not match Societe Generale's immediate decision-making, they may have an influence on Societe Generale's long-term strategy.



Short-t	erm	0
Mediun	ı-term	1
Long-te	m	5 Up to
0		
٥		

		•

operations in the transport, metals & mining, power generation and oil & gas globally.

 Capital investments in technology development: Power generators customers with a high share of fossil fuel generation are expected to experience high capital expenditure requirements to decarbonize their



Additionally, IEA scenarios provide a 2050 timeframe but considering the average transaction profile timeline, a shorter timeframe had to be considered when defining operational targets for the Bank. This timeframe should be short enough to allow the monitoring of the Bank portfolio and long enough to absorb short term evolutions. This timeframe should also allow readapting the Bank's targets to updated or new IEA scenarios to come. Table 5: Complementary information on the climate scenarios used

For its assessment of transition risks, Societe Generale has used in depth output data of the REMIND and MESSAGE models, respectively developed by the Potsdam Institut für Klimafolgenforschung (PIK) and Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA). These are integrated assessment model (IAMs) for medium- to long-term energy system planning, energy policy analysis, and scenario development. Societe Generale also uses the IEA detailed output data for analyses. Societe Generale also relies on ad-hoc studies (with both qualitative and quantitative projections) for specific pieces of analysis.

Strategic exercise	Scenario	Geographical coverage	Horizon
Coal exposure target	Consistent with IEA 2DS and IEA 450 scenarios	excludes China's contribution	timeframe limited to 2020
Transition risks	REMIND SSP2 (2°C)	global coverage	timeframe up to 2050



### opportunities

Table 1 summarises the most significant climate-related risks, mitigation options and opportunities relevant to ou business today, both in a future that exceeds, and in a future that exceeds, and in a future that exceeds of warming the two decreases of two decrea

here internal or external progress has been made since styear's assessment, we have reflected these changes the table. Our three scenarios have been used to lentify likely risks and opportunities relevant to that senario. Further information on our scenarios is provided

Table 1 Climate-related risks and opportunitie

Торіс	Time horizon <sup>(k)</sup>	relevant scenario	Risks	Mitigation and opportunities
Policy	Short, medium and long term Medium and	BCC BCC	Carbon pricing policies including carbon taxes, cap and trade systems and any other regulatory carbon pricing mechanisms	We include a short-run regional and long-run global carbon price in our capital allocation ar investment evaluations. This contributes to effective and well-informed decisions to mana risks beyond current pricing policies.
	Medium and long term	RCC	carbon pricing mechanisms may increase costs for companies with liable	risks beyond current pricing policies. Further detail is provided on page 19.
			carbon emissions.	In addition, our voluntary carbon emission reduction targets drive internal processes to identify, evaluate and implement a range of operational emissions reduction projects on an ongoing basis.
	Short, medium and long term	ĢĊ	As our stakeholders, including customers and suppliers, are likely to be subject to similar changes	Our scenario analysis incorporates potential policy-based impacts on our supply chain to t resilience of our portfolio to these risks. Insigl gained from this process are used as an input
	Medium and long term	RCC	in poincy, we may face changing commercial requirements to meet regulatory changes in jurisdictions outside of our own operating environments.	We have also calculated and disclosed our an We have also calculated and disclosed our an Scope 3 emissions to ensure that we are awa of the scale and sources of our supply chain emissions. Further detail is provided on page
	Short, medium and long term	GC	Water and biodiversity regulation may become more stringent as pollution concerns or scarcity	Through our focus on innovation and technolo we are working to reduce our land requiremen biodiversity impacts, waste, carbon and wate usage over time. As our internal voluntary
	Medium and long term	RCC	pressures increase.	performance standards drive resource efficie operations, we aim to be ahead of policy chang and avoid the risk that more stringent future policies could pose.
Legal	Medium and long term	GC and RCC	Increased litigation against governments and companies, either seeking compensation for damages caused to them because of climate change impacts or to force greater action on climate change. <sup>(8)</sup>	We consider that our proactive approach to climate-related risk assessment, risk management and disclosure, along with our diversified portfolio, assist in minimising our relative exposure to climate change-related litigation. However, we monitor legal developments in this space and seek advice on major developments when required.

4

In this context, we consider a short-term, medium term and long term as the next 3-5 years, 6-10 years and 11-50 years respectively.

83



Time horizon considered for each scenario In conjunction with the UNEP FI investor pilot project, it was agreed to use a single 15-year time horizon for the Climate VaR measure to analyse the impact of the different scenarios on our business but with the capability to consider transition effects over shorter time horizons depending on the business decision being considered. Consideration was given as to whether a longer time horizon was needed to capture the worst physical impacts of climate change, as these are not likely to manifest themselves until the second half of the century (See Figure 15).

To address this point in a decision-useful way and ensure consistency with the 15-year time horizon for transition risk, it was agreed to look at a higher, 95th percentile of physical risks as well as the expected outcome in the BAU scenario over the 15-year horizon. Figure 16 shows large dispersion around the mean from the impact of climate change on Coastal flooding over the next 15 years.







# Looking Forward

warming below 2°C with a goal to limiting it to 1.5°C. Our experience with the UNEP FI pilot gave us important *Warming of 1.5°C*, and recognizes the urgent need to keep highlighted by the IPCC's recent Special Report, *Globa* into 2019 and beyond. insights that will help to inform our strategy going forward Citi acknowledges the risks

Given this imperative, Citi understands that even though our pilot scenario analysis exercise did not indicate that climate change will pose material financial risks to our business in 2030 and 2040, this was not an exhaustive or conclusive analysis. Regardless, we must take action today to do our part to avoid the worst potential impacts of climate change. To enable this transition, we must work closely with our clients in climate-exposed sectors to help them transition and become more resilient through enhanced climate adaptation and mitigation measures.

This pilot analysis highlighted several difficult challenges associated with conducting climate scenario analysis and understanding climate-related risks that we will need to address:

- Long-term climate projections tend to be inaccurate. This is made even more challenging by the fact that climate risks and impacts are expected to accelerate and get worse over time. Non-linearity is hard to capture and forecast with the currently-available tools for climate risk assessment.
- There are significant data gaps, including data on the linkage between climate risk and credit quality and asset-level data on asset utilization and climate mitigation factors at a facility.
- Climate impacts can be very local and affect different geographies and sectors differently. This will require more granular data at the local and asset level.

Climate-related losses may be due to indirect,

second-order impacts, such as impacts on critical infrastructure or the supply chain, not just direct impacts. This is hard to measure and estimate at this time and will require additional data.

It will take time and collaboration with stakeholders for us to find solutions to these challenges, but we are committed to building upon the pilot project and further implementing the TCFD recommendations. Some potential next steps we are exploring include:

- Conducting climate scenario analysis on other sectors and/or geographies
- Exploring and potentially testing other methodologies, models, tools and scenarios that have been developed by third parties
- Continuing to collaborate with UNEP FI and the pilot group to refine the transition risk and physical risk methodologies that we have developed
- Engaging with clients and other stakeholders to further our collective understanding of climate risks and opportunities, particularly in the supply chain
- Engaging with clients to support investments in climate change solutions for climate adaptation and/ or mitigation
- Working with stakeholders to improve data availability and fill data gaps
- Working with climate modelers to adapt climate scenarios for financial analysis

FINANCE FOR A CLIMATE-RESILIENT FUTURE: CITI'S TCFD REPORT | 29



In FY17, we completed a detailed assessment of our portfolio resilience to transition risks that may arise from climate change. Transition risks are defined as nonphysical risks arising from the structural shift toward a low-carbon energy system, most significantly policy, technology, legal and market change. This analysis used the Global Cooperation scenario to compare commodity performance against our base case (Patchy Progress scenario).

In FY18, we commenced the assessment of our operations' resilience to the physical impacts of climate change. We chose to use the extreme Climate Change scenario as this presents the most chronic and acute physical impact scenario. Due to the in-depth work required, and in the interests of transparency and information sharing, we chose to undertake and disclose the results of our Australian operations' assessment first. In FY19, we will extend this assessment to our Southern African and Colombian operations, as well as our greenfield or acquired sites.

# Our portfolio resilience to transition risks

Our portfolio composition will depend on future prices and the opportunities that emerge over time. This scenario analysis and modelling provides us, and This scenario analysis and modelling provides us, and commodity in our current portfolio under the Global

### SCENARIOS USED:

ur methodology is built around the existing valuation iodels and scenario-based analysis used in our strategic anning process. This considers major variables such is the outlook for commodities, the development of chnology, the needs of societies, consumer behaviour id the ability of the environment to continue providing te natural resources and ecosystem services that we and

s a first step in evaluating comparative portfolio esilience, we applied the main supply and demand drivers o our existing global commodity models to determine whether the commodity would be advantaged or lisadvantaged by the rapid transition involved, relative o the base case. This was a qualitative step to frame the subsequent company-specific assessment. We then inder took a quantitative analysis to assess the scale of his directional impact on South 32's specific products and our products compared to competitors (e.g. based on themical composition and supply location) and our position in the cost curve for each of our unique value chains.

ne Global Cooperation scenario drivers, we found that comparisons of net present value or earnings forecasts id not provide us with meaningful insights on broader ortfolio resilience. This was largely due to the variability f other underlying factors (particularly commodity price precasts) overshadowing the impacts of the climatecenario related inputs. We instead took the decision to se a fit-for-purpose resilience metric (Figure 4), which ocused on the demand for each commodity from each peration in our portfolio. Resilience was determined by quantitative assessment of whether the supply and emand balance increased or decreased (ten per cent ither way) or materially increased or decreased to per cent either way), relative to our base case precasts out to 2040.

This section refers to South23's resilience under the Global Cooperation scenario. As such, the descriptions of resilience here are not South32 torecasts, but describe what we have assessed could happen if the vorid's development progressed in line with the Global Cooperation scenario.













Our strategic response to climate-related risks Our strategy and Climate roadmap forms the basis for how we respond to climate-related risks and opportunities. As part of this we have embedded climate considerations into our incentives, reporting and decision-making, and have targets in place to measure progress and incentivise performance across the entire company – starting at the top, CO<sub>2</sub> intensity (upstream) is a key performance indicator and influences executive pay.

Investment principles – Our investment principles take climate into account. We require all potential projects to be assessed for carbon intensity and emission reduction opportunities, at every decision phase – from exploration and business development to project development and operations. We apply an internal carbon price of at least USD 55 (real 2018) per tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> in investment analysis. In countries where the actual or predicted carbon price is higher than USD 55, we apply the actual or expected cost, such as in Norway where both a CO<sub>2</sub> tax and the EU Emission Trading System (EU ETS) apply.

Energy scenarios – Our energy scenarios inform the economic planning assumptions used in our investment decisions and the formulation of our strategy Our Energy Perspectives 2018 report illustrates that there is significant uncertainty around the future energy mix and the exact pace and scale of the energy transition. In that report we also assess sensitivities to our Renewal scenario related to potential disruptive technologies, CCS and the energy transition related to potential disruptive technologies.

Portfolio stress test – Equinor annually conducts a price sensitivity analysis for our project and asset portfolio against the assumptions regarding commodity and carbon prices in the range of energy scenarios of the International Energy Agency (IEA), as presented in their World Energy Outlook report. This analysis is used to assess energy transition-related risks The practice is in accordance with a shareholder resolution passed in 2015, suggesting that stress testing should be done against third-party scenarios to allow for comparability.

The "project and asset portfolio" entails equity production, excluding exploration activities<sup>1</sup>. However, our investment decision criteria, including the internal carbon price and discount rates, apply also to exploration projects.

In 2018 we tested our portfolio against the IEA's Current Policies. New Policies and Sustainable Development scenarios. The scenarios and assumptions are presented in the World Energy Outlook 2018 report (IEA). Equinor has not tested our portfolio against a 1.5°C scenario, as the IEA has so far not published such a scenario with corresponding oil, gas and carbon price assumptions. The four illustrative model pathways presented in the International Panel on Climate Change's special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C' indicate that oil and gas demand would have to be significantly lower than in a 2°C scenario, and as such the potential downside for Equinor in a sensitivity analysis could be expected to be more significant. However, our sensitivity analysis does not take into account the fact that our portfolio would change to be more robust as the different scenarios unfold and materialise.

 Exploration activities are not included due to significant uncertainty regarding discoveries and development solutions. This is a change from previous years' analysis, which have included exploration activities.
 IPCC (2018) Special Report Global Warming of 1.5°C.

**Vet present value of portfolio** 



40% sensitivity analysis in 2018 demanstrated that our particilo insect to be robust in the various (EA scenarios (Ward anne, Outlook 2018). The dhart Illustrates changes in the research values (2019) of Equinar's asset and project particular replacing our own assumptions responding oil gas and an prices with those of the EA scenarios.

bex per maturity



Concernance of the second secon

### Oil and gas production in 2025



yor part of our forecasted production in 2025 is within entronal original gas, and shale gas, which have a relative arbon intensity compared to heavier oil segments. These oution seaments represent around 90% of our forecaste union seaments represent around 90% of our forecaste







# **RISK AND OPPORTUNITIES MANAGEMENT**

One of the key recommendations of the TCFD, in order to assess the resilience of the strategies of organization, is the use of long-term climate scenarios, including the 2°C scenario. EDP used 4 IPCC Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) scenarios: 8.5 (busines-as-usual), 6.0, 4.5 and 2.6 (the most aggressive in terms of mitigation), for the analysis of physical risks, and used two scenarios from the IEA (International Energy Agency), IEA450 and 2DS, for the analysis of transition risks:







on its business model: Iberdrola has chosen four climate scenarios on which it is performing the analysis of potential impacts

- Two transition scenarios that for Iberdrola represent potential paths towards a low-They are based on plausible projects prepared by a third party, the International Energy Agency carbon economy
- electricity in accordance with the UN SDGs change goals agreed to in Paris (<2°C), improvement in air quality and universal access to Sustainable Development Scenario (SDS): this scenario assumes achievement of the climate
- the Paris Agreement) current and announced energy policies (e.g. nationally determined commitments, or NDCs, from New Policies Scenario (NPS): a scenario based on the World Energy Outlook, which includes

There has been a comparative analysis of these two scenarios allowing for conclusions to be extracted by business and geographic area regarding the level of resiliency of Iberdrola's strategy with respect to climate change in the short and medium term. Continuity of the Outlook 2018-2022 has been assumed, with a qualitative transfer thereof through 2030

The result of the analysis indicates that, thanks to the company's strategy and positioning in renewable energy, divestment from oil and coal plants, and smart grids, its business model is sufficient to face both scenarios

(which the company already set in 2009) is more ambitious than the goals sought under the It is important to note that, over the long term, Iberdrola's goal to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 cenario and is aligned with the SDS. NPS

- Impacts Two physical scenarios, based on the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, to diagnose the range of
- corresponds to a 3.7° C increase in average global temperature during the 2081-2100 period. Change (IPCC): the most unfavourable case of the physical risks that the company might face Representative Concentration Pathway 8.5 (RCP 8.5) of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate
- at the international level to reduce greenhouse gas emissions Representative Change (IPCC): stabilisation scenario, taking account of the efforts being made and to be made Concentration Pathway 4.5 (RCP 4.5) of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate



### CLIMATE SCENARIOS

Our analysis indicates that Rio Tinto's business is relatively robust to scenarios mapping the policy and technology pathways necessary to limit global temperature rises:

- Financial impact at a manageable level: Rio Tinto has the financial and institutional capacity to manage the long-term impacts of a scenario limiting a rise in global temperature to below 2°C, while continuing to be profitable;
- Portfolio naturally hedged: diversification of our portfolio across multiple commodities provides a natural hedge against climate change policy; our aluminium and copper assets will be needed in the transition to a low-carbon future and could provide an offset in an environment where our iron ore assets are less attractive from a climate change perspective;
- Many abatement options available to us to reduce direct emissions: the significant number of internal abatement options available, coupled with a more gradual evolution of downstream industries, will give us time to anticipate and adapt to changes in policy.

Rio Tinto considers the impact of climate change over two time horizons given the long-term nature of our business and the potential for unpredictability in regulatory response.

 Short to medium term (0-20 years): while there is limited scope to react immediately to regulatory changes, we do have the ability to mitigate (or potentially take advantage of) shifts in technology and the policy environment. In this timeframe, physical changes are largely pre-determined since they are largely the result of carbon levels already accumulated in the atmosphere over past decades.

 Long term (20-50 years): the physical impact of climate change to the world could potentially become more severe, depending on the success or failure of policy. Technology development is highly uncertain.

Across these time horizons, the Group assesses three climate change scenarios, which consider:

- The policy environment for example, the level and coordination of carbon pricing internationally; and
- The rate of technological development for example, the costs of low-carbon electricity generation and batteries.

Our approach recognises that there is an interplay between these two factors: technology that leapfrogs what is available today, for example, could succeed in dramatically reducing climate change and its impacts even in an environment where government mandates do not exist.



We have identified three scenarios that attempt to assess plausible combinations of these factors to better understand the resilience of the business across all time periods.

- Limited Action: currently forms the baseline for our financial assessments and assumes that carbon prices (or other financial incentives to reduce carbon emissions) remain similar to today's levels throughout the planning period. It describes a conservative assumption against which to measure more proactive scenarios.
- 2. Coordinated Action: describes a central case view of policy pathways to 2050, taking into account both climate change objectives and a view on the feasibility of policies being adopted. We believe it is likely that climate change ambition will gradually increase over time, resulting in an increase of nationally determined contributions. However, we anticipate that the pace and degree of ambition will be insufficient to meet the Paris Agreement. This scenario lies in-between the International Energy Agency's (IEA) New Policies and Sustainable Development scenarios, resulting in a climate change outcome in the 2.5 -3.5°C warming range by 2100.
- 3. IEA Sustainable Development Scenario: developed by the IEA to describe a plausible path to meet the key global goals of the Paris Agreement and hold the rise in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels. This scenario assumes relatively highcarbon prices (up to US\$140/tCO2e by 2040 in developed countries) as well as a widespread deployment of low-carbon technologies such as carbon capture and storage. Where possible we use IEA's assumptions directly, but it is also necessary to make additional reasonable assumptions regarding how these will pass through to the mining and processing industries

### The IEA Sustainable Development Scenario (SDS)

In the SDS, global CO\_ emissions peak before 2020 and decline swiftly, By 2040, emissions are at the lower end of a range of publicly available decarbonisations can around 1.7-1.8" in 2100.

Developed world carbon prices reach US\$14/NCO.e in 2040 (US\$100-C in the development) over10 min processing and transporting ores to customers. The total economic cost of implementing low-action to the conomic cost of influence of the customers. The total economic cost of influence of the customers of the conomic cost of influence of the customers. The total economic cost of benefits, including the productive of the conomic cost of production. Thus, the main impact on commodity prices is from the potentian. Thus, and the dominant factor influencing our margins is our carbon intensity (or that of using Rio Tinto's products) relative to the of the operation.

We have made commodity-specific assumptions to flesh out th Scenario in a plausible fashion:

Iron orais and steel we assume full pass-through of carbon costs to orais and steel were seen fully a set-through of carbon costs assistance is possible. High carbon prices provide an incentive to carbon price are assumed by a set of the set of the towards strap, reducing demand for ore. Copper and aluminum, such as alumina, and sets of transitional transitional assistance for aluminum is phased out quickly. In the shotwor to medupon term, and the inclusion is likely to be lower to medupon term, and the inclusion assistance of substitution towards copper.

ry indicated process consistent with the IEA SDS, but idditional detail on the types of vehicles, size of batteries milications of these for commodity demand

18 Our approach to climate change









In FY17, we completed a detailed assessment of our portfolio resilience to transition risks that may arise from climate change. Transition risks are defined as nonphysical risks arising from the structural shift toward a low-carbon energy system, most significantly policy, technology, legal and market change. This analysis used the Global Cooperation scenario to compare commodity performance against our base case (Patchy Progress scenario).

In FY18, we commenced the assessment of our operations' resilience to the physical impacts of climate change. We chose to use the extreme Climate Change scenario as this presents the most chronic and acute physical impact scenario. Due to the in-depth work required, and in the interests of transparency and information sharing, we chose to undertake and disclose the results of our Australian operations' assessment first. In FY19, we will extend this assessment to our Southern African and Colombian operations, as well as our

## Our portfolio resilience to transition risks

Dur portfolio composition will depend on future prices and the opportunities that emerge over time. This scenario analysis and modelling provides us, and this scenario analysis and modelling provides us, and ur stakeholders, with a view on the outlook for each our stakeholders, with a view on the outlook for each control of the standard portfolio under the Global

### SCENARIOS USED:

ur methodology is built around the existing valuation nodels and scenario-based analysis used in our strategic lanning process. This considers major variables such so the outlook for commodities, the development of echnology, the needs of societies, consumer behaviour nd the ability of the environment to continue providing ne natural resources and ecosystem services that we and

Is a first step in evaluating comparative portfolio esilience, we applied the main supply and demand drivers o our existing global commodity models to determine whether the commodity would be advantaged or lisadvantaged by the rapid transition involved, relative o the base case. This was a qualitative step to frame the iubsequent company-specific assessment. We then inder took a quantitative analysis to assess the scale of his directional impact on South 32's specific products and our products compared to competitors (e.g. based on themical composition and supply location) and our position in the cost curve for each of our unique value chains.

ne Global Cooperation scenario drivers, we found that omparisons of net present value or earnings forecasts id not provide us with meaningful insights on broader ortfolio resilience. This was largely due to the variability f other underlying factors (particularly commodity price orecasts) overshadowing the impacts of the climateorecasts) overshadowing the impacts of the climateorecasts) overshadowing the instead took the decision to se a fit-for-purpose resilience metric (Figure 4), which ocused on the demand for each commodity from each peration in our portfolio. Resilience was determined by quantitative assessment of whether the supply and lemand balance increased or decreased (ten per cent ither way) or materially increased or decreased to per cent either way), relative to our base case precasts out to 2040.

This section refers to South37's resilience under the Global Cooperation scenario. As such, the descriptions of resilience here are not South32 forecasts, but describe what we have assessed could happen if the world's development progressed in line with the Global Cooperation scenario.



SCENARIO USED: RUNAWAY CLIMATE CHANGE SCENARIO<sup>(14)</sup>

Nearly every sector of the economy faces risks from the short and long-term physical effects of climate change. Physical impacts are classified as chronic or acute. Chronic are those that incrementally develop over time, such as air temperature, or decreasing rainfall trend. Acute are the sudden shock events such as flooding, bushfire and cyclones.

The resilience of our business to the physical impacts of climate change will depend on the scale and pace of global temperature rise and associated climatic trends including (for example) precipitation, sea level rise, humidity, temperature and frequency and intensity of extreme weather events.

### We used the Runaway Climate Change scenario to test our strategic risks and opportunities for physical impact, as this presents the most chronic and acute modelled physical impacts.

This analysis provides us, and our stakeholders, with insights on where our operations may experience material impacts due to physical climate change beyond those incorporated into our base case. Importantly, it also provides drivers, or signposts, for timely adaptation.

We commenced with the Australian operations in FY18 and plan to complete similar assessments for the Southern African and Colombian operations, as well as our greenfield or acquired sites, over the course of FY19 and FY20.

Dur methodology is built around Australian climate data projections that are aligned with the Runaway Climate hange scenario, and were largely sourced from the lining Climate Assessment (MiCA) tool available through he International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM) latabase (using 2035 as a proxy for 2040) and CSIRO (using latabase (using 2035 as a proxy for 2040) and CSIRO (using latabase (using 2035 as a proxy for 2040) and CSIRO (using latabase (using 2035 as a proxy for 2040) and CSIRO (using latabase (using 2035 as a proxy for 2040) and CSIRO (using latabase (using 2035 as a proxy for 2040) and CSIRO (using latabase (using 2035 as a proxy for 2040) and CSIRO (using latabase (using 2035 as a proxy for 2040) and CSIRO (using 2030 and 2050 projections to cross-check MiCA data).

> lased on these resources, projections were developed for everal key measures (for example temperature increase, rrecipitation etc.) at the locations of each operation, which will plausibly be operated/ managed by South32 hrough to 2040, based on their reserve lives and postlosure rehabilitation activities. We used a variety of echnical resources and methodologies to develop a t-for-purpose approach to this analysis. A worked t-for-purpose approach to this analysis. A worked

Each operation was considered separately, and resilience was assessed across three key impact categories: asset ntegrity and production continuity, maintaining supply chain and logistics, and worker health. A total of 14 drivers were considered to give a range of possible outcomes to 2040, considering:

xposure: A rating of exposure to acute and chronic hysical climate change projected for an operation's scation

iensitivity: A rating to reflect financial or other critical mpacts that consider existing operational design, nfrastructure and supply chain factors

Adaptive Capacity: A rating to reflect an operation's capacity to adapt to avoid the critical impacts, based on an understanding of availability, current technology or other adaptation options

The results indicate where we may need to reprioritise our ittention on designing and planning for resillence, and will orm an input into our ongoing planning process as we issess signposts for realising this or other scenarios. This includes timely and pragmatic decisions on future infrastructure investments required to preserve the value of our operations, as well as to assist in avoiding nabdatrive investment.

- 13) This section refers to South22 operational resilience under the Climate Change scenario As such, the descriptions of relience here are not South27 forecasts, but describe what we have assessed sould happen if the world's climate progressed in line with the Runaway Climate Change scenario, as described on page 24.
- <sup>4)</sup> Projected change in global mean surface temperature for the late 21 century, relative to the 1986-2005 period - IPCC 2013. Climate Chang 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.



SOUTH32

| FY18

# ASSESSMENT EXAMPLE: WORSLEY ALUMINA RUNAWAY CLIMATE CHANGE SCENARIO AT 2040

Climate stressor	Examples of impacts considered for all South32 operations	Relative assessment of resilience in 2040 Runaway Climate Change scenario – Worsley Alumina
Changes in extreme	Containment failure in dams following intense rainfall	<ul> <li>Moderate resilience</li> </ul>
weather patterns	Containment failure in facilities following intense rainfall	<ul> <li>High resilience</li> </ul>
	River flooding affects mine and processing operations	<ul> <li>High resilience</li> </ul>
	Cyclones or storms affect port and rail operations	<ul> <li>Moderate resilience</li> </ul>
Warmer temperatures	Bushfires affect operations	Moderate resilience
and lower raintall	More dust created by our mining and processing activities	Low resilience
	Droughts affect water supply to operations	<ul> <li>Low resilience</li> </ul>
	Droughts affect hydroelectric power supply to operations	Not applicable
Warmer temperatures and more frequent	<ul> <li>Hotter weather affects how we manage gas levels in underground mines and in processing facilities</li> </ul>	Very high resilience
heatwaves	Heat interrupts flight operations	Not applicable
	Heat interrupts rail operations	<ul> <li>High resilience</li> </ul>
	Power supply to operations interrupted	<ul> <li>Moderate resilience</li> </ul>
	Heat affects worker health and safety	<ul> <li>High resilience</li> </ul>
Warmer temperatures and more rainfall	<ul> <li>Conditions affect where and when our locations are receptive to malaria</li> </ul>	Very high resilience

### Impact category key

- safely and maintain planned production levels (e.g. direct damage from severe storms, flooding from intense rainfall events, productivity decline from increasing dust creation). Asset integrity and production continuity: Impacts which could directly affect the operation's capacity to operate
- Maintaining supply chain and logistics: Impacts which could materially affect access to critical inputs and delivery of heat interrupting flight operations) products to key locations (e.g. storms affecting port and rail integrity, drought affecting hydroelectric power supply,
- to regional climate changes). Worker health: Impacts on the health and safety of our employees (e.g. heat-related illness, increased malaria risk due

### **Resilience key**

- Very high resilience has been attributed where, under this scenario, our operations have been assessed as highly unlikely to be impacted in 2040 for this driver.
- impacted in 2040 for this driver. High resilience has been attributed where, under this scenario, our operations have been assessed as unlikely to be
- Moderate resilience has been attributed where, impacted in 2040 for this driver. under this scenario our operations have been assessed as may be
- Low resilience has been impacted in 2040 for this driver. attributed where, under this scenario, our operations have been assessed as likely to be
- to be impacted in 2040 for this driver Very low resilience has been attributed where, under this scenario, our operations have been assessed as highly likely

### Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

### Our approach to climate risk and opportunity

This section of our Performance and Data report responds to the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Here you can find a comprehensive account of our approach to climate risk and opportunity.

### Our position on TCFD

We are committed to implementing the recommendations of the TCFD, providing our stakeholders and investors accurate data and insight about the climate-related risks and opportunities which are relevant to our business. We've made a public commitment to assessing and mitigating climate change risks across our portfolio and are one of 580 organisations publicly listed by the TCFD as supporters.

Our approach to climate risk and opportunity is discussed in our Annual Report on pages 40-41, and as part of our principal risks and uncertainties section on page 59. For further disclosures you can access our CDP response at https://www.cdp.net/en.

### Governance

Our Chief Executive has overall responsibility for climaterelated risks and opportunities. The Board receive an annual briefing on our sustainability programme which includes discussion of risks and opportunities. Ongoing oversight of climate-related issues is carried out by our Sustainability Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive. Our Sustainability Committee is comprised of our Director of Corporate Affairs and Sustainability and our Group HR Director – both members of our Executive Committee – together with our Head of Sustainability, Public Affairs and Health, Safety & Security and senior representation from our portfolio management, development and finance functions. The committee meets quarterly and is the senior forum for determining our sustainability strategy and reviewing performance. This includes responding to climaterelated opportunities such as investment in renewables, improvements in energy efficiency and investment in low-carbon technologies. The committee has oversight for climate-related risks including policy, regulatory and legal risks, as well as the physical risks to our assets. The committee also approves and reviews research and analysis to determine our response to climate-related risks and opportunities.

Our Sustainability Committee is supported by our Investment Committee, London Executive Committee and Retail Executive Committee. Each committee reviews the risks opportunities as described above. This can include reviewing and approving investment in energy efficiency projects and renewables, as well as approving development or refurbishment plans which include climate-related aspects of design.

Our commitment to address climate-related risks is embedded across the business, through an energy reduction Group KPI. The performance against this KPI is linked to executive and management remuneration, aiming to incentivise progress against our science-based carbon reduction target and energy efficiency commitment.

### Identifying risks and opportunities

As an owner and operator of property, our business is exposed to both risk and opportunity from climate change. The nature and level of risk is dependent on government, business and society's response in the short and long term. In the event of a strong response to climate change in the short term up to 2030, our business will be affected in positive and negative ways by the transition. With a limited response to climate change, our business will be affected in the long term past 2030 by physical effects such as extreme weather and higher temperatures. Accordingly, our analysis focuses on both transitional risks up to 2030 and physical risks past 2030. To determine how our business may be affected by the physical risk, we conducted research and modelling. This research was carried out in 2017 and 2019. The modelling has enabled us to determine the likelihood of potential future weather patterns and natural hazards. The risks occurring due to these weather and climate patterns include chronic factors such as energy costs from overheating, and acute factors such as windstorm, and coastal, inland and flash flooding. Our exposure to these risks is derived through analysis of our property portfolio, using climate and natural hazard databases such as SwissRe CatNet™ and MunichRe NATHAN™, and is further adjusted based on expert judgement. The research and analysis carried out in 2019 incorporated the Met Office Climate Projections 2018 (UKCP18), which are widely accepted as the most accurate forecasts for how climate change will affect the climate and weather in the UK.

The modelling of all chronic and acute physical risks was based on the four Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs), which are used by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) to illustrate future concentrations of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. Although our modelling analysed all four RCPs, we simplified our approach by focusing on two distinct scenarios, a best-case scenario where global average temperature increases by less than two degrees in line with the 2015 Paris Climate Agreement, and a worst-case scenario, where temperatures increase by up to four degrees.

To determine how our business will be affected by a transition to the low-carbon economy, we conducted quantitative and qualitative scenario analysis, using the TCFD recommendations as a guide. The process of scenario analysis was designed to allow us to assess our resilience in two alternate futures, transition to the low-carbon economy or failure to transition. This process relied on a variety of data sources and a panel of experts including insurance, strategy, finance, insight and treasury functions from our business, alongside weather, natural catastrophe, enterprise risk management and academic research representatives from Willis Towers Watson and the Willis Research Network.

### Four degrees scenario

This scenario is aligned with the IPCC's RCP 8.5, where climate change will increase by up to four degrees by 2100. In the lead up to 2030, limited actions are taken to mitigate climate change, current levels of investment in low-carbon technology continue, and emissions continue to rise along their current trajectory. In the period between 2030 and 2100, the physical effects of climate change begin to intensify rapidly, and government, business and society will need to adapt to the effects.

Beyond 2030, widespread disruption to markets could begin to occur, and investment in climate change resilient technologies and infrastructure is likely to be required for organisations with physical assets. The policy, regulatory and legal response, although limited in the short term, could begin to force organisations in control of physical assets to adapt to climate change. In this scenario, businesses with high levels of carbon emissions could experience a backlash in consumer, customer and investor sentiment.

### Physical risks and their impacts

### What could happen in this scenario by 2070?

- 5.4°C hotter in summer
- 50% increase in heatwaves
- **35%** more rain in winter
- **9%** increase in electricity use
- **32%** decrease in gas use

In this scenario it is likely we will experience an increase in flash flooding, river floods, coastal flooding and storm surges. These weather events are applicable to a small proportion of assets in our portfolio, noted in the Metrics and Targets section of this report. Increases in year-round temperature are predicted, with summer temperatures at  $5.4^{\circ}$ C higher and winter temperatures at  $4.2^{\circ}$ C higher than the current climate. Higher levels of precipitation are predicted in winter at up to +35%, and lower levels of summer precipitation are predicted at down to -47%. These physical effects could have several effects on our business due to changes in markets, policy, regulation and technology. Accordingly, we do not consider the consequences of these physical risks to be 'transition' risks, as under the four-degree scenario there will be very little transitional activity. We consider these risks and associated impacts to be costs of adapting to the new climate and weather patterns.

In this scenario, the physical risks to our portfolio could pose several market challenges, including potential lower asset values, higher operational costs, higher costs of insurance premiums, and reduced attractiveness to our customers and consumers. Specifically, asset values could fall where they are proven to have poor resilience to windstorm and flooding. Where we own assets in cities, particularly London, we could experience reduced demand for our properties affected by extreme heat and air pollution.

Due to the extreme temperature and weather patterns associated with this scenario, it is likely that poorly designed, operated and maintained assets will experience more frequent building system and envelope failures. This is likely to lead to higher operational costs, but also reputation risks, where customers begin to rely more on property companies to maintain safe and comfortable spaces for their staff and consumers. More extreme weather could also lead to increasing numbers of building failures and natural catastrophes, leading to rising insurance premiums.

In this scenario our business could also be affected by higher raw material costs due to increasing fossil fuel and water costs, disruption to logistics and higher cost of production from taxes and levies. Similarly, we will experience higher construction costs arising from climate change resilient facades and building services with increased capacity.

In the long-term under this scenario, a widespread decrease in combustion-engine vehicle use could lead to assets without good public transport links becoming less attractive to consumers. Consumers and our direct customers could develop greater awareness and expectations of property businesses, pressurising them to act on climate-related issues, and creating greater favour for destinations which are sustainable.

### Opportunities

Owing to the nature of this scenario, there are only limited opportunities as the impacts are predominantly negative for most business types. We could experience higher levels of customer and investor demand for resilient assets which can withstand the increasing frequency of windstorm and flooding. In addition, falling asset values and business failures could lead to opportunity for more resilient businesses to gain increasing market share.

### How we'll need to respond

In this scenario, our analysis demonstrates that changes to our strategy and financial planning will be required. This will include divestment of assets which are less resilient to extreme heat and rainfall, or investment into infrastructure to limit the impact of flooding and coastal surge. We believe our strategy for investing in high-quality assets in primary locations will continue to be resilient in this scenario. However, to maintain an effective strategy we will need to increase our prioritisation of climate change factors in investment, development and divestment decisions.

This scenario could also result in changes to our customers' and supply chain partners' businesses, as well as consumer preferences. To continue to be resilient in this scenario, we will need to constantly reassess the risks posed by climate change to ensure we are not exposed to risk of default from business failures or supply chain disruption. Increased due-diligence in supply chain selection will be required, particularly considering the sourcing of construction materials which may be processed or manufactured in countries where the effects of climate change are more extreme.



TCFD Metrics and t	argets				Table 29
Financial category	Climate related category	Metric	Unit of measure	Landsec 2017/18	2018/19
Revenues	Risk Adaptation & Mitigation	Revenues/savings from investments in low-carbon alternatives (e.g., R&D, equipment, products, services)	£	1,538,662.58	1,918,389.31
Revenues	Risk Adaptation & Mitigation	Avoided energy consumption costs benefitting customers in year, measured against 2013/14 baseline	£	-	£4.0m1
Revenues	Risk Adaptation & Mitigation	Percentage of revenues derived from BREEAM certified assets	£	56%	57%
Expenditures	Risk Adaptation & Mitigation	Expenditures (OpEx) for low-carbon alternatives (e.g., R&D, technology, products, services)	£	1,716,526,526.10	1,457,997.84
	Energy/Fuel	Total energy consumption	kWh	265,723,992.15	265,571,273.86
	Energy/Fuel	Proportion of energy consumption from renewable sources	%	64%	66%
	Energy/Fuel	Total electricity consumption	kWh	167,507,064.49	167,590,019.79
	Energy/Fuel	Proportion of electricity consumption from renewable sources	%	93%	96%
	Energy/Fuel	Total fuel consumption (i.e. gas)	kWh	86,337,790.66	81,310,160.07
	Energy/Fuel	Proportion of fuel consumption from renewable sources (i.e. green gas)	%	17%	16%
	Energy/Fuel	Total building energy intensity by floor area	kWh/m <sup>2</sup>	144	142
	Energy/Fuel	Forecast change in energy cost by 2100, four-degree scenario	£	-	£0.9m²
	Water	Percent of fresh water withdrawn in regions with high or extremely high baseline water stress	m <sup>3</sup>	0	0
	Water	Total building water intensity by floor area	m³/m²	0.57	0.56
	GHG Emissions	Total GHG emissions intensity by floor area	tCO2e/m2	0.0523	0.043
Assets	Location	Percentage floor area of portfolio exposed a 10-20% risk of inland, coastal and flash flooding in a ten-year period	% floor area	0.4%	0.3%
	Location	Percentage value of portfolio exposed to a 10-20% risk of inland, coastal and flash flooding in a ten-year period <sup>4</sup>	% Value	1.5%	1.4%
	Location	Insured value of assets exposed to possible significant increase in river flood risk due to climate change	£	£5.7m	£7.0m⁵
	Location	Insured value of assets exposed to possible significant increase in coastal flood risk due to climate change	£	£281m	£257.3m <sup>6</sup>
	Risk Adaptation & Mitigation	Percentage of portfolio which is BREEAM certified	% floor area	40.1%	40.2%
	Risk Adaptation & Mitigation	Percentage of portfolio which is BREEAM certified	% portfolio value	61%	60%
	Risk Adaptation & Mitigation	Investment (CapEx) in low-carbon alternatives (e.g., capital equipment or assets)	£	4,402,019.00	2,377,136.00
	Risk Adaptation & Mitigation	Costs of obtaining Energy Performance Certificates for assets which are not currently certified <sup>7</sup>	£	_	£0.3m

1 Consumption costs measured in 2018/19, based on comparable floor area from 2013/14 portfolio.

2 Increase in cooling costs offset by decrease in gas costs.

3 This figure is based on absolute energy across scopes 1,2 and 3.
4 Based on a return period of 50-100 years meaning there is a 1-2% chance every year or 10-20% in the next 10 years that flooding would occur.

5 Acquired one new asset in river flood risk zone.

6 Divested two assets in coastal flood risk zone.

7 30% of our assets must obtain an EPC before 2023.

Sustainability Performance and Data 2019 29





TCFD: Data sources				Table 30
Projections	Analysis	2017 analysis	2019 analysis	Source
Energy Consumption	Modelling	Now out of date	Updated	UKCP18 previously CMIP5
Flood Risk	Exposure & Scoring	Now out of date	Updated	Swiss Re CatNet; Munich Re NATHAN
	Probabilistic Modelling	Current	No update minimal impact	CCRA Report 2017; (Next update 2022 )
Sea Level Rise	Exposure & Scoring	Now out of date	Updated	UKCP18 previously CCRA 2017 after UKCP09
Windstorm	Probabilistic Modelling	Current	No update minimal impact	ABI Report 2017
Temperature	Review	Now out of date	Updated	UKCP18 previously CMIP5
Precipitation	Review	Now out of date	Updated	UKCP18 previously CMIP5

Sustainability Performance and Data 2019 30



		Strategy	Governance			
<ul> <li>Emissions reduction target (Scope 1 and 2)</li> <li>Assessed emissions in business lending portfolio</li> <li>Low carbon project funding target of \$15 billion by 2025</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Elevated climate as a strategic risk and a long-term driver of both financial and non-financial risks</li> <li>Introduced an ESG Risk Assessment Tool, including climate and energy considerations, for business lending</li> <li>Training on ESG risks, including climate, for business lenders</li> <li>Established Energy Value Chain analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Commitment to support the objectives of the Paris Agreement</li> <li>Climate scenario analysis:         <ul> <li>Business lending: transition risks</li> <li>FirstChoice Australian Share Fund: transition risks</li> <li>Retail (home lending) and insurance: physical risks</li> <li>Portfolio-level strategic responses</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Climate Policy Position Statement<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Group Environment Policy<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Equator Principles III Report<sup>1</sup></li> <li>ESG Lending Commitments<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Responsible Investing Framework<sup>1</sup></li> <li>The Board governs climate risks and opportunities through the Risk Management Framework<sup>2</sup></li> </ul>	Pre-FY19	Phase 1-2 Policy, due diligence, governance, analysis of portfollo risks and opportunities	
		<ul> <li>Climate scenario analysis:</li> <li>Agribusiness lending: physical risks</li> <li>Portfolio-level strategic responses</li> <li>Client engagement</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Developed a Group Environmental and Social Policy with updated climate commitments, including:</li> <li>- continuing to reduce our exposures to thermal coal mining and coal fired power generation, with a view to exiting the sectors by 2030, subject to Australia having a secure energy platform</li> <li>- supporting the development of existing and emerging technologies that enable an accelerated transition to a low carbon future</li> </ul>	FY19		
<ul> <li>Continue to make progress on our RE100 commitment</li> <li>Science-based emissions reductiv target (Scope 1 and 2)</li> <li>Assest emissions in business and retaillending and investment portfolios</li> <li>Emissions reduction target (Scope funding target</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Continue to update the ESG Risk Assessment Tool and build capabilities as stakeholder expectations and global developments evolve</li> <li>Work with clients as they progress their transition strategies</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Climate scenario analysis:</li> <li>Business lending: physical risks for other key portfolios</li> <li>Retail (home lending) and insurar transition risks</li> <li>Investment portfolios: transition and physical risks</li> <li>Further develop strategic respons</li> <li>Client and customer engagement</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Review the Group Environmental and Social Policy to ensure alignm with the rapidly evolving nature of environmental and social issues</li> <li>Review the Group Risk Appetite Statement</li> <li>Review of climate-related roles an responsibilities</li> </ul>	FY20-21		





EFRAG European Financial Reporting Advisory Group



105



EFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group











Strategic report

financial disclosures **Climate-related** 

th Bank of Au 2018

Г Д

# Transition risks and opportunities

How we are responding It is important for the Bank to consider the impacts and risks of physical climate changes on our customers as well as our insurance and residential lending portfolios. We will continue to develop our understanding of physical climate change and the locations and types of properties most affected by climate risk. Based on these learnings, we will build our capability to effectively respond, develop and implement business rules We have undertaken scenario analysis to assess the transition risks and opportunities in our business lending portfolio, covering Commonwealth Bank, Bankwest and ASB. The climate scenarios (outlined on page 50) were assessed to identify the impacts for the Australian economy at a sectoral level, and these were analysed in relation to the Bank's debt exposure and one of our domestic equity portfolios, to 2050.

adjustments, based on industry-specific research, made in order to ensure that the model reflected our view of different climate futures. These adjustments were on: The scenarios align to reference scenarios and industry-specific research. There were a number of out-of-model

carbon pricing and offset markets

The expected impact of climate change may compound the existing issue of insurance affordability in areas with high risk of severe weather events. To counter this threat, we will consider the most effective approaches to mitigating against physical climate change risks. This will include consideration of our products and services through which there may be opportunities to assist or incentivise customers to make home resilience improvements, and advocating on their behalf for governments to invest in mitigation measures to respond to

associated with climate change

(such as maximum loan to valuation ratios or loan conditions) to protect both our customers and the Bank from risks

- international energy demand
- materials efficiency
- domestic energy use

community level risks.

new business models

Australia This project was supported by EY and ClimateWorks

# Transition risks and opportunities in our business lending portfolio

Minimising climate risk for property, both residential and commercial, is an issue that goes beyond the banking and insurance sectors. Appropriate planning regulation is essential to building climate resilience in the sector going forward and both a private and public response is needed. Where we don't have the ability to help our customers directly, we will engage and banking to find solutions to these problems before they

What we found Emissions fall under all three of our scenarios. However, Australia only meets its existing international emissions commitments under the Global Co-ordination and Disruptive Decarbonisation scenarios.

to 2050. The analysis provided economic growth, by sector, for the Australian economy under the three scenarios through

To this end, we have been actively involved in the development of the National Risk Reduction Framework, as a priority of the National Resilience Taskforce, which is being led by the Department of Home Affairs. This is a collective effort involving public, private and community sectors in the development of a framework to identify, address and mitigate disaster risk.

become acute

The analysis found that the overall economy grows across all scenarios and timeframes through to 2050. However, the rate of growth, sectors impacted and degree of impact, vary by scenario.

represents the growth and contraction at a sectoral level across the three scenarios over the medium term (2035) The variation is illustrated in the transition risk heatmap which

Scenario
characteristi
cs – transiti
on analys
S

1	Scenario characteristics	Global Coordination	Disruptive Decarbonisation	Policy Inertia
	Reference scenarios	Deep Decarbonisation Pathways Project	Deep Decarbonisation Pathways Project	Deep Decarbonisation Pathways Project
I		IEA 2DS	Review of disruptive technologies and business models	IEA 4DS
	Target	66% likelihood of limiting global warming to 2°C	66% likelihood of limiting global warming to 2°C	66% likelihood of limiting global warming to 3°C
I	Proportion of renewables of	73%	94%	58%
	total generation in 2050 (from baseline of 15% in 2017)		Distributed generation increases from 4% of total generation in	

2017 to 39% in 2050


## **Climate scenarios considered**

climate system due to changes in the composition of the atmosphere from sources like Greenhouse gas emissions, other air pollutants<sup>19</sup> and changes in land use. The four IPCC scenarios represent different Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) which describe the composition of the atmosphere at the end of the 21st century. Table 2 summarises the link between the RCPs, potential temperature rises by 2100 and the level of mitigation required, which we will use to describe the scenarios in this report. Aviva is developing a Climate VaR measure that enables the potential business impacts of future climate-related risks and opportunities to be assessed in each of the IPCC scenarios and in aggregate. The IPCC scenarios aim to measure the effect on the energy balance of the global

Table 2: Mapping for RCPs, potential temperature rises and levels of mitigations. Source: TCFD.

RCP	Temperature rise	Description	Notes
RCP2.6	1.5°C	Aggressive mitigation	emissions halved by 2050
RCP4.5	2°C	Strong mitigation	emissions stabilise at half today's levels by 2080
RCP6.0	3°C	Some mitigation	emissions rise to 2080 then fail
RCP8.5	4°C	Business as usual (BAU)	emissions continue rising at current rates

Figure 12 also sets out implications for Greenhouse gas emissions and potential temperature rise by 2100 for each scenario. Aggressive mitigation is the only scenario where it is more likely than not that the temperature change in 2100 will be less than 2°C.

Aviva is developing this Climate VaR measure in conjunction with the UNEP FI investor pilot project, which is developing models and scenaric

analysis tools to assess the potential impact on corporate assets and real estate of the four IPCC scenarios in conjunction with Carbon Delta



## the environmental fintech

Carbon Delta is using the REMIND model<sup>will</sup> from the Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research (PIK)<sup>w.</sup> Scenario outputs from the

REMIND model include financial metrics such as direct/indirect emissions costs, additional capital expenditure, and revenue implications broken down by sector and geography. Whilst these scenarios reflect current scientific research and the Paris agreement, there clearly remains significant uncertainty regarding future climate trajectories as well as political risk with respect to implementation of the Paris agreement and Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs)<sup>xx</sup>.

It is important to note that the four scenarios all assume a gradual path, in which temperatures slowly rise but climate policy is ramped up at varying speeds with a fairly high degree of global coordination. They do not consider the transition risk in a more chaotic policy environment, where there is lack of global coordination and policy action is taken too late and too suddenly. This may result in an understatement of transition risk.

technological development. consider socio-economic characteristics including things such as population, economic growth, education, urbanisation and the rate of The Carbon Delta model and scenario analysis tools also allow consideration of the five Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSPs)<sup>20</sup>. These







## **Risks and opportunities covered**

The modelling of transition and physical risks and opportunities specifically covers the projected costs of policy action related to limiting Greenhouse gas emissions as well as projected profits from green revenues arising from developing new technologies and patents. In addition, it captures acute abrupt weather impacts such as more frequent and severe storms, extreme heat and cold, heavy precipitation and snowfall, wind gust, and tropical cyclones, as well as chronic gradual impacts such as higher than average temperatures and rises in sea level. It is important to note that the changes in acute and chronic weather can also have a positive as well as negative impact on individual companies or instruments (see figure 17), as this is measured against current conditions and in some regions these impacts will reduce even



18

Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018



(see figure 21). The following high-level methodology is used to assess the potential downside risk from different transition scenarios on our investments

Figure 21: High level methodology overview. Source: Carbon Delta.



revenues for individual companies or instruments. are covered, the Climate VaR can be either negative or positive depending on the balance of future anticipated carbon-related costs on a business as a whole to be translated into a change in value of its corporate bonds and equity shares. As both costs and opportunities For both corporate bonds and equity shares the difference between the market value and the adjusted value after factoring in future climate change costs and/or revenues is measured (i.e. the impact relative to current climate conditions and emissions trajectory). To estimate the impact in a consistent way when a company has issued both shares and bonds, the Merton model<sup>xor</sup> is used. This model enables the impact and

Carbon Delta has also developed a methodology for estimating the transition exposure of property assets which we have used for both direct real estate and real-estate-linked debt holdings. For infrastructure assets, Aviva plans to use the ClimateWise Transition Risk Framework to identify the key risk exposures across our portfolio of assets, taking into account how transition risk and opportunities vary by geography, highlighted strong potential opportunities sector and sub-sector to assess the potential impact in different climate scenarios. For example, a recent review of transport infrastructure

### Insurance liabilities

have similar particulate outputs to gas-fired power stations, biomass plants such as wood pellet fired facilities, for their many positives, produce significantly more particulates than gas-fired power stations for example<sup>21</sup>. Although we note that this is very much dependent on the fuel mix generating electrical power for the grid. Whilst waste-to-energy plants replacing vehicles with internal combustion engines. For each transition scenario, there is potential for fewer deaths relating to air pollution Aviva has assessed the impact on life insurance reserves from the potential reduction in mortality rates resulting from less air pollution in the aggressive and strong mitigation scenarios. This reflects an anticipated reduction in carbon emissions and an increase in electric vehicles

risks and rise of car-sharing and automated cars might decrease the pool of vehicles to be insured leading to a decrease in claims frequencies but also premiums. However, these affects have not been included to date. We plan to extend our modelling to cover general insurance transition On the general insurance side, transition risks and opportunities may also arise. For example, the wider adoption of electric vehicles and the opportunities over time.

## Physical risks and opportunities

The financial impact of physical risks and opportunities is based on an assessment of both the expected costs in the BAU scenario and the costs at a higher 95th percentile arising from hazards such as: Extreme heat and cold, Heavy precipitation and snow, Coastal flooding, Wind gusts and Tropical cyclones. We use the expected costs and the costs at a higher percentile to define a distribution of physical risk outcomes time horizon as that used for transition risk for each scenario and thus capture some of the more extreme potential physical effects of climate change whilst using a consistent 15-year

#### Investments

regard. The physical risks on investments are generally going to be driven by the exposure of the facilities (buildings, plant, infrastructure) owned or used by the company who has issued the financial instrument, their "facilities", and the supply chain they rely on for producing their end product. We use the following high-level methodology to assess the potential physical risk from different scenarios on our investments in this

 $\cong$ Analysts default. utilise the Mertor apable a company is at meeting financial obligations, servicing its debt, and weighing the general possibility that it will go into credit

20 Aviva's Climate-Related Financial Disclosure 2018



extreme weather hazards over time



21

aviva.com

Figure 22: Impact modelling and expected cost estimate. Source: Carbon Delta EXPECTED COST - VULNERABILITY X HAZARD X EXPOSURE EXPOSURE HAZARD VULNERABILITY **Company Facility** Cost Function Extreme Weather

physical hazard impact in each scenario into an estimated monetary cost, per facility The cost (in figure 22) is built up by mapping the facilities onto a world map, with measures that define the facility's exposure to different extreme weather hazards, and then combining this with a vulnerability function that converts the exposure and an assessment of the

change in the value of its corporate bonds and equity shares using the Merton model under current conditions as these are assumed to be already factored in to the market value. This business impact is then translated into a For both corporate bonds and equity shares, the difference between the market value and the adjusted value after factoring in aggregated facility costs and/or revenues is measured. The costs and/or revenues to a business are measured relative to an assessment of physical risks

estate use the same approach described above. For directly held real estate the impact is carried directly against the property valuation. For real with external partners to develop best practice in this area. For directly held real estate assets, real estate loans and infrastructure assets, we will mainly include their factories and machinery and possibly their dealerships. Their supply chain will be broad, complex and potentially geographically diverse and if disrupted it could adversely impact companies' costs and/or revenues. We will continue to work internally and products and services or potential mitigating impact of insurance. For example, in the case of a major car manufacturer their real assets Aviva recognises that the current approach does not capture the impact on companies' supply chains nor necessarily demand for its loans, we assess the physical climate change risk impact by running the stressed property value through our debt valuation models

modelling at this stage. emergency relief to areas effected by climate-related disasters, aid and rebuilding costs and the cost of acting as insurer of last resort. So, the because sovereigns are exposed to climate change via several vectors: government buildings and government owned infrastructure, cost of bodies. To assess a sovereign's vulnerability to climate change and readiness, the Notre-Dame University's Notre Dame-Global Adaptation ability to raise money via taxation and debt; reliance on foreign aid and support of the International Monetary Fund and other supra-national debt: exposure and vulnerability to climate change; readiness and adaptation; ability to raise money for mitigation and post-disaster repair, result of the occurrence of different extreme weather hazards in each scenario. The following climate-related factors may impact sovereign ND-GAIN data has been used to help support expert judgements about the appropriate stresses to apply to different sovereign bonds in our Index (ND-GAIN)<sup>xu</sup> measure for country climate change risk has been used. We note that the assessment of sovereign debt is difficult For sovereign bonds, the impact on the market value of a security is measured by assessing how a sovereign's rating could change as a We will continue to work internally and with external partners to develop best practice in this area

### Insurance liabilities

example, it is possible that both summers and winters will be warmer or that seasons will in fact be more extreme. The latter is more likely to different extreme weather hazards in each scenario based on a review of academic literature linking climate change to potential changes in mortality rates<sup>223</sup>. For higher temperature scenarios, where climate change has dramatically taken hold, the picture is complicated. For Climate VaR for life insurance risks calculates the impact on reserves of a change in mortality rates as a result of the occurrence of an adverse impact and for the UK could plausibly result from the Gulf Stream changing its path and missing the UK

On the modelling capability to assess the impact of this on premiums. We plan to further refine this approach and to extend our modelling to othe experts to consider how climate change could change the frequency and severity of UK Flood and leveraged our existing catastrophe sales volumes and our reinsurance strategy. Initially, we have focus hazards in each scenario. The impact on premiums is then used to determine the impact on our business, considering the impact on pricing general insurance side, the Climate VaR calculates the impact on premiums as a result of the occurrence of different extreme weather sed our efforts on UK Flood. We have worked with internal and external

112



## TRANSITION SCENARIOS

usefulness for financial analysis based on the requirements we had established and the following criteria: and different climate models and scenarios and assessed their scenarios, we undertook a thorough review of a number of specific variables. To identify the most appropriate climate of different macroeconomic, energy-related and sector for financial analysis and that met the requirements we had established for the project, including a number needed climate transition scenarios that were appropriate order to conduct climate scenario analysis, the pilot group to pilot the methodology using specific scenarios. with different climate scenario sources, the group decided by the UNEP FI pilot group and Oliver Wyman is compatible different climate models have different assumptions, drivers temperature warming scenario, such as a 2°C scenario, and There are numerous pathways to reach a particular l levels 으 granularity. While the methodology developed n

- The availability of scenario data for the three temperature warming scenarios of interest
- The coverage of the sectors and subsectors where we expect transition risk to be most material
- The coverage of different regions of the world where the banks in the UNEP FI pilot group operate

additional variables and increase data availability. the pilot group further collaborated with the developers of these two models at PIK and IIASA to get access to were not originally developed for use in financial analysis, vast majority of climate models, including these models, recent special report, Global Warming of 1.5°C. As the policy and other analyses, including by the IPCC in its climate models are widely used around the world for from PIK and MESSAGE-Globiom (MESSAGE) from IIASA criteria and requirements – REMIND-MAgPIE (REMIND) we selected two IAMs that most closely met the project's of a 1.5°C scenario and coverage of the agricultural sector, pilot group's requirements, which included the availability Deep Decarbonization Pathways Project (DDPP). International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA), and the and models from the International Energy Agency (IEA), models, including integrated assessment models (IAMS) Our review encompassed the landscape of climate for use in the pilot. The scenarios derived from these Given the

## THE REMIND MODEL

In conducting the transition scenario analysis as part of the UNEP FI pilot project, Citi used the 1.5°C, 2°C and 4°C scenarios from the REMIND model developed within the <u>CD-LINKS project</u>. The CD-LINKS project explores the complex interplay between climate actions and development at the global and national levels. We will consider using the MESSAGE model along with other models and scenarios in future analyses as the methodology the pilot group has developed is compatible with other climate scenario sources.

The REMIND model uses the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways, Representative Concentration Pathways ("SSP-RCP") scenario framework, which was developed for analysis in the IPCC and provides a combination of socioeconomic and emissions pathway assumptions to develop different climate scenarios. Researchers have developed five Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSPs) that narrate different socioeconomic futures that have implications for the challenge of climate change mitigation and adaptation.

The REMIND CD-LINKS scenarios used for this report represent SSP2, which describes a "middle of the road" world where social, economic and technological trends do not shift markedly from historical patterns and there is a medium level of challenges to climate mitigation and adaptation. It combines the socioeconomic assumptions from SSP2 with different representative concentration pathways (RCPs), which are based on varying levels of greenhouse gas emissions concentrations, to develop scenarios for different temperature warming targets. A summary of the assumptions is provided below.

## **REMIND Model Assumptions**

#### Description

Transition risk occurs in a "middle-of-the-road" world where social, economic, and technological trends do not significantly vary from historical patterns. Current policies are continued until 2020, at which point a carbon price begins to be implemented at a level that ensures the world does not exceed 1.5°C or 2°C warming depending on the scenario.

FINANCE FOR A CLIMATE-RESILIENT FUTURE: CITI'S TCFD REPORT | 11



## RISKS CONTINUED

le identified the material impacts on Unilever's business arising own each of these scenarios based on existing internal and external ata. The impacts were assessed without considering any actions tha nitever might take to mitigate or adapt to the adverse impacts or to troduce new products which might offer new sources of revenue as onsumers adjust to the new circumstances.

- The main impacts of the 2°C scenario were as follows:
   Carbon pricing is introduced in key countries and hence there
  increases in both manufacturing costs and the costs of raw m
- such as dairy ingredients and the metals used in packaging.
  Zero net deforestation requirements are introduced and a shift to sustainable agriculture puts pressure on agricultural production, raising the price of certain raw materials.
- The main impacts of the 4°C scenario were as follows:
- Chronic and acute water stress reduces agricultural productivity in some regions, raising prices of raw materials.
   Increased frequency of evenes waterial for a strength of the stre
- increased inequency or extreme weather isourns and notices causes increased incidence of disruption to our manufacturing and distribution networks.
- Temperature increase and extreme weather events reduce economic activity, GDP growth and hence sales levels fall.
- Our analysis shows that, without action, both scenarios present financial risks to Unliever by 2030, predominantly due to increased costs. However, while there are financial risks which would need to be managed, we would not have to materially change our business model. The most significant impacts of both scenarios are on our supply chain where costs of raw materials and packaging rise, due to carbon pricing and rapid shift to sustainable agriculture in a 2°C scenario and due to chronic water stress and our own manufacturing operations are relatively small.
- The results of this analysis confirm the importance of doing further work to ensure that we understand the critical dependencies of climate change on our business and to ensure we have action plans on climate the dependencies of the product we have action of the method to be the action of the product the product the theory of the second the second second second the product the second the second secon

During 2018 we developed and piloted an approach to assess the impact of climate change on our key commodities. We selected soy for this pilot based on its importance to Unilever (large purchased volume), it being a high-profile crop in the countries where it is grown and the availability of good historical price data and suitable climate models.

We developed a methodology which combined forecasting future yields and quantifying the impact on commodity prices of soybean oil. Climate change was the only price factor accounted for in the model used to calculate the impact. Other factors which impact price, such as technology and acreage, were excluded. The model considered the direct risks from climate change to the price of soybean oil, such as change in yield and change in supply. Three modelling steps were performed: • Yield estimation. We analysed multiple agriculture and climate models to provide a forecast range of expected yields in key

- growing regions.
  Price relationship: An econometric model was developed, based on an analysis of the soybean oil market and historical trends, to estimate the impact of climate-induced yield changes on future prices. This model considered the importance of co-products eg soybean meal, substitution potential eg with sunflower oil and industrial uses of soybean oil, as well as the impact of yield on price.
  Impact estimation: Future yields and price impacts were then translated into an estimated financial exposure from climate change for our business, using our forecast procurement volumes.
- change for our business, using our forecast procurement volumes. Our plot analysis showed that soybean yields may increase over the 2030 and 2030-time honzon and that subsequent lower proces may then lead to small potential reductions in our procurement spend on soy. While the results may indicate a low financial risk to our business, we would need to consider a wider range of risk

Strategic Report

ceffic to say and can't be applied to other crops. We have therefore could to get broader understanding on the climate change risks our agricultural sourcing and extend our analysis to two other portant crops to Uniever: Patm Ott and Tea, for which suitable mate change models for yield predictions will be available in 2019.

## RESPONDING TO RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

Unilever's vision is to grow our business whitst decoupling our growth rom our environmental footprint and increasing positive social impact. This vision explicitly recognises that sustainable growth – including management of climate-related risks and opportunities – is the only vay to create long-term value for all our stakeholders.

he Unitever Sustainable Living Plan (USLP) was developed to deliver urvision. It is fully integrated with our business strategy. Climateelated issues are integral to the USLP. Two of our GHG reduction argets included in the USLP are recognised as science-based: Halve the greenhouse gas impact of our products across the

- Interprise by solution ranger covers an one phases across the lifesycle of our products: ingredients/raw materials, manufacturing distribution, retail, packaging, consumer use and disposal) Reduce scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissions by 100% from
- our own operations by 2030 (this is part of our ambition to be become carbon positive in our manufacturing by 2030) le are taking action across our value chain to reduce our emissions, reacting growth opportunities and minimising risk. Our commitment o source 100% of our patm oit from sustainable sources is helping

reating growth opportunities and minimising riskucce contemportureating growth opportunities and minimising risk. Our commitment 3 source 100% of our patm oil from sustainable sources is helping 5 avoid emissions from deforestation (see pages 14 and 47). Our florts to reduce energy and GHG emissions in manufacturing are elping us to save costs. For example, by using tess energy, we have ready avoided energy costs in our factories of over €600 million since tready avoided energy costs.

Our divisions are taking action to reduce emissions. In Home Care we are focusing on concentrated liquid laundry detergents such as Persit, Omo and Surf Small & Mighry which help consumers to wash clothes at lower temperatures, reducing GHO by up to 50% per load. We have removed phosphates from all laundry powders worldwide, resulting in lower greenhouse gas emissions of up to 50% per consumer use. Our Foods & Refreshment division has prioritised reducing greenhouse gas emissions from ice cream freezers since 2008. As the world's largest producer of ice cream, we have committed to accelerating the rolt-out of freezer cabinets that use more climate-friendly natural (hydrocarbon) refrigerants. By 2018 our total purchase of these cabinets had increased to around 2.9 million.

Detailed Lifecycle Analysis has shown that our GHG contribution from animal-based agriculture, including tals and proteins, is relatively tow: 7.5% for Foods & Refreshment and 2.5% for total Unilever. While emissions are comparatively low, the business opportunity is significant for natural and plant-based foods and beverages. We have a range of vegan and vegetarian variants such as Hellmann's vegan and advertion of the set of the continue to actively promote other options. Ben & Jerry's non-deiry ice creams, Magnum vegan and done options e pages 11 to 12. We continue to actively promote vegetarian and vegan recipes, notably via our Knorr brand websites.

**Unilever** Annual Report and Accounts 2018



NP Assurances' overall adaptation and resilience strategy we based on:

- the transmission of information to our partners for appropriation
- the ordering of priorities and completion of more detailed studies;
   the integration of climate risk into work decisions.

#### Voodland

Société Forestière is committed to an approach aimed at mitigating risks related to climate change on the CNP Assurances portfalio. To this end, four analyses are monitored:

- integration of viewpoints on climate change into management plans: these plans lay down forward management of forests for ten to twenty years, on a forestby/forest basis. They are approved by the forest administration, which guarantees compliance with the regulations in force;
   analysis of the aeographical spread of woodland assets:
- CNP Assurances has implemented an investment policy that has allowed the purchase of woodland in a wide number of areas.
   The spread of woodland assets also reduces the risk to extreme events such as storms or drought;
- analysis of tree and plant species diversity: in addition to the interest in terms of biodiversity noted above, tree, and plant

# Equities, corporate and sovereign bonds

#### Methodology

CNP Assurances has commissioned Indefi, a consultancy firm, to map issuers' geographical vulnerability to climate change in order to analyse the physical risk exposure of its directly-held listed securities, equities and bonds.

The physical risk analysis is based on ND-Gain's database and Country Index calculated according to the methodology developed by researchers at the University of Notre Dame in the United States. The "vulnerability to climate change" component measures the likelihood of States being negatively impacted by climate change, closely related to physical risk.



Exposure, sensitivity and the capacity to adapt to climate change are assessed in six areas: health, food, ecosystem service, human habitat, water and infrastructure. Exposure projection is attained from the changing greenhouse gas emission scenario established by the IPCC, where RCP4.5 corresponds to the most likely pathway in view of the current state of commitments to the COP21.

The study provided CNP Assurances with a clear picture of the assets at end-2018 according to seven levels of physical risks.





possible pathway for a specific concentration level.4 concentrations. The RCP scenarios each represent one nomic pathways for a specific level of greenhouse gas

## Structure of climate models

an enormous variety of factors. This complexity is due to a desire to enable very accurate modelling of the Earth's the most important climate factors. many different scenarios. The greenhouse effect is one of climate and be able to describe geographical variations in Modern climate models are highly complex and comprise

ice cover and a description of the global oceans accurately calculate changes in temperature. addressed in the climate model other impacts and factors such as cloudiness, snow and and factors to more accurately calculate changes in interact, and these complex relationships must also be currents and many other factors. The various factors also ture, humidity, precipitation, atmospheric particles, ocean tion, climate models also include descriptions of temperatemperature. However, a climate model also has to include However, a climate model also has to include other impacts In addito more

general circulation models, cover all these factors as accurately as possible. The most commonly used climate models, known as

gas concentrations. It can also be examined how 'natural' scenarios, for example the four RCP scenarios, can be of external influences. These may be man-made changes in the atmospheric content of greenhouse gases. Different may give rise to positive or negative feedback mechanisms climate. External influences, both man-made and natural impacts such as major volcanic eruptions may affect the used as input and serve as a starting point for greenhouse climate models can be used to examine the implications

A more detailed description of the greenhouse effect and the modern climate models is provided in Appendix 3.

## Future temperature increases in five of ATP's forest investments

forestry investments in the four different RCP scenarios. (AR5),<sup>5</sup> ATP has examined temperature increases in five the Climate Panel has based its recent Assessment Report Based on data from many of the climate models on which

forest in Queensland in RCP8.5). also shows an example of the method used (specifically the list of the model data used in the calculations. The appendix via the CMIP5 database. Appendix 3 contains a complete the average of all available data from the climate models The temperature increases were determined by calculating

The increase is most pronounced in RCP8.5, however. Report (AR5). The temperatures will rise in all four scenarios commonly used in the Climate Panel's recent Assessment the temperature increase from 2006 to 2100 is shown and not for the period 1986-2005, which is the reference period K/S. ATP's forest investments through ATP Timberland Invest different RCP scenarios in the geographical locations o The table shows the temperature increases in the four Due to lack of historical data on forest temperatures.

forest management. when assessing forestry investment opportunities and our to ATP the relevance of including climate considerations than, say, the forest in Queensland, Australia. This confirms the future and may even be more climate-sensitive regions woods, Wolf River and Upper Hudson are located in regions that are likely to see greater increases in temperature in The temperature increases show that the forests North-

<sup>4</sup> The RPP scenarios are named after the level of radiative forcing that each scenario produces which is a measure of the total greenhouse effect in the scenario. Technically, radiative forcing describes how the balance between incoming solar energy and outgoing energy from Earth is altered. If radiative forcing is positive, it will lead to surplus energy on Earth and cause warming. In the RPC scenarios, the value is calculated as the change in Watts per square metre (W/m2) from 1750 to 2100. A more detailed review of the RPC scenarios is provided in Appendix 3.

<sup>5</sup> Data from the international research programme 'Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5' (CMIP5) which was used by the UN Climate Panel in its Fifth Assessment Report (AR5).



€\_g

# LOW CARBON OIL & GAS PORTFOLIO

that natural gas, a bridge solution towards a low carbon future, accounts for over 50% in from the application of the Dual Exploration Model, which is the early monetization of exploration successes through the sale of minority stakes. The **hydrocarbon equity resources**<sup>13</sup> at 31/12/2018 show the four-year period 2019-22, show an overall break-even at a Brent price of \$25/barrel, which is thereprojects in progress, which account for about 45% of the total development investments in the sector in One of the drivers used by Eni to pursue its decarbonization strategy is the Oil & Gas portfolio charac-terized by **conventional projects developed in stages and with low CO<sub>2</sub> intensity.** The main upstream Furthermore, these projects have a positive cumulative Free Cash Flow as early as 2019, due to the cash fore resilient even in the presence of a low-carbon scenario, and an internal rate of return (IRR) of 22%SHARE OF GAS ON EQUITY RESOURCES IN 2018 **OIL & GAS PORTFOLIO** 

2019-22, are confirmed by the non-committed share of 50% already in the two-years period 2021-22. The flexibility and adaptability in the use of Eni's investments, amounting to about  $\pounds$ 33 billion in the period





## PORTFOLIO RESILIENCE

tions and in the physical conditions of operations. The return on the main investment projects is tested using a **sensitivity to carbon pricing** when the Final Investment Decisions (FID) is made and later during the six-monthly monitoring of projects, based on the following assumptions: order to identify and assess potential emerging risks associated with changes in emissions regula-Portfolio resilience is ensured by the regular review of the assets portfolio and new investments in

# ightarrow scenario of hydrocarbon prices and CO $_2$ cost of Eni $^{14}$ ;

→ IEA SDS low-carbon scenario of hydrocarbon prices and cost of CO<sub>2</sub>.
The results of the most recent monitoring have highlighted marginal impacts on internal return rates.

assets in the upstream sector thanks to: In addition, the portfolio composition and decarbonization strategy minimises the risk of stranded

↓ a progressive reduction of the break-even of Oil & Gas projects by optimising the asset portfolio with

a significant share of conventional gas;

→ near field exploration;

↓ improved efficiency in development.

In this regard, the management has subjected to a sensitivity analysis the book value of all CGUs (Cash Generating Units) in the upstream sector, adopting the IEA SDS scenario; this stress test highlighted the substantial retention of the asset book values and no impact on fair value.

> OF RETURN FROM SENSITIVITY TO CARBON **ON INTERNAL RATES** MARGINAL IMPACT PRICING

VALUE FROM SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF THE BOOK THE IEA SDS SCENARIO CGUS, ACCORDING TO VALUE OF ALL UPSTREAM NO IMPACT ON FAIR

 3P+Contingent.
 "Stress" scenario that 8 Immediate adoption of a cost for  $CO_2$  equal to \$40 a ton in 2015 corrected for inflation.





June 2019

AXA GROUP 2019 Climate Report

2. Strategy

These combined costs and opportunities are then translated into a "climate cost" indicator. As detailed in the table below, our exploratory analysis also shows that, on aggregate, the companies we invest in may lose 4.6% of their total revenues in transition costs, and 4.6% of revenues to physical costs, but this is partly offset by green revenues equivalent to 4.4% of total revenues, thanks to the results derived from forward-looking green patent investments. **Ultimately, and according to this methodology, AXA's "Company cost of climate" appears to be equivalent to an average 4.8% reduction of the turnover of the companies we invest in. This would translate into a 0.2% reduction in AXA's investment value, which could be described as a "Portfolio cost of climate".** However, this averaged figure necessarily smoothes out heterogenous impacts amongst market players: some will likely be far more impacted than others.

#### Tran

Transition costs and physical costs are partly offset by green revenues

### Methodology Bo

# Green patents: a proxy to identify the "winners" of the energy transition?

The model used links green revenues with the occurrence of specific green patents. While certainly not the only factor to be taken into account to estimate future green revenues, a statistically relevant correlation has been established by Carbon Delta. The high share of green patent filings in the energy and transport sectors demonstrate companies' responsive ness to reduction efforts needed in the most relevant sectors, hopefully facilitating the low-catbon transition on a macroeconomic level. The greatest green investments are being made (1) Carbon Delta analysis.

in transport (48%), renewable energy (22%), and energy efficiency (19%)<sup>III</sup>. This allocation is a positive development given that the energy sector contains the highest sectoral emission reduction potential to reach targets for 2030, followed by transport. Moreover, given these are the sectors most immediately concerned, this is a positive sign of reactivity within our portfolio to address transition risks. For AXA, green patent filing represents a promising area to monitor and a possible lever of shareholder engagement.

# Overview of company-level climate-related "cost" metrics

Asset class	<b>Transition cost</b> (% of total revenues)	Physical Risks Cost (% of total revenues)	<b>Green Revenues</b> (% of total revenues)	"Company" cost of climate (% of total revenues)
Fixed Income	-5.2	-4.7	4.1	-5.8
Relevant benchmark: Bank of America Merril Lynch (BofAML	) -4.7	-4.9	3.8	-5.8
Equity	-2.2	-4.0	6.6	0.4
Relevant benchmark: MSCI World ACWI	-3.9	-4.5	5.3	-3.1
AXA Total Corporate Assets	-4.6	-4.6	4.4	-4.8

Context Box

# Is future regulation likely to impose emissions reductions with the help of carbon pricing?

Despite significant political and commercial obstacles, there is a growing consensus among economists, governments and businesses on the fundamental role of carbon pricing in the transition to a decarbonized economy. For governments, carbon pricing is one of the instruments of the climate policy package needed to reduce emissions. Some businesses already use internal carbon pricing to evaluate the impact of mandatory carbon prices on their operations and as a tool to identify potential climate risks

and revenue opportunities. Some investors are also testing the use of carbon pricing to analyze the potential impact of climate-related policies on their investment portfolios. Carbon pricing can take different forms from carbon trading schemes to carbon taxes. In 2017 and 2018, carbon pricing initiatives have emerged in Asia and the Americas while the European ETS (CO, market) entered in its third phase. China's ETS was officially launched in December 2017 and work is underway to prepare for its implementation.

19







**EFRAG** 

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group















ividends received in Norway are subject to the standard come tax rate (reduced from 23 % in 2018 to 22 % in 019). The basis for taxation is 3 % of the dividends received iving an effective tax rate of 0.69 % in 2018. Dividends received om Norwegian companies and from similar companies resident the EEA for tax purposes, in which the recipient holds more nan 90% of the shares and votes, are fully exempt from tax. Ividends from companies resident in the EEA that are not milar to Norwegian companies, companies in low-tax countries nd portfolio investments outside the EEA will, under certain ricumstances, be subject to the standard income tax rate reduced from 23% in 2018 to 22% in 2019 based on the full mounts received).

Oil Condensate price: +10 USD/bbl

15

2.9

Sensitivites - Indicative effects on 2019 results\* (USD billion)

## )isclosures about market risk

-quinor uses tinancial instruments to manage commodity price isks, interest rate risks, currency risks and liquidity risks. Significant amounts of assets and liabilities are accounted for as inancial instruments.

ee note 25 Financial instruments; fair value measurement and insitivity analysis of market risk in the Consolidated financial atements for details of the nature and extent of such positions of for qualitative and quantitative disclosures of the risks isociated with these instruments.

The sensitivity analysis shows the estimated 12-month effects on net operating income and net income from change in parameters. The sensitivities do not have the same probability.

\* Based on USD/NOK of 8.25

Currency: USD/NOK +0.50

0.2

Net income effect
 Net operating inco

ne effect

Gas price: +1.5 USD/ mmBTU

E

3.0

### adequate insurance coverage risk uinor's insurance coveraae may not provide adeau

quinor maintains insurance coverage that includes coverage quinor maintains insurance coverage that includes coverage priphysical damage to its oil and gas properties, third-party ability, workers' compensation and employers' ilability, general ability, sudden pollution and other coverage. Equinor's surance coverage includes deductibles that must be met prior recovery. Equinor's external insurance is subject to caps, actusions and limitations, and there is no assurance that such overage will adequately protect Equinor against liability from Il potential consequences and damages. Uninsured losses and have a material adverse effect on our financial position

# Inefficient operations and lack of new technology

tuinor's future performance depends on efficient operations Ind the ability to develop and deploy new technologies and Iw products

The ability to maintain efficient operations, to develop and idapt to innovative technologies and digital solutions, to seek profitable renewable energy and other low-carbon energy iolutions, are key success factors for future business. There is a possibility that Equinor could be adversely affected if competitors move faster in the development or use of innovative cost-effective technologies (incl digitalisation) and low-carbon or renewable energy solutions.

# ailure to secure capable and competent

Quinor may fail to secure the right level of workforce competence and capacity over the short and medium term (he uncertainty of the future of the oil industry in light of educed oil and natural gas prices and climate policy changes, reates a risk in ensuring a robust workforce through industry cycles. The oil industry is a long-term business and needs to take









These combined costs and opportunities are then translated into a "climate cost" indicator. As detailed in the table below, our exploratory analysis also shows that, on aggregate, the companies we invest in may lose 4.6% of their total revenues in transition costs, and 4.6% of revenues to physical costs, but this is partly offset by green revenues equivalent to 4.4% of total revenues, thanks to the results derived from forward-looking green patent investments. **Ultimately, and according to this methodology, AXA's "Company cost of climate" appears to be equivalent to an average 4.8% of reduction of the turnover of the companies we invest in. This would translate into a 0.2% reduction in AXA's investment value, which could be described as a a "Portfolio cost of climate".** However, this averaged figure necessarily smoothes out heterogenous impacts amongst market players: some will likely be far more impacted than others.

Transition costs and physicosts are partly offset by groups of the partly offset by groups

#### Methodology Box

## ireen patents: a proxy to identify he "winners" of the energy transition?

e model used links green revenues the the occurrence of specific green tents. While certainly not the only tents. While certainly not the only the true future green revenues, a stistically relevant correlation has en established by Carbon Delta. The high share of green patent negs in the energy and transport tors demonstrate companies' sponsive ness to red uction orts needed in the most relevant ctors, hopefully facilitating e low-carbon transition on a arroeconomic level. The greatest en investments are being made

nergy (22%), and energy efficiency 19%)<sup>10</sup>. This allocation is a positive levelopment given that the energy eteror contains the highest sectoral mission reduction potential to each targets for 2030, followed by ransport. Moreover, given these re the sectors most immediately oncerned, this is a positive sign of freactivity within our portfolio to didress transition risks. For AXA, rement patent filing reperint and possible lever of shareholder ingagement.

# Overview of company-level climate-related "cost" metrics

Asset class	<b>Transition cost</b> (% of total revenues)	Physical Risks Cost (% of total revenues)	<b>Green Revenues</b> (% of total revenues)	"Company" cost of climate (% of total revenues)
Fixed Income	-5.2	-4.7	4.1	-5.8
Relevant benchmark: Bank of America Merril Lynch (BofAML)	-4.7	-4.9	3.8	-5.8
Equity	-2.2	-4.0	6.6	0.4
Relevant benchmark: MSCI World ACWI	-3.9	-4.5	5.3	-3.1
AXA Total Corporate Assets	-4.6	-4.6	4.4	-4.8

# Context Box /Is future regulation likely to i

spite significant political and commercial obstacles, there and revenue growing consents at a domain and commercial obstacles, there and revenue sinesses on the fundamental role of carbon pricing in the policies on

 of carbon pricing to summer operation impact of climate-relate policies on their investment portfolios. Carbon pricing can tal different forms from carbon trading schemes to carbon taxes. In 20: e and 2018, carbon pricing initiatives have emerged in Asia and the Americas while the European ETS (CO<sub>2</sub> market) entered in its thing phase. China's ETS was officially launched in December 2017 art so work is underway to prepare for its implementation.

**/**AXA GROUP 2019 Climate Report



		Floo	ds	Windst	torm
€Million	% of Exposure	2017	2018	2017	2018
Belgium	9.5%			0.2	0.2
France	31.9%	1	1	0.6	0.5
Germany	12.0%	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.2
Luxembourg	1.0%	I	1	0.0	0.0
Switzerland	35.9%	1	I	0.3	0.4
UK	4.6%	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1
USA	3.7%			0.1	0.1

Japan

1.4%

0.1

125



- Jagd, J.T. (2018) How to make TCFD scenarios useful for investors – a short guide, Center for ESG Research & CDSB, page 3





- Jagd, J.T. (2018) How to make TCFD scenarios useful for investors – a short guide, Center for ESG Research & CDSB, page 5

	Next	Vear	Next 5 vears	accimilated	Next 10 years	arriimiilated
		Effect on		Effect on		Effect on
		company's Net		company's Net		company's Net
Factors	Change	result	Change	result	Change	result
	+/- 10		+/- 10		+/- 10	
Change of taxes on	USD/tonnes of		USD/tonnes of		USD/tonnes of	
direct emissions	CO2e (scope 1)	-/+ 320 m USD	CO2e (scope 1)	-/+ 1,480 m USD	CO2e (scope 1)	-/+ 2,738 m USD
Flooding of fields with						
damage to crops			+ 25 USD/metric		+ 25 USD/metric	
results in crops prices			tonnes crops		tonnes crops	
increase			cost	- 1,375 m USD	cost	- 2,600 m USD
Reduced energy cost						
due to better energy						
storage from			- 25% of energy		- 25% of energy	
renewable sources			cost	+ 4,125 m USD	cost	+ 8,000 m USD
					- 50% of value at	
Reduced market for					the end of	
used fossil fuel					vehide	
vehicles results in					ownership /	
impairment of fleet					lease period	- 12.500 m USD
	Figure 3: Mo	ck example of cli	mate risk/opportu	unity sensitivity g	uidance	

#### ionclusio

